
 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plums ST SE / PO Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 
AGENDA 

PUBLIC WORKS BOARD MEETING 
November 10, 2014 – 8:30 am 

  

Meeting Location: Columbia River Room, Bldg 5, First Floor, 1011 Plum ST SE, Olympia, WA 98504 

Agenda Item Action Page Time 
 A) ADMINISTRATION    

1. Call to Order   8:30 
2. Welcome and Introductions   8:30 
3. Approve Agenda: Cecilia Gardener Action  8:35 
4. Meeting Minutes for October 2, 2014: Barbara Smith  Action 5 8:40 
5. Managing Director Update: Cecilia Gardener verbal  8:45 
6. Budget Update: Cindy Chavez  11 8:55 
7. 2015 Calendar Discussion: Cecilia Gardener  15 9:10 
8. Governor’s Meeting Discussion: Stan Finkelstein verbal  9:30 

B) CONTRACTING    
1. CAU Quarterly Report: Mark Barkley  19 10:00 
2. Cristalina LLC Assignment Approval: Mark Barkley Action 21 10:10 
3. Bullman Beach Termination: Mark Barkley Action 25 10:20 
4. City of Everson, Preconstruction Term Change Request: Mark Barkley Action 27 10:30 
5. Repayment Date Amendment Update: Mark Barkley verbal  10:40 
6. DWSRF Boilerplates: Mark Barkley Action 29 10:50 

Adjourn to Meeting with Governor, 11:30 am to 12:00 pm 11:00 
LUNCH 1:00 
C) POLICY & PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT    

1. Public Works Board Action Plan: Cecilia Gardener  143 1:20 
2. Legislative Update:  Cecilia Gardener    

a. 43.155 Board directed modifications  147 1:30 
b. 2016 PWAA Construction Update, Draft Z-Bill  149 1:40 

D) TECHNICAL & IMPACT ASSISTANCE    
1. Kitsap/Olympic Academy Update: Jacki Skaught / Lynn Kohn  150 1:50 
2. Performance Measure Update: Bruce Lund  161 2:00 
3. Technical Assistance Activity: Bruce Lund  163 2:10 

a. Training and Education    
b. Communications    
c. Direct Client Assistance    

4. Small Communities Initiative Quarterly Report: Bruce Lund informational 165  
E) INFORMATION & OTHER ITEMS    

1. Board Committee Updates    
a. Executive Committee: Stan Finkelstein verbal  2:20 
b. Policy & Program Development Committee: Scott Hutsell verbal  2:25 
c. Technical Assistance Committee: Jerry Cummins verbal  2:30 
d. Communication Committee: Ed Hildreth verbal  2:35 

2. Board Member Updates verbal  2:40 
3. Other  181 2:45 

Note:  Anticipated time of Adjournment is 2:45 p.m. 

NEXT BUSINESS MEETING SCHEDULED: December 5, 2014, in Olympia, WA. 
 

Department of Commerce, 1011 Plum Street SE, Olympia, WA 98504-2525.  
Contact the Public Works Board at (360) 725-2744 for further information. 
This publication is available in alternative format upon request. Meetings sponsored by the Public Works Board shall be 
accessible to persons with disabilities. Accommodations may be arranged with 10 days’ notice to the Public Works Board at 
(360) 725-2744. 
 

1



2



TAB A 
ADMINISTRATION 

3



4



Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum ST SE / PO Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

Minutes of October 2, 2014 Meeting Page 1 of 6 

PUBLIC WORKS BOARD MEETING  
October 2, 2014 

Fuji Room, Coast Wenatchee Hotel, Wenatchee, WA 

Board Members Guests Present: Staff Present: Present: Absent: 
Stan Finkelstein, Chair Ted Carlson Joe Crossland, Department of Health Kendee Yamaguchi,  

Executive Director JC Baldwin, Vice Chair  Karen Klocke, Department of Health 
Pam Carter  Eloise Rudolph, Department of Health Ann Campbell 
Jerry Cummins  Peter Tassoni, Department of 

Emergency Management  
Cindy Chavez 

Mary Margaret Haugen  Stephen Dunk 
Ed Hildreth   Chris Gagnon 
Scott Hutsell   John Galow 
Diane Pottinger   Cecilia Gardener 
Matt Rasmussen   Isaac Huang 
Bubba Scott   Lynn Kohn 
Lisa Wellman   Bruce Lund 
   Rodney Orr 
   Cathi Read 
   Kaaren Roe 
   Barbara Smith 
 

ADMINISTRATION 

1) Call to order: Stan Finkelstein called the meeting to order at 12:30 pm. 

2) Welcome and Introductions. 

3) ACTION: Scott Hutsell moved to approve the agenda as presented. Ed Hildreth seconded. 
Discussion: Stan Finkelstein proposed an amendment to the Agenda, moving the item under Tab F, 
“Current Staffing with Historical Context,” listed under the Executive Session, to Tab 3, Item #4. 
Finkelstein moved to approve the amended agenda. JC Baldwin seconded. MOTION APPROVED 
10-0 (Baldwin, Carter, Cummins, Haugen, Hildreth, Hutsell, Pottinger, Rasmussen, Scott, and 
Wellman). 

4) ACTION: Matt Rasmussen moved to approve the August 8, 2014, meeting minutes as presented. 
Ed Hildreth seconded. Discussion: Pam Carter stated that she has a couple of changes. On page 10, 
item #4 “Draft Public Works Board Action Plan,” needs to state that we discussed this yesterday at 
the joint committee meeting. On page 11, Element 3, there is no explanation that the list the Board 
saw was blind. Add language explaining that the list did not identify the requesting jurisdiction and 
the reason for lack of identification. On Page 13, item #3, please strike “Pam Carter stated that the 
Governor’s funds were not restricted to natural disasters.” Change the sentence to “It was noted 
that...” Mary Margaret Haugen moved to approve the minutes of August 8, 2014, as modified. Ed 
Hildreth seconded. MOTION APPROVED 10-0 (Baldwin, Carter, Cummins, Haugen, Hildreth, Hutsell, 
Pottinger, Rasmussen, Scott, and Wellman) 

5



Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum ST SE / PO Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

Minutes of October 2, 2014 Meeting Page 2 of 6 

5) Executive Director Update: Kendee Yamaguchi informed the Board that their meeting with the 
Governor is now scheduled for 11:30 am to 12:00 pm in the Governor’s Conference Room. Barbara 
Smith will follow up with transportation and scheduling information. Matt Steuerwalt, Executive 
Director of Policy, will begin the meeting; the Governor will join shortly after that. Brian Bonlender 
helped secure this date. It is still well before the time that the Governor’s budgets will be released. 
The Board needs to consider drafting an agenda for the meeting.  
 
Yamaguchi was told by the Governor last week that the Washington State Association of Counties 
(WSAC) will be sending out a recruitment at the beginning of October to find a candidate to fill the 
County Position on the Board. Scott Hutsell stated that WSAC sent a name to the Governor nearly a 
year ago, and that person has called several times asking for a response to the nomination. He asked 
if there was an issue with that person. Yamaguchi replied that she is aware that a name was 
submitted, and that the Governor’s office is working in partnership with WSAC to find a candidate. 
Yamaguchi understands that WSAC is sending out a new recruitment. 
 
Yamaguchi followed up on an inquiry from some Board members regarding press releases when we 
have a new Board appointment. The Governor’s office has told her that they will continue to roll all 
new members for all boards into one press release. However, the Board is now allowed to send out 
a more detailed press release on their own, after this rollup from the Governor goes out. This is a 
slight change from what was reported to the Board last month. Stan Finkelstein requested that 
Yamaguchi email to the Board the policy/procedure on press releases for new members.  
 
Yamaguchi stated that there are new resources on the Governor’s Boards & Commissions website, 
and encouraged the Board members to take a look at it. The Governor’s office has asked that all 
appointees be made aware of this resource. Yamaguchi shared that staff will send the link to the 
Boards and Commissions website out in an email to Board members. Pam Carter requested the link 
be sent out as a stand-alone email rather than waiting to send it out with next month’s agenda 
packet.  
 
Yamaguchi stated that the $200 million request by the Public Works Board has been deemed the #1 
priority for the Department of Commerce for the upcoming session. This was personally decided by 
Director Brian Bonlender. She wanted to point out that the title of it is Economic Development 
Foundation, so don’t be confused if you see that. The content, including the 2016 Construction Loan 
recommended list and the non-construction program funding, is still the same, only the title has 
changed. The decision packages have been submitted to the Governor’s office for consideration in 
his proposed 2015-2017 biennial budget. JC Baldwin asked if there are any other requests under 
that same name, and Yamaguchi replied there were not. Ann Campbell interjected that she takes 
full responsibility for the retitling of this decision package. It was a deliberate attempt to focus 
attention on the economic impacts of this investment on our state. Pam Carter stated she was fine 
with that, but that the Executive Committee should have been checked with prior to the change 
being made. Nothing in this package has changed in the content. In the interest of advocating for 
the Board, this title change was made. The Director of the agency changes titles after final 
submission by us. Cecilia Gardener reiterated that it remains our content, and doesn’t mean 
anything else. Carter replied that it would have made sense to contact our Chair and let him know 
this was going on. Stan Finkelstein stated that he agrees with Pam, but it does help to move the 
decision package. This links infrastructure to economic development. If he had been called, he 

6



Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum ST SE / PO Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

Minutes of October 2, 2014 Meeting Page 3 of 6 

would have applauded the change. Yamaguchi stated in the future she will check with the Chair.  
 
Yamaguchi met with staff of the Puget Sound Regional Council, and requested that PWAA be one of 
their policy priorities. She continues to meet on a quarterly basis with several of our partners.  
 
Yamaguchi acknowledged the work of Chris Gagnon in completing 29 Executive Order 05-05 reviews 
as of last week. These reviews must be done before construction can begin on a project Gagnon has 
reconciled at least 50 projects between two databases. Progress continues to be made in this area.  
 
Yamaguchi stated that staff are beginning the 2016 Construction Loan application debriefs. Some of 
these took place at the Infrastructure Assistance Coordinating Council (IACC) conference this week. 
She stated that our staff are working with the Department of Health to conduct financial reviews of 
the Fall 2014 DWSRF loan applicants.  The application window closed on October 1.  The Board 
should expect to see a preliminary rated and ranked funding list at the December meeting.  
 
Yamaguchi recognized Rodney Orr for his hard work on the FirstStop Initiative website. It was well 
received by attendees at the IACC conference, where it debuted. Lisa Wellman interjected that 
Washington state ranks 47th in the nation in access of “E Government,” and commends Orr and the 
rest of the staff for the simple, well-done interface that has been created. 
 

6) Public Disclosure Filings Update: Cecilia Gardener updated the Board on the rules for Public 
Disclosure Commission filings. A memo with the due dates for filing is in the Board packet. The Third 
Quarter hours are due by October 31, 2014. Barbara Smith will be contacting each Board member to 
get their contact hours. Once she has this, she will input Board members’ information into the PDC 
website. This is only for those legislative contacts that Board members have had as representatives 
of the Public Works Board, not for work done on behalf of their local districts. 
 

7) Department of Emergency Management Presentation: Cecilia Gardener introduced Peter Tassoni, 
from the Department of Emergency Management (DEM). At the last Board meeting, members asked 
staff to look into emergency funding. Staff thought it would be helpful to have DEM speak to the 
Board, since they were already present at the IACC conference. Tassoni presented a slideshow 
overview of DEM’s work. A Q&A followed the presentation. Bubba Scott asked if jurisdictions have 
to have a hazard mitigation plan in place in order to receive an award from DEM. Tassoni replied 
that yes, it’s a 75%/25% program, with the local jurisdiction picking up the 25%. Scott asked is there 
currently funding available? Tassoni replied that we won’t know until session. Mary Margaret 
Haugen asked if the President doesn’t declare a disaster, then none of these programs kick in? 
Tassoni replied that was correct; the State has very little funds of its own, and can do very little. Stan 
Finkelstein asked whether the State has any wherewithal to assist jurisdictions to get back on their 
feet, in terms of infrastructure and public buildings? Tassoni replied that those funds are limited, 
and $9 million in damages is the minimum threshold at which assistance becomes available. The 
State has a disaster reserve account, but it is primarily for wildfires. Finkelstein stated that Pateros 
had a loss of public buildings. Is there no State relief for that? Tassoni replied that other State 
agencies can kick in to assist. Jerry Cummins said he thought he heard Pateros was denied 
assistance. Tassoni replied that they are part of Okanagan County, and they were denied one piece, 
the individual assistance. Tassoni further expanded that DEM can only provide assistance in the 

7



Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum ST SE / PO Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

Minutes of October 2, 2014 Meeting Page 4 of 6 

actual footprint of the disaster, and cannot go out of State. Diane Pottinger asked about the Mercer 
Island boil water event, and at what point does DEM get involved? Tassoni replied that there is a $9 
million damage threshold; jurisdictions who meet that threshold may apply through the Governor’s 
office for relief. There are other ways to go about funding emergency management. For example, 
Florida assesses a fee on all real estate to fund theirs. Washington doesn’t do this. A statewide fee 
system has not been supported in Washington State.  
 

CONTRACTING 

1) Cristalina LLC: Mark Barkley provided a memo in the Board packet updating the Board on the status 
of the Cristalina contract. Joe Crossland from the Department of Health (DOH) gave an overview. 
Washington Water, the Utilities and Transportation Commission, DOH and CAU staff have 
negotiated and testified at hearings, and now Washington Water owns and operates Cristalina. 
Washington Water is now responsible for the loan repayment; there has been no default. Stan 
Finkelstein asked about the accumulated late fees status. Crossland replied that we are waiving 
those fees as part of the agreement for Washington Water to assume Cristalina. Mark Barkley will 
talk to the Board at the December meeting about waiving the loan late fees after the ownership and 
control transfers are completed. Lisa Wellman asked about the owner’s salary. Crossland replied 
that yes, those monies will be repaid. 

2) Stan Finkelstein stated that he wants to have a Board meeting prior to the Governor’s office 
meeting on November 10, 2014. He asked that an agenda for the Governor’s meeting be worked on 
amongst the staff and Executive Committee via email. JC Baldwin stated she wants to meet briefly 
before the Governor’s meeting then return to Commerce to resume the full Board meeting. Cecilia 
Gardener stated that we need to start calendaring for 2015, and for the Board to think about 
whether they want to continue meeting every other month, or go back to meeting monthly. The 
Board will take this up again in November or December. 

 

POLICY & PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT 

1) Public Works Board Action Plan: Cecilia Gardener provided an overview of the current version of the 
Public Works Board Action Plan. She mentioned that there is draft legislation language regarding the 
Proviso in the Board packet. Mary Margaret Haugen asked if she is working with the Policy 
Committee as well as the Appropriation Committee. Gardener replied yes. Stan Finkelstein asked 
about the changing dates of the Kitsap County Academy. Bruce Lund replied yes, it’s moved to 
November 20. He will speak to that later in the agenda. Pam Carter stated that they want to be in 
Olympia to meet with legislators during Committee Days. Gardener replied that staff does not know 
the dates yet, but as soon as they do, they will share with the Board. Gardener pointed out that on 
page 37 of the Board packet there is a memo and chart showing the items that have already been 
completed and have been removed from the Action Plan due to being completed. Diane Pottinger 
complimented Gardener on this, and her email to the Board following up on this. Gardener pointed 
out that there are now note takers writing the Board’s requests and those will be shared with the 
Board as well. Kendee Yamaguchi asked the Board to please let staff know if there are tasks that can 
be removed from this list due to limited staffing.  

 

8



Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum ST SE / PO Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

Minutes of October 2, 2014 Meeting Page 5 of 6 

8) Legislative Update: Cecilia Gardener called on Ann Campbell who has worked on the draft language 
for the Proviso Response. Campbell stated that on Page 41 there is a memo outlining the history 
behind the request followed by the draft language. She stated that the Board decided at the July 
meeting not to float a policy bill this session, but that draft language should be ready in the event 
that a bill is introduced that would make changes to the Board’s authorizing statute. This memo 
doesn’t require any action by the Board, but Campbell asked Board members to please take the 
time to review it and let her know if they want any changes to the suggested language; those 
changes will be given to the Policy Committee for review. Once that is done, and all changes 
incorporated, staff will then bring the proposed language back to the Board for approval.  
 
The question was raised regarding what happens if no one opens it this year? Gardener replied that 
it would then be up to the Board to drop a bill themselves. Previously, the Board indicated they 
didn’t want to put forth a policy bill, but wanted to be prepared if someone else did. She asked the 
Board if they wanted to amend that directive now keeping in mind that the due date for proposing 
policy legislation was last week. Staff needs direction from the Board on this today. Kendee 
Yamaguchi stated that the Association of Washington Cities held a meeting last week with 
stakeholders to talk about the work they intended to do for the PWAA. Yamaguchi informed the 
associations that the Board was not going to introduce a policy bill, based on the decision from the 
last Board meeting. There is support for reintroducing the bill from last session that sought to 
recapture the diverted revenue streams. Diane Pottinger asked who all was in that meeting. 
Yamaguchi replied she did not know. Mary Margaret Haugen stated that Board members need to 
contact legislators.  
 
Finkelstein asked the Board if they want to prioritize the six items with proposed language, push 
them all, or do something else? Haugen wants more than one bill. If you separate them, then one 
bill can be sacrificed without the whole thing sinking.  
 
Diane Pottinger moved to go ahead and draft a bill. Haugen wants the Board to go back to last 
year’s sponsors and re-engage and express our support. Jerry Cummins thinks that makes sense. He 
doesn’t want anything to sidetrack the 2016 Construction Loan List (List), and wants the List to stay 
paramount. Finkelstein asked the Board if what they want is to start with Engrossed Second 
Substitute House Bill1484 (ESSHB 1484), and take it from there? That’s free standing, and then we 
do the List as a separate bill? Is that what you all want? Scott Hutsell replied that seems logical to 
him. Ann Campbell stated that ESSHB 1484 has language in it that was added from what the Board 
originally introduced the last session. It locks in interest rates at higher rates, and does a number of 
maximizing features. If we resurrect ESSHB 1484, we are bringing along those changes. Haugen 
stated that we need to go to the sponsors and ask to reintroduce the original bill, not the modified 
version. Gardener asked for the Board’s preference? Haugen stated that we need a representative 
and a senator, each house needs their own bill. Finkelstein asked if the Board wants to go with these 
six items, or go back to 1484, which has some issues that are antithetical to our way of thinking? Lisa 
Wellman asked if the needs survey is possible. Finkelstein replied to a certain extent it is possible, 
but there is no Public Works Assistance Account money available, and no tax money available. Diane 
Pottinger asked the Department of Health staff about the survey they just finished. Rather than 
reinvent the wheel, could we depend on that one and ask for information from that survey. Joe 
Crossland replied that Health is in the process of updating that survey. Finkelstein stated that in 
1983-85, the legislature funded a comprehensive needs survey and identified a shortfall. We’ve had 

9



Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum ST SE / PO Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

Minutes of October 2, 2014 Meeting Page 6 of 6 

iterations of that study over the years, but nothing as comprehensive. Scott Hutsell stated that this 
needs survey popped up from last year’s legislative requests. He suggested an electronic needs 
survey. Wellman stated that she has a problem with the “ensure sustainability” language. The Board 
has no control over sustainability of the fund when the account is used to fund items other than the 
Board’s programs.  Wellman state that the PWAA is a bank account with nothing in it. Finkelstein 
asked the Board what do they want. Haugen responded that not going forward to make changes is 
unacceptable. Finkelstein asked if the Board is ready to go forward with pages 41 and 42 of the 
Board packet? 
 
Mary Margaret Haugen moved to go forward. Pam Carter seconded the motion to make a 
legislative draft on behalf of the Public Works Board. Lisa Wellman wants the language changed. 
Cecilia Gardener stated that the deadline was last week, but she will ask Nick Demerice if an 
extension is available from the Governor. Last week’s deadline was the deadline for an Agency 
submission. We could still have a legislative member introduce it. Finkelstein asked if the Board has 
the authority to ask a legislator to take action? Kendee Yamaguchi replied that she does not know, 
and will have to ask Gardener for the past practice on this. Gardener replied that past practice is 
that the Board is a separate autonomous agency and can submit its own bills. Gardener would need 
clarity from the Board’s AAG, Kathryn Wyatt. It’s always a possibility that the Board can find a 
champion on the hill.. The first step is to find out if the Board has any ability to submit proposed 
legislation to the Governor past the deadline for Agencies’ submissions. If that’s not a viable option, 
then the second option is to ask the AAG if we can submit independently. The third option is to find 
a champion on the hill. Pam Carter asked about the investment grade efficiency audit requirement 
language for wastewater plants or other public works facilities language. Is that just how someone 
decided to write it, and everyone knows it applies to water, or is she missing something. Ann 
Campbell replied that the language comes directly from the Proviso and prior biennia budgets.  It 
simply is putting it into the statute. Finkelstein asked the Board if they want to move forward. 
Pottinger replied she wants to move forward with Campbell’s changed language. The motion is to 
have language crafted that reflects page #41 and #42, and what the Board does with that depends 
on the answer to the legislation submission process. MOTION APPROVED 10-0 (Baldwin, Carter, 
Cummins, Haugen, Hildreth, Hutsell, Pottinger, Rasmussen, Scott, and Wellman). 

2) 2016 PWAA Construction Update: Ann Campbell provided the Board with an updated loan list in the 
Board Packet. No presentation or discussion. 
 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

1) Stan Finkelstein called for a break. After the break, the Board would resume in Executive 
Session. All staff were dismissed from the Executive Session except for Kendee Yamaguchi and 
Cindy Chavez. 

 

ACTION: Jerry Cummins moved to adjourn the meeting. Ed Hildreth seconded the motion. MOTION 
APPROVED. Meeting Adjourned at 3:50 pm 

10



Beginning Cash Balance 7/1/2013 12,739,779.00$  

FY 14 FY 14 FY 14

7/2013‐6/2014 7/2013‐6/2014 7/2013‐6/2014

Remaining  Budget  Total available 

FY 14 balance Projections resources

Revenues

     Solid Waste Collection Tax ‐                                ‐                         ‐                                         

     Public Utilities Tax ‐                                ‐                         ‐                                         

     Real Estate Excise Tax 12,302,508$               12,843,325$         540,817$                             

    CERB loan repayments 180,731$                     180,731$               ‐$                                       

    PWB  Loan Repay Interest/Principal 128,442,843$             132,248,579$       3,805,736$                          

Capital Expenditures

     2013 PreConstruction 1,494,996$                  1,038,780$           456,216$                             

     Bond Backfill existing contracts 85,973,957$               74,717,194$         11,256,763$                        

Operating Transfers

     DWSRF State Match ‐$                              ‐$                       ‐$                                       

     Ecology State Match ‐$                              ‐$                       ‐$                                       

     Education Legacy Account 138,622,000$             138,622,000$       ‐$                                       

Operating

     Administration 1,464,000$                  1,419,076$           2,883,076$                          

 Ending Cash Balance 6/30/2014 (13,588,178)$       

YR 1 PWB OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGET REPORT 

11



Beginning Cash Balance 7/1/2014) (13,588,178)         

Revenues

     Solid Waste Collection Tax ‐                            ‐                         ‐                                ‐                         

     Public Utilities Tax ‐                            ‐                         ‐                                ‐                         

     Real Estate Excise Tax 540,817                   12,302,507          12,843,324                  3,929,327            

     CERB loan repayments ‐                            180,512                180,512                        113,058                

    PWB  Loan Repay Interest/Principal 3,805,736                146,124,479        149,930,215                30,303,588          

Capital Expenditures

     2013 PreConstruction 456,216                   1,205,004            1,661,220                    844,428                

     Bond Backfill existing contracts 11,256,763             68,884,263          80,141,026                  22,206,070          

Operating Transfers

     DWSRF State Match ‐                            ‐                         ‐                         

     Ecology State Match ‐                            ‐                         ‐                         

     Education Legacy Account ‐                            138,622,000        138,622,000                ‐                         

Operating

     Administration 2,883,076                1,629,374            4,512,450                    404,093                

Projected Ending Cash Balance 6/30/2015 2,380,793.00    

YR 2 PWB OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGET REPORT AS OF 9/30/2014

FY 14 BALANCES     

BROUGHT 

FORWARD 

FY 15                      

JULY 2014 THRU 

JUNE 2015 

BUDGET 

PROJECTIONS

FY 15                              

JULY 2014 THRU 

JUNE 2015              

TOTAL AVAILABLE 

RESOURCES

FY 15                       

JULY 2014 THRU 

SEPT 2015         

ACTUALS TO 

DATE

12



September 2014 Administrative Budget Report
PUBLIC WORKS BOARD

Salaries,  $916,107 

Benefits,  $282,319 

Contracts,  $3,333 

Goods & Services,  
$109,628 

Travel,  $20,145 Board Costs,  $65,694 

Equipment,  $2,597 

Indirect,  $378,588 

2013‐15 PWB Expenditures to Date

Salaries,  $900,352 

Benefits,  $277,488 

Contracts,  $3,333 Goods & Services, 
$170,749 Travel, $25,450 Board Costs, $55,050

Equipment,  $5,500 

Indirect,  $412,241 

2013‐15 PWB Allotment to Date

48.66%

15%

0.18%

9.23%1.38%2.98%

0.3%

22.28%

50.69%

15.62%

0.18%

6.07%
1.11%3.64%

0.14%

20.95%

13



 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,500,000

2013-15 PWB Expenditures to Date

Year-to-date Expenditures Year-to-date Allotments

14



 
Date: October 29, 2014 
 
To: Public Works Board 
 
From: Cecilia Gardener, Managing Director 
 
Subject: Proposed 2015 Board Meeting Dates 
 
The Public Works Board needs to set their Board Meeting Dates for the 2015 calendar year, which is published by the 
Code Reviser. In 2014, the Board initially opted to meet on the first Friday of every month, and at the midpoint 
changed to every other month, with the intent of revisiting the every other month at the end of the year.  
 
WAC 399-10-020 specifies that the Board meet on the first Tuesday of every month, except for the month of July, 
when there is no meeting. In August, the meetings are on the first and third Tuesdays, in order to accommodate the 
voting of the loan list. 
 
After discussion with the Executive Committee, it was decided to propose to the full Board that we keep to the First 
Friday schedule (except for January and months that have holiday conflicts), and continue monthly meetings, with 
the option to cancel future meetings, should it appear necessary. 
 
Proposed 2015 Calendar 

January 22 (Legislative Days – Moved to accommodate legislative session) 

February 6 (Legislative Session) 

March 6 (Application Workshops) 

April 3 (End of Session/Budget Development) 

May 8 (Decision Packages/Applications Due – Moved to Second Friday due to Memorial Day Holiday) 

June 5 (Retreat, Application Review) 

July 10 (Moved to Second Friday due to Independence Day Holiday) 

August 7 (Review preliminary Loan List) 

August 21 (Approve Final Loan List) 

September 11 (Moved to Second Friday due to Labor Day Holiday) 

October 2 (Historically this meeting is at IACC and coincides with their last day) 

November 6 (Assembly Days) 

December 4 (Assembly Days) 

 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 

November 10, 2014 
Board Meeting 

15



16



TAB B 
CONTRACTING 

17



18



 

 
DATE: October 15, 2014 
 
TO: Public Works Board 
 
FROM: Mark Barkley, CAU Managing Director 
 
SUBJECT: Contract Administrations Unit (CAU) Contract Status Report 
 
 
This memo provides a quarterly status update to the Public Works Board and offers a snapshot of activities 
carried out by CAU.  We hope this gives the Board a better understanding of the work that occurs after contract 
execution. 
 
Number of Contracts Received from PWB from 7/1/2014 – 9/30/2014 
 
PWTF        0 
DWSRF       5 
Other PWB Programs      2 
Total         7 
 
Number of Contracts in Open Status as of 9/30/2014 
 
PWTF     128 
DWSRF    148 
Other PWB Programs     20 
Total      296 
 
Number of Contract Closed 7/1/2014 – 9/30/2014 
 
 
PWTF        9 
DWSRF       7 
Other PWB Programs       2 
Total      18  
 
Dollars distributed to Clients 7/1/2014 – 9/30/2014 
 
 
PWTF    $22,234,916 
DWSRF   $15,143,804 
Other PWB Programs  $  1,103,016 
Total    $38,481,736 
 
 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 

November 10, 2014 
Board meeting  

 

19



20



 
DATE:  October 31, 2014 
  
TO:  Public Works Board  
 
FROM:  Mark Barkley, Contracts Administration Unit, Managing Director 
 
SUBJECT: Cristalina LLC 
 

  
BACKGROUND:  Over the past year, concerns with Cristalina LLC, a non-municipal (private) water 
system management association have been brought to the attention of the Public Works Board (PWB).   
Cristalina LLC was issued a DWSRF loan, contract number DP09-952-034, on May 21, 2009 in the 
amount of $555,500 with an interest rate of 1.5% to provide system improvements.  The project was 
certified complete on August 5, 2010.  Cristalina LLC continues to not collect and document required 
fees to make last year’s (2013) annual loan repayment in the amount of $36,692.23.  As a result, late 
fees over 10 months have accumulated in the amount of $2,923.68.  It has also resulted in substantial 
fines levied against the owner/operator Maria Lindberg and Cristalina LLC by the Utilities and Trade 
Commission. 

     
ISSUE:  Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (UTC) issued the following order on 
September 12, 2014 regarding Cristalina, LLC with the following judgments: 
 

1. Commission approves the transfer of assets of Cristalina LLC to Washington Water Service 
Company. 

2. Withdraw of penalties assessed against Maria Lindberg. 
3. Withdraw of penalties assessed against Cristalina, LLC. 
4. Assess a fine against Maria Lindberg in the amount of $12,700 to be paid over 3 years. 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
 

1. PWB approves the following:   
a. The assignment of contract DP09-952-034 to Washington Water.  
b. Waive all late fees associated with Cristalina LLC; Washington Water has agreed to make 

current the outstanding balance (both 2013 and 2014 payments) on DP09-952-034. 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 

November 10, 2014 
Public Works Board Meeting  

21



22



 

Cristalina LLC Page 1 Contract Assignment 
DP09-952-034 10/16/2014 Public Works Trust Fund 

 ASSIGNMENT FACE SHEET 

CONTRACT ASSIGNMENT 

Loan Number: DP09-952-034 

 

Washington State Department of Commerce 

PUBLIC WORKS BOARD 

 

1. Assignor 2. Assignee 
Cristalina LLC 
1200 Old Fairhaven Pkwy #106 
Bellingham, WA 98225 

Washington Water Services Company 
PO Box 336 
Gig Harbor, WA 98335 

3. Assignor Representative (only if updated) 4. Public Works Board Representative (only if updated) 
N/A N/A  

5. Original Contract Amount 6. Assigned Amount 7. New Contract Amount 

$555,500.00 $497,026.32 N/A 

8. Assignment Funding Source 9. Assignment Start Date 10. Assignment End Date 

Federal:   State:   Other:   N/A:  Assignment Execution Date October 1, 2029 

11. Federal Funds (as applicable): 

Yes 

Federal Agency: 
EPA 

CFDA Number: 
66.468 

12. Assignment Purpose: 

The purpose of this Assignment is to assign the Cristalina LLC rights and obligations under Loan Agreement/Contract 
number DP09-952-034 to Washington Water Services Company. 

The Board, defined as the Washington State Public Works Board, the Assignor, and the Assignee acknowledge and 
accept the terms of this Agreement/Contract As Assigned and have executed this Agreement/Contract Assignment on 
the date below to start as of the date and year referenced above.  The rights and obligations of both parties to this 
Agreement/Contract As Assigned are governed by this Agreement/Contract Assignment and the following other 
documents incorporated by reference: Assignment Terms and Conditions.  A copy of this Agreement/Contract 
Assignment shall be attached to and made a part of the original Agreement/Contract between the Board and the 
Assignor.  Any reference in the original Agreement/Contract to the “Agreement” or the "Contract" shall mean the 
"Agreement As Assigned" or "Contract As Assigned," respectively. 

FOR ASSIGNOR:  

CRISTALINA LLC 

FOR ASSIGNEE: WASHINGTON 

WATER SERVICES COMPANY 

FOR PUBLIC WORKS BOARD: 

 
  
Signature 
 
  
Print Name 

 
  
Title 

 

  
Date 
 

 

 
  
Signature 
 
  
Print Name 

 
  
Title 

 

  
Date 

 
  
Stan Finkelstein, Public Works Board 
Chair 

 

  
Date 
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY 
This 18

th
 Day of December, 2008  

Rob McKenna, Attorney General 

Signature on File  
Kathryn Wyatt, Assistant Attorney 
General 

23



 

Cristalina LLC Page 1 Contract Assignment 
DP09-952-034 10/16/2014 All Programs 

  

 ASSIGNMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

PUBLIC WORKS BOARD 

 

 

The parties to this Contract Assignment, being fully advised and informed, hereby consent 

unconditionally to the assignment of Cristalina LLC’s rights and the delegation of its duties under Loan 

Agreement/Contract Number DP09-952-034 to Washington Water Services Company. 

 

The original loan amount is $555,500.00.  The outstanding debt on this loan is $497,026.32 principal 

with an interest rate of 1.50% per year.  Washington Water Services Company will assume this debt as of 

the execution date of this Assignment. 

 

 

Special Terms and Conditions: None 

 

 

 

24



 

 
 
Date: October 9, 2014 
 
To: Public Works Board 
 
From: Mark Barkley, CAU Managing Director 
 
Subject: Bullman Beach Water Association, DWSRF Termination Request 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   Recommend to Terminate Request Approval  

 
Project Description: Bullman Beach Water Association 
 DWSRF DP11-952-004  
 
Budget: DWSRF:     $ 386,838 
    
Project Status:   
Janet Cherry, PE with Southwest Drinking Water Regional Operations-Department of Health (DOH) 
sent an email to Bullman Beach Water Association on October 8, 2014, to cancel SFR funding 
Package.  In addition, Karen Klocke- DOH instructed CAU program manager to terminate the contract 
due to Bullman Beach is not ready to proceed. 
 
Ms. Cherry’s email: 

“Thank you for the updates you continue to provide regarding options you are pursuing to address 
the health risks associated with your current water source.  We applaud your recent efforts to bid 
the slow sand project and we had hoped for a more favorable outcome.  However, the receipt of 
one bid that exceeded the funding amount indicated much more work was needed on the project 
design.  We had anticipated you would be able to commence construction soon on a revised filter 
design, but it appears it will be months before a new design will be available for review and 
approval.  In addition, you have recently indicated your desire to develop a groundwater source 
instead of installing filtration.  Please be aware that SRF money cannot be used to cover costs 
associated with drilling and developing a groundwater source since this activity is outside the 
scope of the current SRF funding package.  We are unsure of your current course of action and the 
timeline for installing filtration or developing a productive groundwater source.  This level of 
uncertainty makes it difficult for us to maintain the SRF funding for your system without a 
commitment from you on expected project completion.  Given the current circumstances, we have 
decided to cancel the Bullman Beach SRF funding.  Karen Klocke will be providing additional 
information for the cancellation of the SRF funding package.   
 
We are committed to working with you towards a solution for your water system and will support all 
future efforts to secure funding as you pursue options for your system.”  

 
Describe the issue(s) that are leading to the termination request: 
Information listed above, the client has not drawn any funds, and there were zero fees. 
   
Timeline:   
Terminate contract immediately after approval of PWB.    
 
Request: 
Requesting terminate Bullman Beach Water Association’s DWSRF contract. 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 

November 10, 2014 
Board Meeting 

25



26



 

 
 
Date: October 22, 2014 
 
To: Public Works Board 
 
From: Mark Barkley, CAU Managing Director 
 
Subject: City of Everson Preconstruction Term Change Request 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   Recommend to extend the term from 5 years to 20 years  

 
Project Description: Everson Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade 
 PR13-951-079  
 
Budget: PWTF:     $300,000 
    
Project Status:   
 
City of Everson has completed their PWTF preconstruction contract. They have secured the funds to 
construct the project (see below). They are requesting the term of their preconstruction loan changed 
from 5 to 20 years. The funds were not secured until after the date an administrative action could have 
been performed per Board policy.  
 

 
 
Describe the issue(s) that are leading to this request: 
Per the Board policy, if the borrower secures funding to complete the construction activity that the 
preconstruction contract is designing, before the first principal payment is due, the term of the contract 
can be extended to 20 years.  
   
Timeline:   
For an administrative action, the funds needed to be secured by June 1, 2014.  Since, funds were not 
secured until August 2014 a Board action is required. 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 

November 10, 2014 
Board Meeting 

List the construction funding source(s) you have secured:   
 
Department of Ecology $2,360,000.00 Loan No. L1400023, Water 
Quality Program 
 

City of Nooksack $520,000.00 City of Nooksack, Whatcom 
County EDI Fund Loan 
 

City of Nooksack $260,000.00 City of Nooksack, Whatcom 
County EDI Fund Grant 
 

City of Nooksack 0.00 Reserve Funds – TBD 
 

City of Everson 0.00 Reserve Funds - TBD 
  
  

27



28



 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum Street SE 
Post Office Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

Administrative services provided by the Department of Commerce 

(360) 725-3150                          Fax  (360) 586-8440                     www.pwb.wa.gov  

 

October 20, 2014 
 
 
«LoanContactName» 
«LegalName» 
«LoanContactStreet1» 
«LoanContactStreet2» 
«Loancontactcity», WA   «LoanContactZip» 
 
RE: Loan Contract Number: «LoanNumber» 
 
Dear «LoanContactNamePrefix» «LoanContactName»: 
 
Enclosed are two originals of the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Contract Number identified 
above.  The Loan Contract details the terms and conditions that will govern the agreement between us, which 
includes the project's Scope of Work and an Attorney's Certification as formal attachments. 
 
When you have obtained the appropriate signatures, please return both original contracts and all the 
attachments to the Public Works Board within 60 calendar days of the date of this letter. Failure to return the 
contracts within this timeline may result in your loan offer being withdrawn.  
 
Please note that the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency is the funding source for this program and the 
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number is 66.468.  Consequently, the loan funds are federal 
and subject to both state and federal requirements. 
 
If the loan fee applies, the amount of the loan includes an amount sufficient to cover a one-percent loan 
administration fee.  The fee will be collected at contract execution, and is non-refundable. Please review the 
terms and conditions of the Loan Contract carefully, as well as the attachments. 
 
A requirement of the DWSRF program is that you must maintain updated project records and yearly renewal of 
your registration in the System for Award Management at www.sam.gov. 
 
Another requirement of the DWSRF program is that all entities are required to verify that the federal 
government has not suspended or debarred them from receiving federal funds.  This includes, but is not limited 
to, project contractors, subcontractors, engineers, architects, consultants, and equipment vendors.  The 
Exclusion Report can be accessed at www.sam.gov.  Failure to provide this required certification may result in 
termination of your loan contract. 
 
After the Loan Contracts have been signed by the Board or its designee, one fully executed original will be 
returned to you for your files. Instructions for drawing the loan funds will be returned to you with the executed 
Loan Contract, as well as the necessary forms.  The Loan Contract specifies that draws may be made for costs 
that have been incurred, and which have supporting documentation such as receipts or bills. 

29



«LegalName» 
«LoanNumber» 
October 20, 2014 
Page 2 
 
 
 
We are looking forward to working with you over the course of this project.  If you have any questions about 
this Loan Contract, please contact me. 

 

Sincerely, 
 
«ndbStaffName» 
«ndbStaffUnit» 
«ndbStaffPhone» 
«ndbStaffEmail» 
 
Enclosures: 
ATTACHMENT I:  ATTORNEY'S CERTIFICATION 
ATTACHMENT II:  FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 
ATTACHMENT III:  DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS 
ATTACHMENT IV:  CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS 
ATTACHMENT V:  DWSRF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS 
ATTACHMENT VI:  LABOR STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR SUBRECIPIENTS THAT ARE GOVERNMENT ENTITIES 
 

30



 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum Street SE 
Post Office Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

 
Washington State Department of Commerce 
www.commerce.wa.gov  
«LegalName» Page 1  
«LoanNumber»  10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 
 

Capital Agreement between: 
 

«LegalName» 
and 

 
Public Works Board 

 
For: 

 
Project Name: «ProjectTitle» 
Loan Number: «LoanNumber» 
Loan Type: «LoanTypeText»  

  
 
Contract Start Date:   Contract Execution Date  
 

31



 

«LegalName» Page 2   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

DECLARATIONS 

CLIENT INFORMATION 
Legal Name: «LegalName» 
Loan Number: «LoanNumber» 
Award Year: «LoanStartCalendarYear» 
State Wide Vendor Number: «StateClientNumber» 
 
 
 
PROJECT INFORMATION 
  
Project Title: «ProjectTitle» 
Project City:  «ProjectCity» 
Project State: Washington 
Project Zip Code:  «ProjectZip» 
 
 
 
LOAN INFORMATION 
 
Loan Amount: «ndbNewLoanAmountExec» 
Loan Fee (Included in loan amount if applicable) «LoanFee» 
Loan Forgiveness %: «PercentForgiven»% 
Loan Term: «TermInYears» years 
Interest Rate:  «InterestRatePctExec»% 
Payment Month: October 1st 
Earliest Date for Construction Reimbursement:  «ReimbursmentYear» 
Time of Performance 48 months from Contract execution date to Project Completion 

date. 
  
SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS GOVERNING THIS LOAN AGREEMENT 
 
«ndbSpecialTerms» 
 
LOAN SECURITY CONDITION GOVERNING THIS LOAN AGREEMENT 
  
«ndbLoanSecurityParagraph» 
 

32



 

«LegalName» Page 3   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 
DECLARATIONS (continued) 
 
Loan Number:  «LoanNumber» 
Project Title:  «ProjectTitle» 
  
Scope of Work:   
«ScopeOfWork» 

 
 

 

33



 

«LegalName» Page 4   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 34



 

«LegalName» Page 5   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

CONTRACT FACE SHEET 
Contract Number: «LoanNumber» 

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) 
2014 

(Municipal) 
 

1. Contractor 2. Contractor Doing Business As (optional) 
«LegalName» 
«LoanContactStreet1» 
«LoanContactStreet2» 
«Loancontactcity», WA «LoanContactZip» 

N/A 

3. Contractor Representative 4. Public Works Board Representative 
N/A N/A  
5. Contract Amount 6. Funding Source 7. Contract Start Date 8. Contract End Date 
«ndbNewLoanAmou
ntExec» Federal:   State:   

Other:   N/A:  

Contract Execution Date October  1, 
«LoanEndCalendarYear
» 

9. Federal Funds (as applicable)   
N/A 

Federal Agency 
EPA 

CFDA Number  
66.468 

10. Tax ID # 11. SWV # 12. UBI # 13. DUNS # 
N/A «StateClientNumber»--

«StateClientNumberSufix» 
 «DunnsID» 

14. Contract Purpose 
The purpose of this Contract is to provide funding for a project of a local government that furthers the goals and 
objectives of the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Program.  The project will be undertaken by the 
Contractor and will include the activities described in the Declared Scope of Work. 
The Board, defined as the Washington State Public Works Board, and Contractor acknowledge and accept the 
terms of this Contract and attachments and have executed this Contract on the date below to start as of the date 
and year last written below. The rights and obligations of both parties to this Contract are governed by this Contract 
and the following other documents incorporated by reference:  Contractor Terms and Conditions including 
Declarations Page; Attachment I: Attorney's Certification; Attachment II: Federal and State Requirements; 
Attachment III: Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Requirements; Attachment IV: Certification Regarding 
Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters; Attachment V: DWSRF Eligible Project Costs; and 
Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions for Subrecipients that are Governmental Entities. 
FOR THE CONTRACTOR FOR PUBLIC WORKS BOARD 
 
 
  
Signature 
 
  
Print Name 
 
  
Title 
 
  
Date 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  
Stan Finkelstein, Public Works Board Chair 
 
  
Date 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY 
 
This 18th Day of February, 2014                 
Bob Ferguson 
Attorney General 
 
Signature on file  
Kathryn Wyatt 
Assistant Attorney General 

 
 

35



 

«LegalName» Page 6   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 36



 

«LegalName» Page 7   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
CONTRACT TITLE PAGE ……………………………………………………………………………….……….……….…..….. 1 
CONTRACT DECLARATIONS…………………………………………………………………………….………….………..… 2 
CONTRACT FACE SHEET………………………………………………………………………………..……...…………….… 5 
TABLE OF CONTENTS ……………………………………………………………………………………………………….….. 7 
  
Part 1 SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 1.1. DEFINITIONS 11 
1.2. AUTHORITY 11 
1.3. PURPOSE 11 
1.4. ORDER OF PRECIDENCE 11 
1.5. AMOUNT OF LOAN 12 
1.6. LOAN FEE 12 
1.7. TERM OF LOAN 12 
1.8. RATE AND LOAN FORGIVENESS 12 
1.9. DISBURSEMENT OF LOAN PROCEEDS AND REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION 12 
1.10. TIME OF PERFORMANCE 13 

1.11. PROJECT COMPLETION AMENDMENT AND THE CERTIFIED PROJECT COMPLETION REPORT 13 
1.12. REPAYMENT 14 
1.13. DEFAULT IN REPAYMENT 14 
1.14. LOAN SECURITY 14 
1.15. HISTORICAL AND CULTURAL ARTIFACTS 14 
1.16. FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 15 
1.17. COMPETITIVE BIDDING REQUIREMENTS 15 
1.18. ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS 15 
1.19. PREVAILING WAGE 15 
1.20. FEDERAL EXCLUSION 16 
1.21. REGISTRATION WITH CENTRAL CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION (CCR) 16 
1.22. RECORDKEEPING AND ACCESS TO RECORDS 16 
1.23. REPORTS 16 
1.24. AMENDMENTS, MODIFICATIONS, ASSIGNMENTS, AND WAIVERS 17 
1.25. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE 17 
1.26. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 17 
1.27. AUDIT 17 
1.28. PROJECT SIGNS 18 
1.29. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS 18 
1.30. NONDISCRIMINATION PROVISION 18 
1.31. PROHIBITION STATEMENT 19 
1.32. FALSE, INCORRECT, OR INCOMPLETE INFORMATION OR CLAIM 19 
1.33. LITIGATION 19 
1.34. ESTABLISHMENT OF ADEQUATE RATES AND RESERVES 19 
1.35. SPECIAL CONDITIONS 19 
1.36. INVESTMENT GRADE AUDIT 19 

37



 

«LegalName» Page 8   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

1.37. BUY AMERICAN 19 
   

   
Part 2 GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS  
2.1. DEFINITIONS 21 
2.2. ADMINISTRATIVE COST ALLOCATION 21 
2.3. ALLOWABLE COSTS 21 
2.4. ALL WRITINGS CONTAINED HEREIN 21 
2.5. AMENDMENTS 21 

2.6. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) OF 1990, PUBLIC LAW 101-336, also referred to as the 
“ADA” 28 CFR Part 35 21 

2.7. APPROVAL 21 
2.8. ASSIGNMENT 21 
2.9. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 22 
2.10. AUDIT 22 

2.11. CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION OR INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY 
EXCLUSION—PRIMARY AND LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS 23 

2.12. CODE REQUIREMENTS 23 
2.13. CONFIDENTIALITY/SAFEGUARDING OF INFORMATION 23 
2.14. CONFORMANCE 24 
2.15. COPYRIGHT PROVISIONS 24 
2.16. DISALLOWED COSTS 24 
2.17. DISPUTES 24 
2.18. DUPLICATE PAYMENT 25 
2.19. ETHICS/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 25 
2.20. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE 25 
2.21. INDEMNIFICATION 25 
2.22. INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE CONTRACTOR 25 
2.23. INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE COVERAGE 25 
2.24. LAWS 26 
2.25. LICENSING, ACCREDITATION AND REGISTRATION 28 
2.26. LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY 28 
2.27. LOCAL PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION COORDINATION 28 
2.28. NONCOMPLIANCE WITH NONDISCRIMINATION LAWS 28 
2.29. NOTIFICATION OF TENANT RIGHTS/RESPONSIBILITIES 28 
2.30. POLITICAL ACTIVITIES 28 
2.31. PREVAILING WAGE LAWS 28 
2.32. PROCUREMENT STANDARDS FOR FEDERALLY FUNDED PROGRAMS 29 
2.33. PROHIBITION AGAINST PAYMENT OF BONUSES OR COMMISSION 29 
2.34. PUBLICITY 30 
2.35. RECAPTURE 30 
2.36. RECORDS MAINTENANCE 30 
2.37. REGISTRATION WITH DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 30 
2.38. RIGHT OF INSPECTION 30 
2.39. SAVINGS 30 

38



 

«LegalName» Page 9   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

2.40. SEVERABILITY 30 
2.41. SUBCONTRACTING 30 
2.42. SURVIVAL 31 
2.43. TAXES 31 
2.44. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE / SUSPENSION 31 
2.45. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 31 
2.46. TERMINATION PROCEDURES 31 
2.47. WAIVER 32 
2.48. WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS 32 

   
ATTACHMENT I   ATTORNEY’S CERTIFICATION 33 
ATTACHMENT II FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 35 
ATTACHMENT III DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS 37 

ATTACHMENT IV CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER 
RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS  39 

ATTACHMENT V DWSRF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS  41 

ATTACHMENT VI LABOR STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR SUBRECIPIENTS THAT ARE GOVERNMENTAL 
ENTITIES  43 

 
 

39



 

«LegalName» Page 10   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 

40



 

«LegalName» Page 11   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND 
NEW TRADITIONAL 

(MUNICIPAL) 
Part 1.  SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS  

1.1. DEFINITIONS 
As used throughout this Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Contract, the following terms shall have the 
meaning set forth below: 

A. AWARD YEAR shall mean the calendar year in which the funds were awarded to the Board for use in making 
loans under this program. 

B. “Board” shall mean the Washington State Public Works Board created in Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 
43.155.030, and who is a Party to the Contract. 

C. “Contract” shall mean this Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan. 

D. “Contractor” shall mean the Local Government identified on the Contract Face Sheet performing service(s) 
under this Contract and who is a Party to the Contract, and shall include all employees and agents of the 
Contractor. 

E. The “Contract End Date” shall mean the date the contract expires.  This date shall occur in the final year of the 
LOAN TERM unless otherwise amended, as counted from the AWARD YEAR.  The actual date of contract 
execution shall have no effect on the Contract End Date. 

F. “Deferral Period” shall be from the date of contract execution until the date of project completion.  The Deferral 
Period shall not exceed 4 years in length. 

G. “Department of Commerce” and “Commerce” shall mean the Washington State Department of Commerce. 

H. “Department of Health” shall mean the Washington State Department of Health, Office of Drinking Water, who is 
the recipient of the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund grant and regulates drinking water systems in the 
State of Washington. 

I. "Iron and steel products" are the following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes and 
fittings, manhole covers and other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, 
valves, structural steel, reinforced precast concrete, and construction materials. 

J. PAYMENT MONTH shall mean the day and month of the year in which payments are due. 
 

1.2. AUTHORITY 
Acting under the authority of RCW 70.119A.170 and RCW 43.155.040, the Board has awarded the Contractor a 
Drinking Water State Revolving Fund loan for an approved project.  The Contractor will be a sub-recipient of funds 
provided by the United States Environmental Protection Agency, CFDA Number 66.468, Title: Safe Drinking Water 
State Revolving Fund, award year of this contract. 
 

1.3. PURPOSE 
The Board and the Contractor have entered into this Contract to undertake a local project that furthers the goals 
and objectives of the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Program.  The project will be undertaken by the 
Contractor and will include the activities described in the SCOPE OF WORK shown on the Declarations page.  The 
project must be undertaken in accordance with the loan Program Special Terms and Conditions and all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and ordinances, including but not limited to those specifically enumerated in 
Attachment II:  Federal and State Requirements, which by this reference are incorporated into this Contract as 
though set forth fully herein. 
 

1.4. ORDER OF PRECIDENCE 
In the event of an inconsistency in this Contract, the inconsistency shall be resolved by giving precedence in the 
following order:  

A. Applicable federal and State of Washington statutes and regulations. 

41



 

«LegalName» Page 12   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

B. Special Terms and Conditions including attachments. 
C. General Terms and Conditions. 
 

1.5. AMOUNT OF LOAN 
The Board, using funds appropriated from the Drinking Water Assistance Account, shall loan the Contractor a sum 
not to exceed the amount shown as LOAN AMOUNT on the attached Declarations Page. This loan amount includes 
a loan fee, if applicable, which is shown on the Declarations Page as LOAN FEE. 
 

1.6. LOAN FEE 
 If the loan fee applies, it will be assessed at loan execution. 

The amount of the loan fee (if applicable) represents one percent (1%) of the loan request and shall not be reduced, 
regardless of the actual final loan amount at project completion.  If the loan fee applies and the total loan amount is 
increased by amendment, an additional loan fee equal to one percent (1%) of the additional loan amount will be 
assessed at amendment execution.  The amount of any loan fee will be displayed on the Declarations Page as 
LOAN FEE. 
 

1.7. TERM OF LOAN 
Unless otherwise amended, the term of the loan shall not exceed the period shown on the Declarations Page as 
LOAN TERM. The term shall start in the AWARD YEAR. 

Except as herein provided, under no circumstances shall the loan repayment period exceed 20 years from the 
contract execution date. 

The loan term may be extended for a disadvantaged community up to 30 years, provided that a recipient 
completes loan repayment no later than 30 years after project completion and the term of the loan does not 
exceed the expected design life of the project. 
 

1.8. RATE AND LOAN FORGIVENESS 
The interest rate shall be the declared INTEREST RATE per annum on the outstanding principal balance, based on 
a three hundred and sixty (360) day year composed of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months. The amount of loan 
forgiveness (if applicable) shall be as stated on the attached Declarations Page, and identified therein as LOAN 
FORGIVENESS %.  

This loan forgiveness shall be applied at project completion and shall apply to the lesser of the loan amount or the 
actual eligible costs and that declared percent on any accrued interest. The percent of loan forgiveness and interest 
rate shall not be changed, regardless of the actual cost of the project and the Affordability Index at project 
completion. 
 

1.9. DISBURSEMENT OF LOAN PROCEEDS AND REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION 
If funding or appropriation is not available at the time the Contractor submits a request for a loan disbursement, the 
issuance of a warrant will be delayed or suspended until such time funds become available.  Therefore, subject to 
availability of funds, warrants shall be issued to the Contractor for payment of allowable expenses incurred by the 
Contractor while undertaking and administering approved project activities in accordance with the declared SCOPE 
OF WORK. 

The loan funds will be disbursed to the Contractor as follows: 

Ten percent (10%) of loan proceeds will be held until project completion. The total Drinking Water State Revolving 
Fund Loan shall not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the actual eligible project costs.  

When requesting reimbursement for costs incurred, the Contractor shall submit a signed and completed Invoice 
Voucher (Form A19), referencing the declared SCOPE OF WORK project activity performed, and any appropriate 
documentation such as bills, invoices, and receipts.  The purchase of any land necessary and integral to the project 
must be included in the declared SCOPE OF WORK and be documented with an appraisal or other market 
valuation and a valid purchase and sale agreement. The Invoice Voucher must be certified by an official of the 
Contractor with authority to bind the Contractor. 

Each A19 Reimbursement Voucher must be accompanied by a Project Status Report, which describes, in narrative 
form, the progress made on the project since the last invoice was submitted, as well as a report of project status to 
date.  The Department of Commerce (Commerce) will not release payment for any reimbursement request received 
until the Project Status Report is received. After approving the Voucher and the Project Status Report, Commerce 
shall promptly release funds to the Contractor. 

42



 

«LegalName» Page 13   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

Construction expenses incurred after the date shown as EARLIEST DATE FOR CONSTRUCTION 
REIMBURSEMENT on the Declarations Page are eligible for reimbursement. Requests for reimbursements for 
costs related to construction activities will not be accepted until the Contractor has met the following conditions: 

A. Issued a Notice to Proceed which follows the formal award of a construction contract; 
B. Completed the State Environmental Review Process; 
C. Complied with all provisions of Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966; 
D. Complied with Section 1.19: Prevailing Wage; 
E. Obtained approval from the Department of Health of the project report and related construction documents for 

all applicable activities described in the declared SCOPE OF WORK; and 
F. Complied with any other loan conditions required by Department of Health or The Board. 

An electronic copy (emailed PDF or a FAX) of a signed A19 Reimbursement Voucher and other required 
documentation is the preferred method for requesting reimbursement.  Submit the electronic requests to your 
Contracts Administration Unit (CAU) representative or fax to 360-586-8440.  This electronic submittal may be 25 
pages or less.  If you choose to send your vouchers and backup documentation electronically, please DO NOT mail 
in the original.  You will receive email notification from your CAU representative that the electronic request has been 
received.  

Commerce will pay the Contractor upon acceptance of the work performed and receipt of properly completed 
invoices.  Invoices may be submitted to Commerce not more often than monthly.   

Payment shall be considered timely if made by Commerce within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of properly 
completed invoices.  Payment shall be sent to the address designated by the Contractor. 

The Board may, at its sole discretion, withhold payments claimed by the Contractor for services rendered if the 
Contractor fails to satisfactorily comply with any term or condition of this contract.   

No payments in advance or in anticipation of services or supplies to be provided under this contract shall be made 
by the Board. 

In the event that the Contractor receives reimbursement for costs that are later determined by the Board to be 
ineligible, these funds shall be repaid to the Drinking Water Assistance Account by payment to the Department of 
Commerce, or its successor, together with the submission of the Project Completion Amendment.   

At the time of project completion, the Contractor shall submit to the Board a Certified Project Completion Request 
certifying the total actual project costs, and a final voucher for the remaining eligible funds. The Certified Project 
Completion Request shall include a copy of the Construction Completion Report as submitted to Department of 
Health.  
 

1.10. TIME OF PERFORMANCE 
The Contractor shall begin the activities identified within the declared SCOPE OF WORK no later than thirty (30) 
days after Contract execution. No later than eighteen (18) months after Contract execution, the Contractor shall issue 
a ‘Notice to Proceed’, which follows the formal award of a construction contract.   

The Contractor must reach project completion within the period specified on the Declarations Page as TIME OF 
PERFORMANCE. 

Failure to meet Time of Performance within the time frame described in this section shall constitute default under this 
Contract, and as a result, this Contract may be terminated. In the event of extenuating circumstances, the Contractor 
may request, in writing, at least 90 days prior to the expiration of project completion date that the Board extend the 
deadline for project completion. The Board may extend the time of project completion. 
 

1.11. PROJECT COMPLETION AMENDMENT AND THE CERTIFIED PROJECT COMPLETION REPORT 
The Contractor shall initiate a Project Completion Amendment by submitting a Certified Project Completion Report 
when activities identified in the declared SCOPE OF WORK are complete and the Contractor agrees that no 
additional eligible costs will be reimbursed. 

In the Project Completion Amendment, the Contractor will provide the following information to the Board:  

A. A certified statement of the actual dollar amounts spent, from all fund sources, in completing the project as 
described in the declared SCOPE OF WORK. 

B. Certification that all costs associated with the project have been incurred.  Costs are incurred when goods and 
services are received and/or contract work is performed. 

43



 

«LegalName» Page 14   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

C. A copy of the Department of Health Construction Completion Report as submitted to Department of Health. 

D. Evidence documenting compliance with audit requirements as referenced in Section 1.27. 

E. A final voucher for the remaining eligible funds.   

The Project Completion Amendment shall serve as an amendment to this Contract determining the final loan 
amount and term of the loan. 

 
1.12. REPAYMENT 

An assistance recipient begins annual repayment of the loan no later than one year after contract execution. The 
first repayment installment is due on the first day of the month shown as PAYMENT MONTH on the Declarations 
Page.  Interest only will be charged for this first payment if a draw is made prior to this date. All subsequent payments 
shall consist of principal and accrued interest due that month of each year during the remaining term of the loan. 

Repayment of the loan under this Contract shall include the declared INTEREST RATE per annum. Interest will 
begin to accrue from the date each payment is issued to the Contractor.  The final payment shall be on or before the 
completion of the declared LOAN TERM, payable on or before the declared PAYMENT MONTH of an amount 
sufficient to bring the loan balance to zero.  

The Contractor has the right to repay the unpaid balance of the loan in full at any time or make accelerated payments 
without penalty. 

The Contractor will repay the loan in accordance with the preceding conditions through the use of a check, money 
order, or equivalent means made payable to the Washington State Department of Commerce, or its successor. 
 

1.13. DEFAULT IN REPAYMENT 
Loan repayments shall be made in accordance with Section 1.12 of this Contract.  A payment not received within thirty 
(30) days of the due date shall be declared delinquent.  Delinquent payments shall be assessed a monthly penalty 
beginning on the first (1st) day past the due date.  The penalty will be one percent (1%) per month or twelve percent 
(12%) per annum of the delinquent payment amount.  These same penalty terms shall apply if the repayment of loan 
funds determined to be ineligible costs are not repaid within thirty (30) days as provided for in Section 1.9. 

The Contractor acknowledges and agrees to the Board’s right, upon delinquency in the payment of any annual 
installment, to notify any other entity, creditors, or potential creditors of the Contractor of such delinquency. Contractor 
shall be responsible for all legal fees incurred by the Board in any action undertaken to enforce its rights under this 
section. 

1.14. LOAN SECURITY 
Loan Security may be required as a performance condition of this contract.  If such performance condition is 
required it shall be indicated on the attached Declarations Page and identified therein as LOAN SECURITY 
CONDITION. 

The Board grants the Contractor the right to issue future bonds and notes that constitute a lien and charge on the 
revenue source superior to the lien and charge of this Loan Contract.  Nothing in this section shall absolve the 
Contractor of its obligation to make loan repayments when due, and to adjust rates, fees, or surcharges, if 
necessary, to meet its obligations under this Contract. 
 

1.15. HISTORICAL AND CULTURAL ARTIFACTS 
The Contractor acknowledges that the project funded by this Contract is subject to Section 106 of the National 
Historic Preservation Act of 1966. 

Contractor agrees that Contractor is legally and financially responsible for compliance with all laws, regulations, and 
agreements related to the preservation of historical or cultural artifacts and agrees to hold harmless the State of 
Washington in relation to any claim related to such historical or cultural artifacts discovered, disturbed, or damaged as 
a result of Contractor’s public works project funded under this Contract. 

The Contractor agrees that, in no case shall construction activities, ground disturbance, or excavation of any sort, 
begin until the Contractor has complied with all provisions of Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 
1966, as amended. 

In addition, the Contractor shall not conduct or authorize destructive project planning activities before completing 
compliance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended. 

44



 

«LegalName» Page 15   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

If historical or cultural artifacts are discovered during construction, the Contractor shall immediately stop construction 
and implement reasonable measures to protect the discovery site from further disturbance, take reasonable steps to 
ensure confidentiality of the discovery site, restrict access to the site,  and notify the concerned tribe’s cultural staff 
or committee, Tribal Historical Preservation Officer (THPO), Cultural Resources Program Manager at Washington 
State Department of Health, and the State's Historical Preservation Officer (SHPO) at the Washington State 
Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation (DAHP).  If human remains are uncovered, the Contractor shall 
report the presence and location of the remains to the coroner and local enforcement immediately, then contact the 
concerned tribe’s cultural staff or committee and DAHP. 

The Contractor shall require the above provisions to be contained in all contracts for work or services related to the 
declared SCOPE OF WORK.  In no case shall construction activities begin until the Contractor has complied with all 
provisions of Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966. 

In addition to the requirements set forth in this Contract, the Contractor agrees to comply with Native American Graves 
Protection and Repatriation Act,  Archaeological Resources Protection Act, Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 27.44 
regarding Indian Graves and Records; RCW 27.53 regarding Archaeological Sites and Resources; RCW 68.60 
regarding Abandoned and Historic Cemeteries and Historic Graves; and Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 25-
48 regarding Archaeological Excavation and Removal Permits. 
 

1.16. FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 
The Contractor assures compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws, requirements, and ordinances as 
they pertain to the design, implementation, and administration of the approved project, including but not limited to those 
listed in Attachments II, III, and IV. 
 

1.17. COMPETITIVE BIDDING REQUIREMENTS 
Pursuant to 40 CFR, Section 33.501(b) and (c), the Contractor also agrees to create and maintain a bidders list for 
both Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBE) and Non-Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (non-DBE). The 
purpose of a bidders list is to provide the recipient and entities receiving identified loans who conduct competitive 
bidding with as accurate a database as possible about the universe of DBE and non-DBE prime and subcontractors. 
The list must include all firms that bid or quote on prime contracts or bid or quote subcontracts on Environmental 
Protection Agency assisted projects, including both DBE and non-DBE. The bidders list must be kept at least until 
the grant project period has expired and the recipient is no longer receiving Environmental Protection Agency 
funding under the grant. For entities receiving identified loans, the bidders list must only be kept until the project 
period for the identified loan has ended. The following information must be obtained from all prime and 
subcontractors: entity's name with point of contact; entity's mailing address, telephone number, and e-mail address; 
the procurement on which the entity bid or quoted, and when; and, entity's status as a DBE or non-DBE. 

The Contractor agrees to provide Environmental Protection Agency Form 6100-2 DBE Subcontractor Participation 
and Environmental Protection Agency Form 6100-3 DBE Subcontractor Performance to all its Disadvantaged 
Business Enterprise subcontractors. 

The Contractor shall require Disadvantaged Business Enterprise provisions are contained in all contracts with any 
subcontractors for work or services related to the declared SCOPE OF WORK. 

The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of RCW 43.155.060 regarding competitive bidding requirements for 
projects assisted in whole or in part with money from the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund program. 
 

1.18. ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS 
The Contractor assures compliance with Attachment V: DWSRF Eligible Project Costs, which identifies eligible costs 
for projects funded by Drinking Water State Revolving Fund loans. 
 

1.19. PREVAILING WAGE 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.31. Prevailing Wage Laws in General Terms and Conditions. 

All contractors and subcontractors performing work on a construction project funded through this Contract shall 
comply with prevailing wage laws by paying the higher of state or federal prevailing wages according to: 

State Prevailing Wages on Public Works, Chapter 39.12 RCW, as applicable to the Project funded by this 
contract, including but not limited to the filing of the “Statement of Intent to Pay Prevailing Wages” and “Affidavit 
of Wages Paid” as required by RCW 39.12.040.  The Contractor shall maintain records sufficient to evidence 
compliance with Chapter 39.12 RCW, and shall make such records available for Board’s review upon request; 
or, 

45



 

«LegalName» Page 16   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

The Davis Bacon Act, 40 USC 276a-276a-5 and related federal acts provide that all laborers and mechanics 
employed by contractors or subcontractors in the performance shall be paid wages at rates not less than those 
prevailing on similar construction in the locality as determined by the Secretary of Labor. 

The Contractor agrees that the Contractor is legally and financially responsible for compliance with the prevailing 
wage requirements. Contractor is advised to consult the United States Department of Labor and Washington State 
Department of Labor and Industries websites to determine the federal and State prevailing wages that must be paid.  

The Contractor shall ensure that all contractors, subcontractors, engineers, vendors, and any other entity for work or 
services listed in the declared SCOPE OF WORK shall insert in full, in any contract, the labor standards provisions 
listed in Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions for Subrecipients That Are Governmental Entities. Contractor 
shall report to the Board and/or the Department of Health that this requirement has been met as stated in this 
Contract. 
 

1.20. FEDERAL EXCLUSION 
These Terms add to the terms in Section 2.11. Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension or Ineligibility and 
Voluntary Exclusion – Primary and Lower Tier Covered Transactions in General Terms and Conditions. The 
Contractor also agrees to access the Federal Exclusion List at www.sam.gov and provide Federal Exclusion 
documentation to the Board and to keep a copy on file with the Contractor’s project records. 
 

1.21. REGISTRATION WITH CENTRAL CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION (CCR) 
By signing this Contract, the Contractor accepts the requirements stated in 48 CFR 52.204-7 to register with the 
Central Contractor Registration (CCR) database at the System for Awards Management (SAM) website.  To register 
in SAM, a valid Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Number is required. The Contractor is responsible for the 
accuracy and completeness of the data within the SAM database and for any liability resulting from the Government's 
reliance on inaccurate or incomplete data. The Contractor must remain registered in the SAM database after the initial 
registration. The Contractor is required to review and update on an annual basis from the date of initial registration or 
subsequent updates its information in SAM to ensure it is current, accurate and complete. The Contractor shall provide 
evidence documenting registration and renewal of SAM registration to the Board.  

In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance or refusal to comply with the requirement stated above, the Board 
reserves the right to suspend payment until the Contractor cures this noncompliance. 
 

1.22. RECORDKEEPING AND ACCESS TO RECORDS 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.36. Records Maintenance in General Terms and Conditions. 

The Board, the Board’s agents, and duly authorized officials of the state and federal governments shall have full 
access and the right to examine, copy, excerpt, or transcribe any pertinent documents, papers, records, and books of 
the Contractor and of persons, firms, or organizations with which the Contractor may contract, involving transactions 
related to this project and this Contract.   

The Contractor agrees to retain these records for a period of six (6) years from the date that the debt is retired.  This 
includes but is not limited to financial reports.  If any litigation, claim or audit is started before the expiration of the six 
(6) year period, the records shall be retained until all litigation, claims or audit findings involving the records have been 
resolved. 
 

1.23. REPORTS 
The Contractor, at such times and on such forms as the Board may require, shall furnish the Board with such 
periodic reports as it may request pertaining to the activities undertaken pursuant to this Contract including, but not 
limited to: 

A. Prevailing Wage decisions and/or changes 
B. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises utilization 
C. Project Status Reports with each Invoice Voucher 
D. Certified Project Completion Report at project completion (as described in Section 1.11)  
E. Other reports as the Board may require  

In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance or refusal to comply with the requirement stated above, the Board 
reserves the right to suspend payment until the Contractor cures this noncompliance. 
 

46



 

«LegalName» Page 17   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

1.24. AMENDMENTS, MODIFICATIONS, ASSIGNMENTS, AND WAIVERS 
Amendments, modifications, assignments, and waivers to any of the terms of this contract supersede those terms as 
found in the original contract. 

The Contractor may request an amendment of this Contract for the purpose of modifying the declared SCOPE OF 
WORK or for extending the time of performance as provided for in Section 1.10.  Any revision to the SCOPE OF 
WORK or location of the project must be approved by the Department of Health.  No modification or amendment 
resulting in an extension of time shall take effect until a request has been received and approved by the Board in 
accordance with Section 1.10.   

During the term of this loan, any change in ownership of the water system(s) improved with funds received 
by the Contractor under this Contract must be approved in writing by the Board.  As a condition of 
approval, the Board reserves the right to demand payment in full of the outstanding principal balance of the 
loan. 

No conditions or provisions of this Contract may be waived unless approved by the Board in writing.  No waiver of any 
default or breach by any party shall be implied from any failure to take action upon such default or breach if the default 
of breach persists or repeats. 
 

1.25. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.44. Termination for Cause/Suspension in General Terms and 
Conditions. 

If the Board concludes that the Contractor has failed to comply with the terms and conditions of this Contract, or has 
failed to use the loan proceeds only for those activities identified in the declared SCOPE OF WORK, or has 
otherwise materially breached one or more of the covenants in this Contract, the Board may at any time, at its 
discretion, upon notice to the Contractor, terminate the Contract and/or its attached agreements in whole or in part 
and declare the entire remaining balance of the loan, together with any interest accrued, immediately due and 
payable in full.  Such Notice of Termination for Cause shall be in writing, shall state the reason(s) for such 
termination, and shall specify the effective date of the termination. The effective date of the termination will be 
determined by the Board. Such notice shall inform the Contractor of the breach of the relevant covenant and shall 
allow the Contractor at least thirty (30) business days to cure such breach, if curable.  The notice shall instruct the 
Contractor that, if the breach is not cured or cannot be cured within thirty (30) business days, the outstanding 
balance of the loan shall be due and payable. If this Contract is so terminated, the Board shall be liable only for 
payment required under the terms of this Contract for services rendered or goods delivered prior to the effective 
date of termination. Nothing in this section shall affect the Contractor’s obligations to immediately repay the unpaid 
balance of the loan as prescribed in the Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 246-296-150.  
 

1.26. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.45. Termination for Convenience in General Terms and Conditions. 

The Board may terminate this Contract in the event that federal or state funds are no longer available to the Board, 
or are not appropriated for the purpose of meeting the Board’s obligations under this Contract.  The Board shall 
notify the Contractor in writing of its determination to terminate and the reason for such termination.  The effective 
date of the termination will be determined by the Board. If this Contract is so terminated, the Board shall be liable 
only for payment required under the terms of this Contract for services rendered or goods delivered prior to the 
effective date of termination. Nothing in this section shall affect Contractor’s obligations to repay the unpaid balance 
of the loan. 
 

1.27. AUDIT 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.10. Audit in General Terms and Conditions. 

Municipal and Not-For-Profit entities: 
Audits of the Contractor's project activities may be conducted by the State Auditor Office (SAO).  Audit costs are 
eligible project costs.  The Contractor shall maintain its records and accounts so as to facilitate the audit 
requirements of the Board or its successor.  The Contractor is responsible for any audit findings incurred by its own 
organization.  The Board reserves the right to recover from the Contractor all disallowed costs resulting from the 
audit. 

In addition, Contractor’s expending  $500,000 or more in any fiscal year in federal funds from all sources, direct and 
indirect, are required to have an audit conducted in accordance with Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Revised Circular A-133  "Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations."  

47



 

«LegalName» Page 18   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

For-Profit entities: 
A report on the internal control related to the federal program, which should describe the scope of testing of the 
internal control and the results of the tests. 

A report on compliance, which includes an opinion (or disclaimer of opinion) on whether the auditee complied with 
laws, regulations and the provisions of the award agreement that could have a direct and material effect on the 
federal program. 

The Contractor must send a copy of any required audit Reporting Package as described in OMB Circular A-133, 
Part C, Section 320(c) no later than nine (9) months after the end of the Contractor’s fiscal year(s) to: 

Department of Commerce 
ATTN: Public Works Board 
P.O. Box 42525 
1011 Plum Street SE 
Olympia WA 98504-2525 

In addition to sending a copy of the audit, when applicable, the Contractor must include: 

 Corrective action plan for audit findings within three (3) months of the audit being received by the Board.  

 Copy of the Management Letter.   
 

1.28. PROJECT SIGNS 
If the Contractor displays, during the period covered by this Contract, any signs or markers identifying those entities 
participating financially in the approved project, the sign or marker must identify the Washington State Public Works 
Board Drinking Water State Revolving Fund and the Washington State Department of Health as participants in the 
project. 
 

1.29. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS 
As mandated by the Environmental Protection Agency, the Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of 
the Environmental Protection Agency’s Program for Utilization of Small, Minority, and Women’s Business 
Enterprises in procurement under this Contract. The Contractor is required to follow the requirements identified in 
Attachment III: Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Requirements. 

By signing this Contract, the Contractor accepts the applicable MBE/WBE fair share objectives/goals negotiated 
with Environmental Protection Agency by the Washington State Office of Minority and Women's Business 
Enterprises. The Contractor attests to the fact that it is purchasing the same or similar construction, supplies, 
services and equipment, in the same or similar relevant geographic buying market as Washington State Office of 
Minority and Women's Business Enterprises. The goals for the utilization of disadvantaged businesses are stated in 
Attachment III: Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Requirements. 
The Contractor is required to furnish the Board and the Department of Health with such periodic reports as the 
Department may request pertaining to the utilization of disadvantaged businesses.   
 

1.30. NONDISCRIMINATION PROVISION 
During the performance of this contract, the Contractor shall comply with all federal and state nondiscrimination laws, 
including, but not limited to Chapter 49.60 RCW, Washington’s Law Against Discrimination, and 42 USC 12101 et seq, 
the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). 

In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance or refusal to comply with any applicable nondiscrimination law, 
regulation, or policy, this contract may be rescinded, canceled, or terminated in whole or in part, and the Contractor 
may be declared ineligible for further contracts with the Board.  The Contractor shall, however, be given a reasonable 
time in which to cure this noncompliance. 

The Contractor must also include the following terms and conditions in contracts with all contractors, 
subcontractors, engineers, vendors, and any other entity for work or services listed in the declared SCOPE OF 
WORK: 

“The Contractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in the performance of this 
Contract. The Contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 40 CFR Part 33 in the award and 
administration of contracts awarded under Environmental Protection Agency financial agreements. Failure by the 
Contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this Contract which may result in termination of 
this Contract.” 

48



 

«LegalName» Page 19   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 
1.31. PROHIBITION STATEMENT 

Pursuant to Section 106 of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000, as amended, the Contractor `s 
contractors, subcontractors, engineers, vendors, and any other entity shall comply with and include the following 
terms and conditions in all contracts for work or services listed in the declared SCOPE OF WORK: 

“All forms of trafficking in persons, illegal sex trade, or forced labor practices are prohibited in the 
performance of this award or subawards under the award, or in any manner during the period of 
time that the award is in effect.  This prohibition applies to you as the recipient, your employees, 
subrecipients under this award, and subrecipients’ employees.” 

If any term of this section is violated, this contract may be terminated. 
 

1.32.  FALSE, INCORRECT, OR INCOMPLETE INFORMATION OR CLAIM 
The Contractor warrants that the Contractor neither has submitted nor shall submit any information that is materially 
false, incorrect, or incomplete to the Board. 

The Contractor is advised that providing false, fictitious, or misleading information with respect to the receipt and 
disbursements of Environmental Protection Agency funds is basis for criminal, civil, or administrative fines and/or 
penalties. 
 

1.33. LITIGATION 
The Contractor warrants that there is no threatened or pending litigation, investigation, or legal action before any 
court, arbitrator, or administrative agency that, if adversely determined, would have a materially adverse effect on 
the Contractor’s ability to repay the loan. 
 

1.34. ESTABLISHMENT OF ADEQUATE RATES AND RESERVES 
The Contractor agrees to provide a resolution adopting rate increases, capital assessments, or both, for the 
services of the system that shall be sufficient to provide funds which, along with other revenues of the system, will 
pay all operating expenses and debt repayments during the term of the loan. In addition, the Contractor shall create, 
fund, and maintain reserves at least as required by the Water System Plan or Small Water System Management 
Plan. The Board reserves the right, at anytime, to request proof of compliance of these requirements from the 
Contractor. 
 

1.35. SPECIAL CONDITIONS 
If SPECIAL CONDITIONS are listed on the Contract Declarations Page then these conditions are herein 
incorporated as part of the terms and requirements of this contract. 
 

1.36. INVESTMENT GRADE AUDIT 
For projects involving repair, replacement, or improvement of a wastewater treatment plant, or other public works 
facility for which energy efficiency is obtainable, Contractor must undertake an investment grade audit per ESHB 
1497.  

Costs incurred as part of the investment grade audit are eligible project costs. 
 

1.37. BUY AMERICAN 
None of the funds made available to the Contractor shall be used for a project for the construction, alteration, 
maintenance, or repair of a public water system or treatment works unless all of the iron and steel products used in 
the project are produced in the United States.  This requirement applies to the entire project receiving a loan 
agreement executed after January 17, 2014.  Buy American does not apply to a project if the Department of Health 
approves the engineering plans and specifications for the project, in that agency's capacity to approve such plans 
and specifications prior to a project requesting bids, prior to January 17, 2014.  

Waiver of the Buy American requirement may be considered if:  1) compliance would be inconsistent with the public 
interest; or 2) the particular iron and steel products are not produced in the United States in sufficient and 
reasonably available quantities and/or the particular iron and steel products are not of a satisfactory quality; or 3) 
inclusion of iron and steel products produced in the United States will increase the cost of the overall project by 
more than 25 percent.  For consideration, a request for a waiver must be submitted to the Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA).   Contractors shall submit the waiver request to Commerce, which will then submit the request to 
EPA.    EPA will post the waiver request and any other information available to EPA concerning the waiver request, 
on EPA’s public Internet website and allow for informal public input on the request for at least 15 days prior to 

49



 

«LegalName» Page 20   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

making a finding based on the request.  The full text of the Buy American requirements appear at H.R. 3547, 
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014. 

50



 

«LegalName» Page 21   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 

Part 2.  GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
2.1. DEFINITIONS 

As used throughout this Contract, the following terms shall have the meaning set forth below: 

A. “Authorized Representative” shall mean the Public Works Board Chair and/or the designee authorized in writing 
to act on the Chair’s behalf. 

B. "“Board” shall mean the  Washington State Public Works Board created in Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 
43.155.030, and which is a Party to the Contract 

C. Contractor" shall mean the entity identified on the face sheet performing service(s) under this  Contract, and 
shall include all employees and agents of the Contractor. 

D.  “Personal Information” shall mean information identifiable to any person, including, but not limited to, 
information that relates to a person’s name, health, finances, education, business, use or receipt of 
governmental services or other activities, addresses, telephone numbers, social security numbers, driver 
license numbers, other identifying numbers, and any financial identifiers. 

E. ”State” shall mean the state of Washington. 

F. "Subcontractor" shall mean one not in the employment of the Contractor, who is performing all or part of those 
services under this Contract under a separate contract with the Contractor.  The terms “subcontractor” and 
“subcontractors” mean subcontractor(s) in any tier. 
 

2.2. ADMINISTRATIVE COST ALLOCATION 
Administrative costs that may be allowed are set forth in the Specific Terms and Conditions.  Administrative services 
shared by other programs shall be assigned to this Contract based on an allocation plan that reflects allowable 
administrative costs that support services provided under each Contract administered by the Contractor.  An 
approved current federal indirect cost rate may be applied up to the maximum administrative budget allowed.  

 
2.3. ALLOWABLE COSTS 

Costs allowable under this Contract are actual expenditures according to an approved budget up to the maximum 
amount stated on the Contract Award or Amendment Face Sheet. 

 
2.4. ALL WRITINGS CONTAINED HEREIN 

This Contract contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties. No other understandings, oral or 
otherwise, regarding the subject matter of this Contract shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties hereto. 

 
2.5. AMENDMENTS 

This Contract may be amended by mutual agreement of the parties. Such amendments shall not be binding unless 
they are in writing and signed by personnel authorized to bind each of the parties. 

 
2.6. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) OF 1990, PUBLIC LAW 101-336, ALSO REFERRED TO AS THE 

“ADA” 28 CFR PART 35 
The Contractor must comply with the ADA, which provides comprehensive civil rights protection to individuals with 
disabilities in the areas of employment, public accommodations, state and local government services, and 
telecommunications. 

 
2.7. APPROVAL 

This contract shall be subject to the written approval of the Board’s Authorized Representative and shall not be 
binding until so approved.  The contract may be altered, amended, or waived only by a written amendment 
executed by both parties. 

 
2.8. ASSIGNMENT 

Neither this Contract, nor any claim arising under this Contract, shall be transferred or assigned by the Contractor 
without prior written consent of the Board. 

 

51



 

«LegalName» Page 22   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

2.9. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 
Unless expressly permitted under another provision of the Contract, in the event of litigation or other action brought 
to enforce Contract terms, each party agrees to bear its own attorneys fees and costs. 

 
2.10. AUDIT 

A. General Requirements 
Contractors are to procure audit services based on the following guidelines.   

The Contractor shall maintain its records and accounts so as to facilitate the audit requirement and shall ensure 
that Subcontractors also maintain auditable records.   

The Contractor is responsible for any audit exceptions incurred by its own organization or that of its 
Subcontractors.   

The Board reserves the right to recover from the Contractor all disallowed costs resulting from the audit. 

As applicable, Contractors required to have an audit must ensure the audits are performed in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS); Government Auditing Standards (the Revised Yellow Book) 
developed by the Comptroller General. 

Responses to any unresolved management findings and disallowed or questioned costs shall be included with 
the audit report.  The Contractor must respond to the Board requests for information or corrective action 
concerning audit issues within thirty (30) days of the date of request. 

 
B. Federal Funds Requirements - OMB Circular A-133 Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit 

Organizations 
Contractors expending $500,000 or more in a fiscal year in federal funds from all sources, direct and indirect, 
are required to have an audit conducted in accordance with Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Revised 
Circular A-133 “Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.”  Revised OMB A-133 
requires the Contractor to provide the auditor with a schedule of Federal Expenditure for the fiscal year(s) being 
audited.  When state funds are also to be paid under this Agreement a Schedule of State Financial Assistance 
must also be included.  Both schedules include: 

Grantor agency name  
Federal agency 
Federal program name 
Other identifying contract numbers 
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number (if applicable) 
Grantor contract number 
Total award amount including amendments (total grant award) 
Current year expenditures 

If the Contractor is a state or local government entity, the Office of the State Auditor shall conduct the audit.  
Audits of non-profit organizations are to be conducted by a certified public accountant selected by the 
Contractor in accordance with OMB Circular A-110 “Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and 
Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit Organizations.” 

The Contractor shall include the above audit requirements in any subcontracts. 

In any case, the Contractor’s financial records must be available for review by the Board. 
 

C. Documentation Requirements 
The Contractor must send a copy of any required audit Reporting Package as described in OMB Circular A-133, 
Part C, Section 320(c) no later than nine (9) months after the end of the Contractor’s fiscal year(s) by sending a 
scanned copy to auditreview@commerce.wa.gov or by sending a hard copy to: 

Department of Commerce 
ATTN:  Audit Review and Resolution Office 
1011 Plum Street 
PO Box 42525 
Olympia WA 98504-2525 

In addition to sending a copy of the audit, when applicable, the Contractor must include: 

52

mailto:auditreview@commerce.wa.gov


 

«LegalName» Page 23   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

• Corrective action plan for audit findings within three (3) months of the audit being received by the Board.  
• Copy of the Management Letter. 
 

2.11. CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION OR INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY 
EXCLUSION—PRIMARY AND LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS 
A. Contractor, defined as the primary participant and it principals, certifies by signing these General Terms and 

Conditions that to the best of its knowledge and belief that they: 

1. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded 
from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency. 

2. Have not within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil judgment 
rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, 
attempting to obtain, or performing a public or private agreement or transaction, violation of Federal or State 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of 
records, making false statements, tax evasion, receiving stolen property, making false claims, or obstruction 
of justice; 

3. Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity (federal, 
state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (1)(b) of this section; and, 

4. Have not within a three-year period preceding the signing of this contract had one or more public 
transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause of default. 

B. Where the Contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this contract, the Contractor shall attach an 
explanation to this contract. 

C. The Contractor agrees by signing this contract that it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered 
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by the Board. 

D. The Contractor further agrees by signing this contract that it will include the clause titled “Certification Regarding 
Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion-Lower Tier Covered Transaction,” as follows, 
without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered 
transactions: 

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS 
a) The lower tier contractor certifies, by signing this contract that neither it nor its principals is presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation 
in this transaction by any Federal department or agency. 

b) Where the lower tier contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this contract, such contractor 
shall attach an explanation to this contract. 

E. The terms covered transaction, debarred, suspended, ineligible, lower tier covered transaction, person, primary 
covered transaction, principal, and voluntarily excluded, as used in this section, have the meanings set out in 
the Definitions and Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549.  You may contact the 
Board for assistance in obtaining a copy of these regulations.  

 
2.12. CODE REQUIREMENTS 

All construction and rehabilitation projects must satisfy the requirements of applicable local, state, and federal 
building, mechanical, plumbing, fire, energy and barrier-free codes.  Compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990, 28 C.F.R. Part 35 will be required, as specified by the local building Department. 

 
2.13. CONFIDENTIALITY/SAFEGUARDING OF INFORMATION 

A. “Confidential Information” as used in this section includes:  

1.  All material provided to the Contractor by the Board that is designated as “confidential” by the Board; 

2. All material produced by the Contractor that is designated as “confidential” by the Board; and  

3. All personal information in the possession of the Contractor that may not be disclosed under state or federal 
law. “Personal information” includes but is not limited to information related to a person’s name, health, 
finances, education, business, use of government services, addresses, telephone numbers, social security 

53



 

«LegalName» Page 24   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

number, driver’s license number and other identifying numbers, and “Protected Health Information” under 
the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA).  

B. The Contractor shall comply with all state and federal laws related to the use, sharing, transfer, sale, or 
disclosure of Confidential Information. The Contractor shall use Confidential Information solely for the purposes 
of this Contract and shall not use, share, transfer, sell or disclose any Confidential Information to any third party 
except with the prior written consent of the Board or as may be required by law. The Contractor shall take all 
necessary steps to assure that Confidential Information is safeguarded to prevent unauthorized use, sharing, 
transfer, sale or disclosure of Confidential Information or violation of any state or federal laws related thereto.  
Upon request, the Contractor shall provide the Board with its policies and procedures on confidentiality.  The 
Board may require changes to such policies and procedures as they apply to this Contract whenever the Board 
reasonably determines that changes are necessary to prevent unauthorized disclosures.  The Contractor shall 
make the changes within the time period specified by the Board.  Upon request, the Contractor shall 
immediately return to the Board any Confidential Information that the Board reasonably determines has not 
been adequately protected by the Contractor against unauthorized disclosure.  

C. Unauthorized Use or Disclosure. The Contractor shall notify the Board within five (5) working days of any 
unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential information, and shall take necessary steps to mitigate the 
harmful effects of such use or disclosure.   

 
2.14. CONFORMANCE 

If any provision of this contract violates any statute or rule of law of the state of Washington, it is considered 
modified to conform to that statute or rule of law. 

 
2.15. COPYRIGHT PROVISIONS 

Unless otherwise provided, all Materials produced under this Contract shall be considered "works for hire" as 
defined by the U.S. Copyright Act and shall be owned by the Board.  The Board shall be considered the author of 
such Materials.  In the event the Materials are not considered “works for hire” under the U.S. Copyright laws, the 
Contractor hereby irrevocably assigns all right, title, and interest in all Materials, including all intellectual property 
rights, moral rights, and rights of publicity to the Board effective from the moment of creation of such Materials. 

“Materials” means all items in any format and includes, but is not limited to, data, reports, documents, pamphlets, 
advertisements, books, magazines, surveys, studies, computer programs, films, tapes, and/or sound reproductions.  
“Ownership” includes the right to copyright, patent, register and the ability to transfer these rights. 

For Materials that are delivered under the Contract, but that incorporate pre-existing materials not produced under 
the Contract, the Contractor hereby grants to the Board a nonexclusive, royalty-free, irrevocable license (with rights 
to sublicense to others) in such Materials to translate, reproduce, distribute, prepare derivative works, publicly 
perform, and publicly display.  The Contractor warrants and represents that the Contractor has all rights and 
permissions, including intellectual property rights, moral rights and rights of publicity, necessary to grant such a 
license to the Board. 

The Contractor shall exert all reasonable effort to advise the Board, at the time of delivery of Materials furnished 
under this Contract, of all known or potential invasions of privacy contained therein and of any portion of such 
document which was not produced in the performance of this Contract.  The Contractor shall provide the Board with 
prompt written notice of each notice or claim of infringement received by the Contractor with respect to any 
Materials delivered under this Contract.  The Board shall have the right to modify or remove any restrictive markings 
placed upon the Materials by the Contractor. 

 
2.16. DISALLOWED COSTS 

The Contractor is responsible for any audit exceptions or disallowed costs incurred by its own organization or that of 
its Subcontractors. 

 
2.17. DISPUTES 

Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, when a dispute arises between the parties and it cannot be resolved 
by direct negotiation, either party may request a dispute hearing with the Director of the Board, who may designate 
a neutral person to decide the dispute. 

The request for a dispute hearing must: 

• be in writing; 
• state the disputed issues; 

54



 

«LegalName» Page 25   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

• state the relative positions of the parties; 
• state the Contractor's name, address, and Contract number; and, 
• be mailed to the Director and the other party’s (respondent’s) Contract Representative within three (3) working 

days after the parties agree that they cannot resolve the dispute. 

The respondent shall send a written answer to the requestor’s statement to both the Director or the Director’s 
designee and the requestor within five (5) working days. 

The Director or designee shall review the written statements and reply in writing to both parties within ten (10) 
working days. The Director or designee may extend this period if necessary by notifying the parties. 

The decision shall not be admissible in any succeeding judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding. 

The parties agree that this dispute process shall precede any action in a judicial or quasi-judicial tribunal. 

Nothing in this Contract shall be construed to limit the parties’ choice of a mutually acceptable alternate dispute 
resolution (ADR) method in addition to the dispute hearing procedure outlined above.   

 
2.18. DUPLICATE PAYMENT 

The Contractor certifies that work to be performed under this contract does not duplicate any work to be charged 
against any other contract, subcontract, or other source.  

 
2.19. ETHICS/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

In performing under this Contract, the Contractor shall assure compliance with the Ethics in Public Service Act 
(Chapter 42.52 RCW) and any other applicable state or federal law related to ethics or conflicts of interest. 

 
2.20. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE 

This Contract shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the state of Washington, and the 
venue of any action brought hereunder shall be in the Superior Court for Thurston County. 

 
2.21. INDEMNIFICATION 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the state of 
Washington, the Board, all other agencies of the state and all officers, agents and employees of the state, from and 
against all claims or damages for injuries to persons or property or death arising out of or incident to the 
Contractor’s performance or failure to perform the Contract.  The Contractor’s obligation to indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless includes any claim by the Contractor’s agents, employees, representatives, or any Subcontractor or 
its agents, employees, or representatives.  

The Contractor’s obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless shall not be eliminated by any actual or alleged 
concurrent negligence of the state or its agents, agencies, employees and officers. 

Subcontracts shall include a comprehensive indemnification clause holding harmless the Contractor, the Board, the 
state of Washington, its officers, employees and authorized agents. 

The Contractor waives its immunity under Title 51 RCW to the extent it is required to indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless the state and its agencies, officers, agents or employees. 

 
2.22. INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE CONTRACTOR 

The parties intend that an independent contractor relationship will be created by this Contract.  The Contractor and 
its employees or agents performing under this Contract are not employees or agents of the State of Washington or 
the Board.  The Contractor will not hold itself out as or claim to be an officer or employee of the Board or of the 
State of Washington by reason hereof, nor will the Contractor make any claim of right, privilege or benefit which 
would accrue to such officer or employee under law.  Conduct and control of the work will be solely with the 
Contractor. 

 
2.23. INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE COVERAGE 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of Title 51 RCW, Industrial Insurance.  If the Contractor 
fails to provide industrial insurance coverage or fails to pay premiums or penalties on behalf of its employees as 
may be required by law, The Board may collect from the Contractor the full amount payable to the Industrial 
Insurance Accident Fund.  The Board may deduct the amount owed by the Contractor to the accident fund from the 
amount payable to the Contractor by the Board under this Contract, and transmit the deducted amount to the 

55



 

«LegalName» Page 26   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

Department of Labor and Industries, (L&I) Division of Insurance Services.  This provision does not waive any of 
L&I’s rights to collect from the Contractor.  

 
2.24. LAWS 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, codes, regulations, and policies of local, state, and 
federal governments, as now or hereafter amended, including, but not limited to: 

United States Laws, Regulations and Circulars (Federal) 

A. Audits 
Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Revised Circular A-133 “Audits of States, Local Governments, and 

Non-Profit Organizations.”   

B. Environmental Protection and Review 
Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972, 16 USC.§§1451-1464HUD’s implementing regulations at 24 CFR parts 

50 or 58, as appropriate. 

Lead Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, 42 USC 4821-4846 also 24 CFR 982.401(j). 

National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, 42 USC4321 et seq. and the Implementing Regulations of 24 CFR 
58 (HUD) and 40 CFR 1500-1508 (Council on Environmental Quality) Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard 
Reduction Act of 1992, 42 USC 4851-4856. 

C. Flood Plains 
Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973, 42 USC 4001-4128. 

D. Labor and Safety Standards 
All Rental Units Assisted with Federal Funds Must Meet the Section 8 Housing Quality Standards (HQS) and 

Local Housing Code Requirements for the duration of the Affordability Period. 

Convict Labor, 18 USC 751, 752, 4081, 4082. 

Davis Bacon Act, 40 USC 276a-276a-5. 

Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, 41 USC 701 et seq. 

Federal Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 USC 201 et seq. 

Work Hours and Safety Act of 1962, 40 USC 327-330 and Department of Labor Regulations, 29 CFR Part 5. 

Title IV of the Lead Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, 42 USC 4831, 24 CFR Part 35. 

E. Laws against Discrimination 
Age Discrimination Act of 1975, Public Law 94-135, 42 USC 6101-07, 45 CFR Part 90 Nondiscrimination in 

Federally Assisted Programs. 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Public Law 101-336.  

Equal Employment Opportunity, Executive Order 11246, as amended by Executive Order 11375 and 
supplemented in U.S. Department of Labor Regulations, 41 CFR Chapter 60. 

Executive Order 11246, as amended by EO 11375, 11478, 12086 and 12102. 

Fair Housing Act (42 USC 3601-19) and implementing regulations at 24 CFR part 100.Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and implementing regulations at 24 CFR part 8. 

Fair Housing, Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, Public Law 90-284, 42 USC 3601-19. 

Handicapped Employees of Government Contractors, Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 503, 29 USC 793. 

Handicapped Recipients of Federal Financial Assistance, Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 504, 29 USC 794. 

Minority Business Enterprises, Executive Order 11625, 15 USC 631. 

Minority Business Enterprise Development, Executive Order 12432, 48 FR 32551. 

Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity, 24 CFR 5.105(a). 

Nondiscrimination in Benefits, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Public Law 88-352, 42 USC 2002d et seq, 
24 CFR Part 1. 

56



 

«LegalName» Page 27   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

Nondiscrimination in Employment, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Public Law 88-352. 

Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Programs. 

Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Construction Contracts, Executive Order 11246, 42 USC 2000e, as 
amended by Executive Order 11375, 41 CFR Chapter 60. 

Section 3, Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, 12 USC 1701u (See 24 CFR 570.607(b)). 

F. Office of Management and Budget Circulars 
Cost Principles for State, Local and Indian Tribal Governments, OMB Circular A-87, 2 CFR, Part 225.  

Cost Principles for Nonprofit Organizations, OMB Circular A-122, (if the Contractor is a nonprofit organization). 

Grants and Cooperative Agreements with State and Local Governments, OMB Circular A-102, (if the Contractor 
is a local government or federally recognized Indian tribal government). 

Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Other Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education, 
Hospitals and Other Nonprofit Organizations, OMB Circular A-110.  

G. Other 
Anti-Kickback Act, 18 USC 874; 40 USC 276b, 276c; 41 USC 51-54. 

H.R. 3547, Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014. 

Governmental Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying; Interim Final Guidance, Federal Register 1, Vol. 54, 
No. 243\Wednesday, December 20, 1989. 

Hatch Political Activity Act, 5 USC 1501-8. 

Lobbying and Disclosure, 42 USC 3537a and 3545 and 31 USC 1352 (Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment). 31 
USC 1352 provides that Contractors who apply or bid for an award of $100,000 or more must file the 
required certification.  Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal 
appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 
member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or other award covered by 31 
USC 1352.  Each tier must disclose any lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with 
obtaining any Federal award.  Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the recipient. 

Non-Supplanting Federal Funds. 

Section 8 Housing Assistance Payments Program. 

H. Privacy 
Privacy Act of 1974, 5 USC 522a. 

I. Relocation 
Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policy Act of 1970 and implementing regulations 

at 49 CFR part 24. 

Section 104(d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 and the implementing regulations at 
24 CRF part 570. 

Washington State Laws and Regulations 
A. Affirmative Action, RCW 41.06.020 . 
B. Boards of Directors or Officers of Non-Profit Corporations – Liability - Limitations, RCW 4.24.264. 
C. Disclosure-Campaign Finances-Lobbying, Chapter 42.17 RCW.  
D. Discrimination-Human Rights Commission, Chapter 49.60 RCW. 
E. Ethics in Public Service, Chapter 42.52 RCW. 
F. Affordable Housing Program, Chapter 43.185 RCW 
G. Interlocal Cooperation Act, Chapter 39.34 RCW. 
H. Noise Control, Chapter 70.107 RCW. 
I. Office of Minority and Women’s Business Enterprises, Chapter 39.19 RCW and Chapter 326-02 WAC. 
J. Open Public Meetings act, Chapter 42.30 RCW.  
K. Prevailing Wages on Public Works, Chapter 39.12 RCW.  

57



 

«LegalName» Page 28   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

L. Public Records Act, Chapter 42.56 RCW. 
M. Relocation Assistance - Real Property Acquisition Policy, Chapter 8.26 RCW. 
N. Shoreline Management Act of 1971, Chapter 90.58 RCW.  
O. State Budgeting, Accounting, and Reporting System, Chapter 43.88 RCW. 
P. State Building Code, Chapter 19.27 RCW and Energy-Related Building Standards, Chapter 19.27A RCW, and 

Provisions in Buildings for Aged and Handicapped Persons, Chapter 70.92 RCW. 
Q. State Coastal Zone Management Program Section 309 Assessment and Strategy (Publication 01-06-003), 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program, Washington State Department of Ecology. 
R. State Environmental Policy, Chapter 43.21C RCW. 
S. State Executive Order 05-05, Archeological and Cultural Resources. 

 
2.25. LICENSING, ACCREDITATION AND REGISTRATION 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal licensing, accreditation and registration 
requirements or standards necessary for the performance of this Contract.  

 
2.26. LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY 

Only the Authorized Representative or Authorized Representative’s designee by writing (designation to be made 
prior to action) shall have the express, implied, or apparent authority to alter, amend, modify, or waive any clause or 
condition of this Contract.  

 
2.27. LOCAL PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION COORDINATION 

Where applicable, Contractor shall participate in local public transportation forums and implement strategies 
designed to ensure access to services. 

 
2.28. NONCOMPLIANCE WITH NONDISCRIMINATION LAWS 

During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor shall comply with all federal, state, and local 
nondiscrimination laws, regulations and policies. In the event of the Contractor’s non-compliance or refusal to 
comply with any nondiscrimination law, regulation or policy, this contract may be rescinded, canceled or terminated 
in whole or in part, and the Contractor may be declared ineligible for further contracts with the Board.  The 
Contractor shall, however, be given a reasonable time in which to cure this noncompliance. Any dispute may be 
resolved in accordance with the “Disputes” procedure set forth herein.  

 
2.29. NOTIFICATION OF TENANT RIGHTS/RESPONSIBILITIES 

The Contractor shall provide all tenants, if any, with information outlining tenant rights and responsibilities under the 
Washington State Landlord Tenant laws, Title 59, Revised Code of Washington. 

The Contractor shall also provide all occupants of property acquired with U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) funds notice regarding their eligibility for relocation assistance.  Such notices will be provided 
as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Act of 1970, as amended and 
referenced in 49 CFR part 24 and Section 104(d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as 
amended and referenced in 24 CFR 570 and noted in HUD’s Handbook No. 1378.  Notifications will include but not 
be limited to: 

• General Information Notice 
• Notice of Displacement/Non-Displacement 

 
2.30. POLITICAL ACTIVITIES 

Political activity of Contractor employees and officers are limited by the State Campaign Finances and Lobbying 
provisions of Chapter 42.17 RCW and the Federal Hatch Act, 5 USC 1501 - 1508.  

No funds may be used for working for or against ballot measures or for or against the candidacy of any person for 
public office. 

 
2.31. PREVAILING WAGE LAWS 

All contractors and subcontractors performing work on a construction project funded through this agreement shall 
comply with prevailing wage laws by paying the higher of state or federal prevailing wages according to: 

58



 

«LegalName» Page 29   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

State Prevailing Wages on Public Works, Chapter 39.12 RCW, as applicable to the Project funded by this 
contract, including but not limited to the filing of the “Statement of Intent to Pay Prevailing Wages” and “Affidavit of 
Wages Paid” as required by RCW 39.12.040.  The Contractor shall maintain records sufficient to evidence 
compliance with Chapter 39.12 RCW, and shall make such records available for the Board’s review upon request; 
or 

The Davis Bacon Act, 40 USC. 276a-276a-5 and related federal acts provide that all laborers and mechanics 
employed by contractors or subcontractors in the performance shall be paid wages at rates not less than those 
prevailing on similar construction in the locality as determined by the Secretary of Labor. 

 
2.32. PROCUREMENT STANDARDS FOR FEDERALLY FUNDED PROGRAMS 

A Contractor which is a local government or Indian Tribal government must establish procurement policies and 
procedures in accordance with OMB Circulars A-102, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants in Aid for 
State and Local Governments, for all purchases funded by this Contract. 

A Contractor which is a nonprofit organization shall establish procurement policies in accordance with OMB Circular 
A-110, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Agreements with Nonprofit Agencies, for all purchases 
funded by this Contract. 

The Contractor’s procurement system should include at least the following: 

1. A code or standard of conduct that shall govern the performance of its officers, employees, or agents engaged 
in the awarding of contracts using federal funds. 

2. Procedures that ensure all procurement transactions shall be conducted in a manner to provide, to the 
maximum extent practical, open and free competition. 

3. Minimum procedural requirements, as follows: 
a. Follow a procedure to assure the avoidance of purchasing unnecessary or duplicative items. 
b. Solicitations shall be based upon a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements of the 

procured items. 
c. Positive efforts shall be made to use small and minority-owned businesses. 
d. The type of procuring instrument (fixed price, cost reimbursement) shall be determined by the Contractor, 

but must be appropriate for the particular procurement and for promoting the best interest of the program 
involved. 

e. Contracts shall be made only with reasonable subcontractors who possess the potential ability to perform 
successfully under the terms and conditions of the proposed procurement. 

f. Some form of price or cost analysis should be performed in connection with every procurement action.   
g. Procurement records and files for purchases shall include all of the following: 

1) Contractor selection or rejection. 
2) The basis for the cost or price. 
3) Justification for lack of competitive bids if offers are not obtained. 

h. A system for contract administration to ensure Contractor conformance with terms, conditions and 
specifications of this Contract, and to ensure adequate and timely follow-up of all purchases. 

4. Contractor and Subcontractor must receive prior approval from the Board for using funds from this Contract to 
enter into a sole source contract or a contract where only one bid or proposal is received when value of this 
contract is expected to exceed $5,000. 
Prior approval requests shall include a copy of proposed contracts and any related procurement documents and 
justification for non-competitive procurement, if applicable. 

 
2.33. PROHIBITION AGAINST PAYMENT OF BONUS OR COMMISSION 

The funds provided under this Contract shall not be used in payment of any bonus or commission for the purpose of 
obtaining approval of the application for such funds or any other approval or concurrence under this Contract 
provided, however, that reasonable fees or bona fide technical consultant, managerial, or other such services, other 
than actual solicitation, are not hereby prohibited if otherwise eligible as project costs.  

 

59



 

«LegalName» Page 30   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

2.34. PUBLICITY 
The Contractor agrees not to publish or use any advertising or publicity materials in which the state of Washington 
or the Board’s name is mentioned, or language used from which the connection with the state of Washington’s or 
the Board’s name may reasonably be inferred or implied, without the prior written consent of the Board .  

 
2.35. RECAPTURE 

In the event that the Contractor fails to perform this contract in accordance with state laws, federal laws, and/or the 
provisions of this contract, The Board reserves the right to recapture funds in an amount to compensate the Board 
for the noncompliance in addition to any other remedies available at law or in equity.  

Repayment by the Contractor of funds under this recapture provision shall occur within the time period specified by 
the Board. In the alternative, The Board may recapture such funds from payments due under this contract. 

 
2.36. RECORDS MAINTENANCE 

The Contractor shall maintain all books, records, documents, data and other evidence relating to this Contract and 
performance of the services described herein, including but not limited to accounting procedures and practices 
which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs of any nature expended in the performance of this 
Contract.  Contractor shall retain such records for a period of six years following the date of final payment.   

If any litigation, claim or audit is started before the expiration of the six (6) year period, the records shall be retained 
until all litigation, claims, or audit findings involving the records have been finally resolved. 

 
2.37. REGISTRATION WITH DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 

If required by law, the Contractor shall complete registration with the Washington State Department of Revenue.  
 
2.38. RIGHT OF INSPECTION 

At no additional cost all records relating to the Contractor’s performance under this Contract shall be subject at all 
reasonable times to inspection, review, and audit by the Board, the Office of the State Auditor, and federal and state 
officials so authorized by law, in order to monitor and evaluate performance, compliance, and quality assurance 
under this Contract. The Contractor shall provide access to its facilities for this purpose.  

 
2.39. SAVINGS 

In the event funding from state, federal, or other sources is withdrawn, reduced, or limited in any way after the 
effective date of this Contract and prior to normal completion, The Board may terminate the Contract under the 
"Termination for Convenience" clause, without the ten business day notice requirement.  In lieu of termination, the 
Contract may be amended to reflect the new funding limitations and conditions.  

 
2.40. SEVERABILITY 

If any provision of this Contract or any provision of any document incorporated by reference shall be held invalid, 
such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this Contract that can be given effect without the invalid 
provision, if such remainder conforms to the requirements of law and the fundamental purpose of this Contract and 
to this end the provisions of this Contact are declared to be severable.  

 
2.41. SUBCONTRACTING 

The Contractor may only subcontract work contemplated under this Contract if it obtains the prior written approval of 
the Board. 

If the Board approves subcontracting, the Contractor shall maintain written procedures related to subcontracting, as 
well as copies of all subcontracts and records related to subcontracts.  For cause, the Board in writing may: (a) 
require the Contractor to amend its subcontracting procedures as they relate to this Contract; (b) prohibit the 
Contractor from subcontracting with a particular person or entity; or (c) require the Contractor to rescind or amend a 
subcontract. 

Every subcontract shall bind the Subcontractor to follow all applicable terms of this Contract. The Contractor is 
responsible to the Board if the Subcontractor fails to comply with any applicable term or condition of this Contract. 
The Contractor shall appropriately monitor the activities of the Subcontractor to assure fiscal conditions of this 
Contract. In no event shall the existence of a subcontract operate to release or reduce the liability of the Contractor 
to the Board for any breach in the performance of the Contractor’s duties. 

60



 

«LegalName» Page 31   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

Every subcontract shall include a term that the Board and the State of Washington are not liable for claims or 
damages arising from a Subcontractor’s performance of the subcontract. 

 
2.42. SURVIVAL 

The terms, conditions, and warranties contained in this Contract that by their sense and context are intended to 
survive the completion of the performance, cancellation or termination of this Contract shall so survive.  

 
2.43. TAXES 

All payments accrued on account of payroll taxes, unemployment contributions, the Contractor’s income or gross 
receipts, any other taxes, insurance or expenses for the Contractor or its staff shall be the sole responsibility of the 
Contractor.  

 
2.44. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE/SUSPENSION 

In event the Board determines that the Contractor failed to comply with any term or condition of this Contract, the 
Board may terminate the Contract in whole or in part upon written notice to the Contractor.  Such termination shall 
be deemed “for cause.” Termination shall take effect on the date specified in the notice.  

In the alternative, the Board upon written notice may allow the Contractor a specific period of time in which to 
correct the non-compliance.  During the corrective-action time period, the Board may suspend further payment to 
the Contractor in whole or in part, or may restrict the Contractor’s right to perform duties under this Contract.  
Failure by the Contractor to take timely corrective action shall allow the Board to terminate the Contract upon written 
notice to the Contractor. 

“Termination for Cause” shall be deemed a “Termination for Convenience” when the Board determines that the 
Contractor did not fail to comply with the terms of the Contract or when the Board determines the failure was not 
caused by the Contractor’s actions or negligence. 

If the Contract is terminated for cause, the Contractor shall be liable for damages as authorized by law, including, 
but not limited to, any cost difference between the original contract and the replacement contract, as well as all 
costs associated with entering into the replacement contract (i.e., competitive bidding, mailing, advertising, and staff 
time). 

 
2.45. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 

Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, the Board may, by ten (10) business days written notice, beginning 
on the second day after the mailing, terminate this Contract, in whole or in part.  If this Contract is so terminated, the 
Board shall be liable only for payment required under the terms of this Contract for services rendered or goods 
delivered prior to the effective date of termination.  

 
2.46. TERMINATION PROCEDURES 

After receipt of a notice of termination, except as otherwise directed by the Board, the Contractor shall:  

A. Stop work under the Contract on the date, and to the extent specified, in the notice; 
B. Place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, services, or facilities related to the Contract; 
C. Assign to the Board all of the rights, title, and interest of the Contractor under the orders and subcontracts so 

terminated, in which case the Board has the right, at its discretion, to settle or pay any or all claims arising out of 
the termination of such orders and subcontracts.  Any attempt by the Contractor to settle such claims must have 
the prior written approval of the Board; and 

D. Preserve and transfer any materials, contract deliverables and/or the Board property in the Contractor’s 
possession as directed by the Board. 

Upon termination of the Contract, the Board shall pay the Contractor for any service provided by the Contractor 
under the Contract prior to the date of termination.  The Board may withhold any amount due as the Board 
reasonably determines is necessary to protect the Board against potential loss or liability resulting from the 
termination.  The Board shall pay any withheld amount to the Contractor if the Board later determines that loss or 
liability will not occur. 

The rights and remedies of the Board under this section are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided 
under this Contract or otherwise provided under law. 

 

61



 

«LegalName» Page 32   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

2.47. WAIVER 
Waiver of any default or breach shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default or breach.  Any 
waiver shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this Contract unless stated to be such in writing 
and signed by Authorized Representative of the Board.  

 
2.48. WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS 

The Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 USC 327-333)-Where applicable, all contracts awarded by 
recipients in excess of $100,000 for construction and other purposes that involve the employment of mechanics or 
laborers must include a provision for compliance with Section 102 and 107 of the Contract Work Hours Safety 
Standards Act (40 USC 327-333), as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR part 5).  Under 
Section 102 of the Act, each subcontractor is required to compute the wages of every mechanic and laborer on the 
basis of a standard work week of 40 hours.  Work in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided that 
the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than 1 ½ times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess 
of 40 hours in the work week.  Section 107 of the Act is applicable to construction work and provides that no laborer 
or mechanic is required to work in surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous, or 
dangerous.  These requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily 
available on the open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of intelligence. 
 
 

62



 

«LegalName» Page 33 Attachment I: Attorney’s Certification  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT I:  ATTORNEY’S CERTIFICATION 

DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND  
(MUNICIPAL) 

 
«LegalName» 

«LoanNumber» 
 
 
 
 
I, ________________________________________________, hereby certify: 
 
I am an attorney at law admitted to practice in the State of Washington and the duly appointed attorney of the 
Contractor identified on the Declarations Page of the Contract identified above; and 
 
I have also examined any and all documents and records, which are pertinent to the Contract, including the 
application requesting this financial assistance. 
 
Based on the foregoing, it is my opinion that: 
 
1. The Contractor is a public body, properly constituted and operating under the laws of the State of 

Washington, empowered to receive and expend federal, state and local funds, to contract with the State of 
Washington, and to receive and expend the funds involved to accomplish the objectives set forth in their 
application. 

 
2. The Contractor is empowered to accept the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund financial assistance and 

to provide for repayment of the loan as set forth in the loan agreement. 
 
3. There is currently no litigation in existence seeking to enjoin the commencement or completion of the 

above-described public facilities project or to enjoin the Contractor from repaying the Drinking Water State 
Revolving Fund loan extended by the Public Works Board with respect to such project.  The Contractor is 
not a party to litigation, which will materially affect its ability to repay such loan on the terms contained in 
the loan agreement. 

 
4. Assumption of this obligation would not exceed statutory and administrative rule debt limitations applicable 

to the Contractor. 
 
 
__________________________________  _____________________________ 
Signature of Attorney     Date 
 
__________________________________ 
Name 
 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
Address 

63



 

«LegalName» Page 34 Attachment I: Attorney’s Certification  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 

64



 

«LegalName» Page 35 Attachment II: Federal and State Requirements  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT II: FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 

1) Environmental Authorities 
a) Archeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974, Public Law 86-523 as amended 
b) Clean Air Act, Public Law 84-159 as amended 
c) Coastal Zone Management Act, Public Law 92-583 as amended 
d) Endangered Species Act, Public Law 93-205 as amended 
e) Environmental Justice, Executive Order 12898 
f) Floodplain Management, Executive Order 11988 as amended by Executive Order 12148 
g) Protection of Wetlands, Executive Order 11990 
h) Farmland Protection Policy Act, Public Law 97-98 
i) Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act, Public Law 85-624 as amended 
j) National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, Public Law 89-665 as amended 
k) Safe Drinking Water Act, Public Law 93-523 as amended 
l) Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, Public Law 90-542 as amended 

 
2) Economic and Miscellaneous Authorities 

a) Demonstration Cities and Metropolitan Development Act of 1996, Public Law 89-754 as amended, Executive 
Order 12372 

b) Procurement Prohibitions under Section 306 of the Clean air Act and Section 508 of the Clean Water Act, 
including Executive Order 11738, Administration of the Clean Air Act and the Federal Water Pollution Control Ac 
with Respect to Federal Contracts, Grants, or Loans 

c) Uniform Relocation and Real Property Policies Act, Public Law 91-646 as amended 
d) Debarment and Suspension, Executive Order 12549 
e) H.R. 3547, Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014. 

 
3) Social Policy Authorities 

a) Age Discrimination Act of 1975, Public Law 94-135 
b) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Public Law 88-352 
c) Section 13 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, Public Law 92-500 (the Clean Water 

Act) 
d) Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Public Law 93-112 (including Executive Orders 11914 and 11250) 
e) Equal Employment Opportunity, Executive Order 11246 
f) Disadvantaged Business Enterprise, Public Law 101-549 (the Clean Air Act), and Public Law 102-389 (the Clean 

Water Act) 
g) Section 129 of the Small Business Administration Reauthorization and Amendment Act of 1988, Public Law 100-

590 
 
4) State Laws 

a) Chapter 36.70A RCW, Growth Management Act 
b) Chapter 39.80 RCW, Contracts for Architectural and Engineering Services 
c) Chapter 39.12 RCW, Washington State Public Works Act 
d) Chapter 43.20 RCW, State Board of Health 
e) Chapter 43.70 RCW, Department of Health 
f) Chapter 43.155 RCW, Public Works Project 
g) Chapter 70.116 RCW, Public Water Systems Coordination Act of 1977 
h) Chapter 70.119 RCW, Public Water Supply Systems Certification and Regulation of Operations 
i) Chapter 70.119A RCW, Public Water Systems, Penalties & Compliances 
j) Chapter 246-290 WAC, Group A Public Water Systems 
k) Chapter 246-291 WAC, Group B Public Water Systems 
l) Chapter 246-292 WAC, Waterworks Operator Certification Regulations 
m) Chapter 246-293 WAC, Water Systems Coordination Act 
n) Chapter 246-294 WAC, Drinking Water Operating Permits 
o) Chapter 246-295 WAC, Satellite System Management Agencies 
p) Chapter 246-296 WAC Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Program 
q) Chapter 173-160 WAC, Minimum Standards for Construction & Maintenance of Wells 
r) Title 173 WAC, Department of Ecology Rules 
s) Title 40 Part 141 Code of Federal Regulations, Federal National Primary Drinking Water Regulations (Section 

Adopted by Reference) 

65



 

«LegalName» Page 36 Attachment II: Federal and State Requirements  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 

66



 

«LegalName» Page 37 Attachment III: DBE Requirements  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT III: DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE 
REQUIREMENTS 

GENERAL COMPLIANCE, 40 CFR, Part 33 
The Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of Environmental Protection Agency's Program for Utilization of 
Small, Minority and Women's Business Enterprises (MBE/WBE) in procurement under this Contract, contained in 40 CFR, 
Part 33. 
 
FAIR SHARE OBJECTIVES, 40 CFR, Part 33, Subpart D 
The following are exemptions from the fair share objective Requirements: 

• Grant and loan recipients receiving a total of $250K or less in EPA financial assistance in a given fiscal year. 
• Tribal recipients of Performance Partnership Eligible grants under 40 CFR Part 35, Subpart B. 

o There is a 3-year phase in period for the requirement to negotiate fair share goals for Tribal and Insular 
Area recipients. 

• Recipients of Technical Assistance Grants. 

The Fair Share Objectives or goals for the utilization of disadvantaged businesses negotiated with EPA by the WA Office 
of Minority Women Business are stated below. 

Construction 10% MBE 6% WBE 
Supplies 8% MBE 4% WBE 
Equipment 8% MBE 4% WBE 
Purchased Services 10% MBE 4% WBE 

By signing this Contract, the Contractor is accepting the fair share objectives/goals stated above and attests to the fact 
that it is purchasing the same or similar construction, supplies, services and equipment, in the same or similar relevant 
geographic buying market as WA Office of Minority Women Business goal is being adopted. 
 
SIX GOOD FAITH EFFORTS, 40 CFR, Part 33, Subpart C 
Pursuant to 40 CFR, Section 33.301, the Contractor agrees to make the following good faith efforts whenever procuring 
construction, equipment, services and supplies under an EPA financial assistance agreement, and to ensure that sub-
recipients, loan recipients, and prime contractors also comply. 

Records documenting compliance with the six good faith efforts shall be retained. The six good faith efforts shall include: 

A. Ensure Disadvantaged Business Enterprises are made aware of contracting opportunities to the fullest extent 
practicable through outreach and recruitment activities. For Indian Tribal, State and Local Government recipients, 
this will include placing the Disadvantaged Business Enterprises on solicitation lists and soliciting them whenever 
they are potential sources. 

B. Make information on forthcoming opportunities available to Disadvantaged Business Enterprises and arrange time 
frames for contracts and establish delivery schedules, where the requirements permit, in a way that encourages 
and facilitates participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in the competitive process. This includes, 
whenever possible, posting solicitations for bids or proposals for a minimum of thirty (30) calendar days before the 
bid or proposal closing date. 

C. Consider in the contracting process whether firms competing for large contracts could subcontract with 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprises. For Indian Tribal, State and Local Government recipients, this will include 
dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or quantities to permit maximum 
participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in the competitive process.  

D. Encourage contracting with a consortium of Disadvantaged Business Enterprises when a contract is too large for 
one of these firms to handle individually. 

E. Use the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration and the Minority Business Development 
Agency of the Department of Commerce. 

F. If the prime contractor awards subcontracts, also require the prime contractor to take the five good faith efforts in 
paragraphs A through E above.  

 
 
 

67



 

«LegalName» Page 38 Attachment III: DBE Requirements  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

MBE/WBE REPORTING, 40 CFR, Part 33, Sections 33.502 and 33.503 
Contractor is required to submit MBE/WBE participation reports to the Board and/or the Department of Health, on a 
quarterly basis, beginning with the Federal fiscal year reporting period the Contractor receives the award and continuing 
until the project is completed. 
 
CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION PROVISIONS, 40 CFR, Section 33.302 
The Contractor agrees to comply with the contract administration provisions of 40 CFR, Section 33.302. 

The Contractor agrees to require all general contractors to provide forms: EPA Form 6100-2 DBE Subcontractor 
Participation Form and EPA Form 6100-3 DBE Subcontractor Performance Form to all its Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise subcontractors, engineers, vendors, and any other entity for work or services listed in the declared SCOPE OF 
WORK. These two (2) forms may be obtained from the EPA Office of Small Business Program’s website on the internet at 
http://www.epa.gov/osbp/grants.htm.  

The Contractor agrees to require all general contractors to complete and submit to the Contractor and Environmental 
Protection Agency EPA Form 6100-4 DBE Subcontractor Utilization Form beginning with the Federal fiscal year reporting 
period the Contractor receives the award and continuing until the project is completed. Only procurements with certified 
MBE/WBEs are counted toward a Contractor’s MBE/WBE accomplishments.  
 

BIDDERS LIST, 40 CFR, Section 33.501(b) and (c) 
The Contractor is also required to create and maintain a bidders list if the Contractor of the loan is subject to, or chooses 
to follow, competitive bidding requirements. Please see 40 CFR, Section 33.501 (b) and (c) for specific requirements and 
exemptions. 

Section 33.501(b) of the rule is as follows: 

A recipient of a Continuing Environmental Program Grant or other annual grant must create and maintain a bidders list. In 
addition, a recipient of an EPA financial assistance agreement to capitalize a revolving loan fund also must require entities 
receiving identified loans to create and maintain a bidders list if the recipient of the loan is subject to, or chooses to follow, 
competitive bidding requirements. The purpose of a bidders list is to provide the recipient and entities receiving identified 
loans who conduct competitive bidding with as accurate a database as possible about the universe of MBE/WBE and non-
MBE/WBE prime and subcontractors. The list must include all firms that bid or quote on prime contracts or bid or quote on 
subcontracts under EPA assisted projects, including both MBE/WBEs. 

The bidders list must be kept until the grant project period has expired and the recipient is no longer receiving EPA 
funding under the grant. For entities receiving identified loans, the bidders list must be kept until the project period for the 
identified loan has ended. The following information must be obtained from all prime and subcontractors: 

(1) Entity’s name with point of contact; 
(2) Entity’s mailing address, telephone number, and e-mail address; 
(3) The procurement on which the entity bid or quoted, and when; and 
(4) Entity’s status as a MBE/WBE1 or non-MBE/WBE. 

The exemption found at § 33.501(c) is as follows: 

A recipient of an EPA financial assistance agreement in the amount of $250,000 or less for any single assistance 
agreement, or of more than one financial assistance agreement with a combined total of $250,000 or less in any one fiscal 
year, is exempt from the paragraph (b) of this section requirement to create and maintain a bidders list. Also, a recipient 
under the CWSRF, DWSRF, or BCRLF Program is not required to apply the paragraph (b) of this section bidders list 
requirement of this subpart to an entity receiving an identified loan in an amount of $250,000 or less, or to an entity 
receiving more than one identified loan with a combined total of $250,000 or less in any one fiscal year. This exemption is 
limited to the paragraph (b) of this section bidders list requirements of this subpart. 

                                                      
1 Qualified Women and Minority business enterprises may be found on the Internet at www.omwbe.wa.gov or by contacting the Washington State Office 
of Minority and Women’s Enterprises at 360-704-1181. 

68

http://www.epa.gov/osbp/grants.htm
http://www.omwbe.wa.gov/


 

«LegalName» Page 39 Attachment IV: Certification Regarding Debarment  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

EPA Project Control Number  

 

 ATTACHMENT IV: CERTIFICATION REGARDING  
DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS 

 
 
 

United States Environmental Protection Agency 
Washington, DC 20460  

 
The prospective participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and the principals:  

(a)  Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;  

(b)  Have not within a three year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered 
against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or 
performing a public (Federal, State, or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction: violation of Federal or 
State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, 
making false statements, or receiving stolen property;  

(c)  Are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity (Federal, State, or local) 
with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (1)(b) of this certification; and  

(d)  Have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public transactions (Federal, 
State, or local) terminated for cause or default.  

I understand that a false statement on this certification may be ground for rejection of this proposal or termination of the 
award. In addition, under 18 USC Sec. 1001, a false statement may result in a fine of up to $10,000 or imprisonment for 
up to 5 years, or both.  

Typed Name & Title of Authorized Representative  

__________________________________________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Representative     Date  
 
 

I am unable to certify to the above statements.  My explanation is attached.  
 

 
EPA Form 5700-49 (11-88) 

69



 

«LegalName» Page 40 Attachment IV: Certification Regarding Debarment  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 

70



 

«LegalName» Page 41 Attachment V: DWSRF Eligible Project Costs  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT V: DWSRF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS 

Must be directly attributable to the project. 
1. The costs for complying with the Uniform Relocation 

Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies 
Act of 1970. 

2. DWSRF loan fees. 
3. The purchase of a portion of another system’s 

capacity, if it is the most cost effective solution 
(limited to publicly owned (municipal) systems). 

4. Construction of reservoirs (clear wells) that are part 
of the treatment process and are collocated with the 
treatment facility. 

5. Construction of distribution reservoirs (finished 
water). 

6. Cost associated with restructuring or consolidation of 
existing water systems by publicly owned water 
systems. 

7. Main extensions to connect to safe and reliable 
sources of drinking water. 

8. Cost associated with collecting and preparing 
environmental assessment documents to obtain local 
permits. 

9. Direct labor including related employee benefits: 
a. Salaries and wages (at actual or average rates) 

covering productive labor hours of employees of 
the borrower (excluding the administrative 
organization of the operating unit involved) for 
periods of time actively or incidentally engaged 
in pre-design engineering, design engineering, 
construction engineering, acquisition of rights of 
way, and the cleaning, sterilization or 
bacteriological testing of water system 
components prior to public use. The costs of 
services rendered by employees generally 
classified as administration/project management 
of the loan are considered a direct cost only 
when such employees are assigned the types of 
services described above and shall be limited to 
3% or less of the project loan amount. 

b. Employee benefits relating to labor are 
considered a direct cost of construction projects. 
The following items may be included as 
employee benefits: 
• F.I.C.A. (Social Security) –employer’s share. 
• Retirement benefits. 
• Hospital, health, dental, and other welfare 

insurance. 
• Life insurance. 
• Industrial and medical insurance. 
• Vacation. 
• Holiday. 
• Sick leave. 
• Military leave and jury duty. 

Employee benefits must be calculated as a 
percentage of direct labor dollars. The 
computation of predetermined percentage rates 
to be applied to current labor costs must be 
based on the average of total employee benefits 
and total labor costs for the prior fiscal year and 
adjusted by known current year variations. 

c. Other than work identified in Number 9.a, no 
costs associated with labor performed by the 
borrower’s employees, including force account 
work, are eligible for financing assistance. 

10. Contract engineering, planning, design, legal, and 
financial planning services. The Board reserves the 
right to declare ineligible legal costs that are 
unreasonable and disproportionate to the project. 

11. Contract construction work. 
12. Direct vehicle and equipment charges at the actual 

rental cost paid for the equipment or, in the case of 
city or county-owned equipment, at the rental rates 
established by the local government’s “equipment 
rental and revolving fund” following the methods 
prescribed by the division of municipal corporations. 
However, such costs must be charged on a uniform 
basis to equipment used for all projects regardless of 
the source of funding. Cities with a population of 
eight thousand or less not using this type of fund are 
allowed the same rates as used by the State 
Department of Transportation. 

13. Direct materials and supplies. 
14. Other direct costs incurred for materials or services 

acquired for a specific project are eligible costs and 
may include, but are not limited to such items as: 
a. Telephone charges. 
b. Reproduction and photogrammetry costs. 
c. Video and photography for project 

documentation. 
d. Computer usage. 
e. Printing and advertising. 

15. Other project related costs include: 
• Competitive Bidding. 
• Audit. 
• Insurance. 
• Prevailing wages. 
• Attorney fees. 
• Environmental Review. 
• Archaeological Survey. 

Water system plan costs are not eligible for 
reimbursement. Small water system management 
program and plan amendments costs are eligible for 
reimbursement. 
Projects may be designed to accommodate reasonable 
growth. This is generally the 20-year projection included 
in the system’s water system plan or small water system 
management program. 

71



 

«LegalName» Page 42 Attachment V: DWSRF Eligible Project Costs  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 

72



 

«LegalName» Page 43 Attachment VI: Labor Standards Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT VI: LABOR STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR 
SUBRECIPIENTS THAT ARE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES 

Wage Rate Requirements Under The Consolidated and Further Continuing Appropriations Act, 2013 (P.L. 113-6) 
Preamble 
With respect to the Clean Water and Safe Drinking Water State Revolving Funds, EPA provides capitalization grants to 
each State which in turn provides subgrants or loans to eligible entities within the State.  Typically, the subrecipients are 
municipal or other local governmental entities that manage the funds.  For these types of recipients, the provisions set 
forth under Roman Numeral I, below, shall apply.  Although EPA and the State remain responsible for ensuring 
subrecipients’ compliance with the wage rate requirements set forth herein, those subrecipients shall have the primary 
responsibility to maintain payroll records as described in Section 3(ii)(A), below and for compliance as described in 
Section I-5.  
Occasionally, the subrecipient may be a private for profit or not for profit entity.  For these types of recipients, the 
provisions set forth in Roman Numeral II, below, shall apply.  Although EPA and the State remain responsible for ensuring 
subrecipients’ compliance with the wage rate requirements set forth herein, those subrecipients shall have the primary 
responsibility to maintain payroll records as described in Section II-3(ii)(A), below and for compliance as described in 
Section II-5.  
I.  Requirements Under The Consolidated and Further Continuing Appropriations Act, 2013 (P.L. 113-6) 
For Subrecipients That Are Governmental Entities: 
The following terms and conditions specify how recipients will assist EPA in meeting its Davis-Bacon (DB) responsibilities 
when DB applies to EPA awards of financial assistance under the FY 2013 Continuing Resolution with respect to State 
recipients and subrecipients that are governmental entities.  If a subrecipient has questions regarding when DB applies, 
obtaining the correct DB wage determinations, DB provisions, or compliance monitoring, it may contact Department of 
Commerce.  If a State recipient needs guidance, they may obtain additional guidance from DOL’s web site at 
http://www.dol.gov/whd/. 
1.  Applicability of the Davis- Bacon (DB) prevailing wage requirements.  
Under the FY 2013 Continuing Resolution, DB prevailing wage requirements apply to the construction, alteration, and 
repair of treatment works carried out in whole or in part with assistance made available by a State water pollution control 
revolving fund and to any construction project carried out in whole or in part by assistance made available by a drinking 
water treatment revolving loan fund.   If a subrecipient encounters a unique situation at a site that presents uncertainties 
regarding DB applicability, the subrecipient must discuss the situation with the recipient State before authorizing work on 
that site.   
2.  Obtaining Wage Determinations.  
(a)  Subrecipients shall obtain the wage determination for the locality in which a covered activity subject to DB will take 
place prior to issuing requests for bids, proposals, quotes or other methods for soliciting contracts (solicitation) for 
activities subject to DB.  These wage determinations shall be incorporated into solicitations and any subsequent contracts.  
Prime contracts must contain a provision requiring that subcontractors follow the wage determination incorporated into the 
prime contract.   

(i) While the solicitation remains open, the subrecipient shall monitor www.wdol.gov weekly to ensure that the 
wage determination contained in the solicitation remains current.  The subrecipients shall amend the 
solicitation if DOL issues a modification more than 10 days prior to the closing date (i.e. bid opening) for the 
solicitation.  If DOL modifies or supersedes the applicable wage determination less than 10 days prior to the 
closing date, the subrecipients may request a finding from the State recipient that there is not a reasonable 
time to notify interested contractors of the modification of the wage determination.  The State recipient will 
provide a report of its findings to the subrecipient.  

(ii) If the subrecipient does not award the contract within 90 days of the closure of the solicitation, any 
modifications or supersedes DOL makes to the wage determination contained in the solicitation shall be 
effective unless the State recipient, at the request of the subrecipient, obtains an extension of the 90 day 
period from DOL pursuant to 29 CFR 1.6(c)(3)(iv).  The subrecipient shall monitor www.wdol.gov on a weekly 
basis if it does not award the contract within 90 days of closure of the solicitation to ensure that wage 
determinations contained in the solicitation remain current.   

(b)  If the subrecipient carries out activity subject to DB by issuing a task order, work assignment or similar instrument to 
an existing contractor (ordering instrument) rather than by publishing a solicitation, the subrecipient shall insert the 
appropriate DOL wage determination from www.wdol.gov into the ordering instrument.   

73

http://www.dol.gov/whd/
http://www.wdol.gov/
http://www.wdol.gov/
http://www.wdol.gov/


 

«LegalName» Page 44 Attachment VI: Labor Standards Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

(c)  Subrecipients shall review all subcontracts subject to DB entered into by prime contractors to verify that the prime 
contractor has required its subcontractors to include the applicable wage determinations.  
(d)  As provided in 29 CFR 1.6(f), DOL may issue a revised wage determination applicable to a subrecipient’s contract 
after the award of a contract or the issuance of an ordering instrument if DOL determines that the subrecipient has failed 
to incorporate a wage determination or has used a wage determination that clearly does not apply to the contract or 
ordering instrument.  If this occurs, the subrecipient shall either terminate the contract or ordering instrument and issue a 
revised solicitation or ordering instrument or incorporate DOL’s wage determination retroactive to the beginning of the 
contract or ordering instrument by change order.  The subrecipient’s contractor must be compensated for any increases in 
wages resulting from the use of DOL’s revised wage determination.     
3.  Contract and Subcontract provisions. 
(a)  The Recipient shall insure that the subrecipient(s) shall insert in full in any contract in excess of $2,000 which is 
entered into for the actual construction, alteration and/or repair, including painting and decorating, of a treatment work 
under the CWSRF or a construction project under the DWSRF financed in whole or in part from Federal funds or in 
accordance with guarantees of a Federal agency or financed from funds obtained by pledge of any contract of a Federal 
agency to make a loan, grant or annual contribution (except where a different meaning is expressly indicated), and which 
is subject to the labor standards provisions of any of the acts listed in § 5.1 or the FY 2013 Continuing Resolution, the 
following clauses: 
(1)  Minimum wages.  
(i)  All laborers and mechanics employed or working upon the site of the work will be paid unconditionally and not less 
often than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on any account (except such payroll deductions as 
are permitted by regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act (29 CFR part 3)), the full amount of 
wages and bona fide fringe benefits (or cash equivalents thereof) due at time of payment computed at rates not less than 
those contained in the wage determination of the Secretary of Labor which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, 
regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged to exist between the contractor and such laborers and 
mechanics.  
Contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits under section 1(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon 
Act on behalf of laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to such laborers or mechanics, subject to the 
provisions of paragraph (a)(1)(iv) of this section; also, regular contributions made or costs incurred for more than a weekly 
period (but not less often than quarterly) under plans, funds, or programs which cover the particular weekly period, are 
deemed to be constructively made or incurred during such weekly period.  Such laborers and mechanics shall be paid the 
appropriate wage rate and fringe benefits on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed, 
without regard to skill, except as provided in § 5.5(a)(4).  Laborers or mechanics performing work in more than one 
classification may be compensated at the rate specified for each classification for the time actually worked therein: 
Provided, that the employer's payroll records accurately set forth the time spent in each classification in which work is 
performed.  The wage determination (including any additional classification and wage rates conformed under paragraph 
(a)(1)(ii) of this section) and the Davis-Bacon poster (WH-1321) shall be posted at all times by the contractor and its 
subcontractors at the site of the work in a prominent and accessible place where it can be easily seen by the workers.  
Subrecipients may obtain wage determinations from the U.S. Department of Labor’s web site, www.dol.gov.   
(ii)(A)  The subrecipient(s), on behalf of EPA, shall require that any class of laborers or mechanics, including helpers, 
which is not listed in the wage determination and which is to be employed under the contract shall be classified in 
conformance with the wage determination.  The State award official shall approve a request for an additional classification 
and wage rate and fringe benefits therefore only when the following criteria have been met:  
(1)  The work to be performed by the classification requested is not performed by a classification in the wage 
determination; and  
(2)  The classification is utilized in the area by the construction industry; and  
(3)  The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe benefits, bears a reasonable relationship to the wage rates 
contained in the wage determination.  
(B) If the contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be employed in the classification (if known), or their 
representatives, and the subrecipient(s) agree on the classification and wage rate (including the amount designated for 
fringe benefits where appropriate), documentation of the action taken and the request, including the local wage 
determination shall be sent by the subrecipient (s) to the State award official.  The State award official will transmit the 
request, to the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division, Employment Standards Administration, U.S. Department of 
Labor, Washington, DC 20210 and to the EPA DB Regional Coordinator concurrently.  The Administrator, or an 
authorized representative, will approve, modify, or disapprove every additional classification request within 30 days of 
receipt and so advise the State award official or will notify the State award official within the 30-day period that additional 
time is necessary.  

74



 

«LegalName» Page 45 Attachment VI: Labor Standards Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

(C)  In the event the contractor, the laborers or mechanics to be employed in the classification or their representatives, 
and the subrecipient(s) do not agree on the proposed classification and wage rate (including the amount designated for 
fringe benefits, where appropriate), the award official shall refer the request and the local wage determination, including 
the views of all interested parties and the recommendation of the State award official, to the Administrator for 
determination.  The request shall be sent to the EPA DB Regional Coordinator concurrently.  The Administrator, or an 
authorized representative, will issue a determination within 30 days of receipt of the request and so advise the contracting 
officer or will notify the contracting officer within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.  
(D)  The wage rate (including fringe benefits where appropriate) determined pursuant to paragraphs (a)(1)(ii)(B) or (C) of 
this section, shall be paid to all workers performing work in the classification under this contract from the first day on which 
work is performed in the classification.  
(iii)  Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the contract for a class of laborers or mechanics includes a fringe 
benefit which is not expressed as an hourly rate, the contractor shall either pay the benefit as stated in the wage 
determination or shall pay another bona fide fringe benefit or an hourly cash equivalent thereof.  
(iv)  If the contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other third person, the contractor may consider as part of the 
wages of any laborer or mechanic the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in providing bona fide fringe benefits 
under a plan or program, provided, that the Secretary of Labor has found, upon the written request of the contractor, that 
the applicable standards of the Davis-Bacon Act have been met.  The Secretary of Labor may require the contractor to set 
aside in a separate account assets for the meeting of obligations under the plan or program.  
(2)  Withholding.  The subrecipient(s), shall upon written request of the EPA Award Official or an authorized representative 
of the Department of Labor, withhold or cause to be withheld from the contractor under this contract or any other Federal 
contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to Davis-Bacon prevailing wage 
requirements, which is held by the same prime contractor, so much of the accrued payments or advances as may be 
considered necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, including apprentices, trainees, and helpers, employed by the 
contractor or any subcontractor the full amount of wages required by the contract.  In the event of failure to pay any 
laborer or mechanic, including any apprentice, trainee, or helper, employed or working on the site of the work, all or part of 
the wages required by the contract, the (Agency) may, after written notice to the contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, 
take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds 
until such violations have ceased.  
(3) Payrolls and basic records.  
(i) Payrolls and basic records relating thereto shall be maintained by the contractor during the course of the work and 
preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all laborers and mechanics working at the site of the work.  Such 
records shall contain the name, address, and social security number of each such worker, his or her correct classification, 
hourly rates of wages paid (including rates of contributions or costs anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits or cash 
equivalents thereof of the types described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act), daily and weekly number of hours 
worked, deductions made and actual wages paid.  Whenever the Secretary of Labor has found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) 
that the wages of any laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in providing benefits 
under a plan or program described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the contractor shall maintain records 
which show that the commitment to provide such benefits is enforceable, that the plan or program is financially 
responsible, and that the plan or program has been communicated in writing to the laborers or mechanics affected, and 
records which show the costs anticipated or the actual cost incurred in providing such benefits.  Contractors employing 
apprentices or trainees under approved programs shall maintain written evidence of the registration of apprenticeship 
programs and certification of trainee programs, the registration of the apprentices and trainees, and the ratios and wage 
rates prescribed in the applicable programs.  
(ii)(A)  The contractor shall submit weekly, for each week in which any contract work is performed, a copy of all payrolls to 
the subrecipient, that is, the entity that receives the sub-grant or loan from the State capitalization grant recipient.  Such 
documentation shall be available on request of the State recipient or EPA.  As to each payroll copy received, the 
subrecipient shall provide written confirmation in a form satisfactory to the State indicating whether or not the project is in 
compliance with the requirements of 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1) based on the most recent payroll copies for the specified week.  
The payrolls shall set out accurately and completely all of the information required to be maintained under 29 CFR 
5.5(a)(3)(i), except that full social security numbers and home addresses shall not be included on the weekly payrolls.  
Instead the payrolls shall only need to include an individually identifying number for each employee (e.g., the last four 
digits of the employee's social security number).  The required weekly payroll information may be submitted in any form 
desired. Optional Form WH-347 is available for this purpose from the Wage and Hour Division Web site at 
http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/wh347instr.htm or its successor site.  The prime contractor is responsible for the 
submission of copies of payrolls by all subcontractors. Contractors and subcontractors shall maintain the full social 
security number and current address of each covered worker, and shall provide them upon request to the subrecipient(s) 
for transmission to the State or EPA if requested by EPA, the State, the contractor, or the Wage and Hour Division of the 
Department of Labor for purposes of an investigation or audit of compliance with prevailing wage requirements. It is not a 

75

http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/wh347instr.htm


 

«LegalName» Page 46 Attachment VI: Labor Standards Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

violation of this section for a prime contractor to require a subcontractor to provide addresses and social security numbers 
to the prime contractor for its own records, without weekly submission to the subrecipient(s).  
(B)  Each payroll submitted shall be accompanied by a “Statement of Compliance,” signed by the contractor or 
subcontractor or his or her agent who pays or supervises the payment of the persons employed under the contract and 
shall certify the following:  
(1)  That the payroll for the payroll period contains the information required to be provided under § 5.5 (a)(3)(ii) of 
Regulations, 29 CFR part 5, the appropriate information is being maintained under § 5.5 (a)(3)(i) of Regulations, 29 CFR 
part 5, and that such information is correct and complete;  
(2)  That each laborer or mechanic (including each helper, apprentice, and trainee) employed on the contract during the 
payroll period has been paid the full weekly wages earned, without rebate, either directly or indirectly, and that no 
deductions have been made either directly or indirectly from the full wages earned, other than permissible deductions as 
set forth in Regulations, 29 CFR part 3;  
(3)  That each laborer or mechanic has been paid not less than the applicable wage rates and fringe benefits or cash 
equivalents for the classification of work performed, as specified in the applicable wage determination incorporated into 
the contract.  
(C)  The weekly submission of a properly executed certification set forth on the reverse side of Optional Form WH-347 
shall satisfy the requirement for submission of the “Statement of Compliance” required by paragraph (a)(3)(ii)(B) of this 
section.  
(D)  The falsification of any of the above certifications may subject the contractor or subcontractor to civil or criminal 
prosecution under section 1001 of title 18 and section 231 of title 31 of the United States Code.  
(iii)  The contractor or subcontractor shall make the records required under paragraph (a)(3)(i) of this section available for 
inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the State, EPA or the Department of Labor, and shall 
permit such representatives to interview employees during working hours on the job.  If the contractor or subcontractor 
fails to submit the required records or to make them available, the Federal agency or State may, after written notice to the 
contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further 
payment, advance, or guarantee of funds.  Furthermore, failure to submit the required records upon request or to make 
such records available may be grounds for debarment action pursuant to 29 CFR 5.12.  
(4)  Apprentices and trainees--  
(i)  Apprentices. Apprentices will be permitted to work at less than the predetermined rate for the work they performed 
when they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a bona fide apprenticeship program registered with the 
U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration, Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and 
Labor Services, or with a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Office, or if a person is employed in his or her 
first 90 days of probationary employment as an apprentice in such an apprenticeship program, who is not individually 
registered in the program, but who has been certified by the Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor 
Services or a State Apprenticeship Agency (where appropriate) to be eligible for probationary employment as an 
apprentice.  The allowable ratio of apprentices to journeymen on the job site in any craft classification shall not be greater 
than the ratio permitted to the contractor as to the entire work force under the registered program.  Any worker listed on a 
payroll at an apprentice wage rate, who is not registered or otherwise employed as stated above, shall be paid not less 
than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed.  In addition, any 
apprentice performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not 
less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed.  Where a contractor is 
performing construction on a project in a locality other than that in which its program is registered, the ratios and wage 
rates (expressed in percentages of the journeyman's hourly rate) specified in the contractor's or subcontractor's registered 
program shall be observed.  Every apprentice must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the registered program 
for the apprentice's level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeymen hourly rate specified in the applicable 
wage determination.  Apprentices shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of the apprenticeship 
program.  If the apprenticeship program does not specify fringe benefits, apprentices must be paid the full amount of 
fringe benefits listed on the wage determination for the applicable classification.  If the Administrator determines that a 
different practice prevails for the applicable apprentice classification, fringes shall be paid in accordance with that 
determination.  In the event the Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor Services, or a State 
Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Office, withdraws approval of an apprenticeship program, the contractor will no 
longer be permitted to utilize apprentices at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an 
acceptable program is approved.  
(ii)  Trainees.  Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16, trainees will not be permitted to work at less than the predetermined 
rate for the work performed unless they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a program which has 
received prior approval, evidenced by formal certification by the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training 
Administration.  The ratio of trainees to journeymen on the job site shall not be greater than permitted under the plan 
approved by the Employment and Training Administration.  Every trainee must be paid at not less than the rate specified 

76



 

«LegalName» Page 47 Attachment VI: Labor Standards Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

in the approved program for the trainee's level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeyman hourly rate 
specified in the applicable wage determination.  Trainees shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of 
the trainee program.  If the trainee program does not mention fringe benefits, trainees shall be paid the full amount of 
fringe benefits listed on the wage determination unless the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division determines that 
there is an apprenticeship program associated with the corresponding journeyman wage rate on the wage determination 
which provides for less than full fringe benefits for apprentices.  Any employee listed on the payroll at a trainee rate who is 
not registered and participating in a training plan approved by the Employment and Training Administration shall be paid 
not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed. In 
addition, any trainee performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be 
paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed.  In the event the 
Employment and Training Administration withdraws approval of a training program, the contractor will no longer be 
permitted to utilize trainees at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable 
program is approved.  
(iii)  Equal employment opportunity.  The utilization of apprentices, trainees and journeymen under this part shall be in 
conformity with the equal employment opportunity requirements of Executive Order 11246, as amended, and 29 CFR part 
30.  
(5)  Compliance with Copeland Act requirements.  The contractor shall comply with the requirements of 29 CFR part 3, 
which are incorporated by reference in this contract.  
(6)  Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses contained in 29 CFR 
5.5(a)(1) through (10) and such other clauses as the EPA determines  may by appropriate, and also a clause requiring the 
subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for the 
compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5.  
(7)  Contract termination; debarment.  A breach of the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5 may be grounds for termination of 
the contract, and for debarment as a contractor and a subcontractor as provided in 29 CFR 5.12.  
(8)  Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Related Act requirements.  All rulings and interpretations of the Davis-Bacon and 
Related Acts contained in 29 CFR parts 1, 3, and 5 are herein incorporated by reference in this contract.  
(9)  Disputes concerning labor standards.  Disputes arising out of the labor standards provisions of this contract shall not 
be subject to the general disputes clause of this contract.  Such disputes shall be resolved in accordance with the 
procedures of the Department of Labor set forth in 29 CFR parts 5, 6, and 7.  Disputes within the meaning of this clause 
include disputes between the contractor (or any of its subcontractors) and Subrecipient(s), State, EPA, the U.S. 
Department of Labor, or the employees or their representatives.  
(10) Certification of eligibility.  
(i)  By entering into this contract, the contractor certifies that neither it (nor he or she) nor any person or firm who has an 
interest in the contractor's firm is a person or firm ineligible to be awarded Government contracts by virtue of section 3(a) 
of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1).  
(ii)  No part of this contract shall be subcontracted to any person or firm ineligible for award of a Government contract by 
virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1).  
(iii)  The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in the U.S. Criminal Code, 18 USC 1001. 
4.  Contract Provision for Contracts in Excess of $100,000. 
(a)  Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act.  The subrecipient shall insert the following clauses set forth in 
paragraphs (a)(1), (2), (3), and (4) of this section in full in any contract in an amount in excess of $100,000 and subject to 
the overtime provisions of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act.  These clauses shall be inserted in addition 
to the clauses required by Item 3, above or 29 CFR 4.6.  As used in this paragraph, the terms laborers and mechanics 
include watchmen and guards. 
(1)  Overtime requirements.  No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work which may 
require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic in any 
workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work in excess of forty hours in such workweek unless such 
laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all 
hours worked in excess of forty hours in such workweek.  
(2)  Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages.  In the event of any violation of the clause set forth in 
paragraph (a)(1) of this section the contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefore shall be liable for the unpaid 
wages.  In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in the case of work done under 
contract for the District of Columbia or a territory, to such District or to such territory), for liquidated damages.  Such 
liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and 
guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (a)(1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each 
calendar day on which such individual was required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty 
hours without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (a)(1) of this section.  

77



 

«LegalName» Page 48 Attachment VI: Labor Standards Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

(3)  Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages.  The subrecipient, upon written request of the EPA Award 
Official or an authorized representative of the Department of Labor, shall withhold or cause to be withheld, from any 
moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under any such contract or any other 
Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to the Contract Work 
Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be 
necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as 
provided in the clause set forth in paragraph (b)(2) of this section.  
(4)  Subcontracts.  The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in paragraph 
(a)(1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier 
subcontracts.  The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor 
with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (a)(1) through (4) of this section.  
(b)  In addition to the clauses contained in Item 3, above, in any contract subject only to the Contract Work Hours and 
Safety Standards Act and not to any of the other statutes cited in 29 CFR 5.1, the Subrecipient shall insert a clause 
requiring that the contractor or subcontractor shall maintain payrolls and basic payroll records during the course of the 
work and shall preserve them for a period of three years from the completion of the contract for all laborers and 
mechanics, including guards and watchmen, working on the contract.  Such records shall contain the name and address 
of each such employee, social security number, correct classifications, hourly rates of wages paid, daily and weekly 
number of hours worked, deductions made, and actual wages paid.  Further, the Subrecipient shall insert in any such 
contract a clause providing hat the records to be maintained under this paragraph shall be made available by the 
contractor or subcontractor for inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the (write the name of 
agency) and the Department of Labor, and the contractor or subcontractor will permit such representatives to interview 
employees during working hours on the job. 
5.  Compliance Verification   
(a)  The subrecipient shall periodically interview a sufficient number of employees entitled to DB prevailing wages 
(covered employees) to verify that contractors or subcontractors are paying the appropriate wage rates.  As provided in 29 
CFR 5.6(a)(6), all interviews must be conducted in confidence.  The subrecipient must use Standard Form 1445 (SF 
1445) or equivalent documentation to memorialize the interviews.  Copies of the SF 1445 are available from EPA on 
request.   
(b)  The subrecipient shall establish and follow an interview schedule based on its assessment of the risks of 
noncompliance with DB posed by contractors or subcontractors and the duration of the contract or subcontract.  
Subrecipients must conduct more frequent interviews if the initial interviews or other information indicated that there is a 
risk that the contractor or subcontractor is not complying with DB. 
Subrecipients shall immediately conduct interviews in response to an alleged violation of the prevailing wage 
requirements.  All interviews shall be conducted in confidence." 
(c)  The subrecipient shall periodically conduct spot checks of a representative sample of weekly payroll data to verify that 
contractors or subcontractors are paying the appropriate wage rates.  The subrecipient shall establish and follow a spot 
check schedule based on its assessment of the risks of noncompliance with DB posed by contractors or subcontractors 
and the duration of the contract or subcontract.  At a minimum, if practicable, the subrecipient should spot check payroll 
data within two weeks of each contractor or subcontractor’s submission of its initial payroll data and two weeks prior to the 
completion date the contract or subcontract.  Subrecipients must conduct more frequent spot checks if the initial spot 
check or other information indicates that there is a risk that the contractor or subcontractor is not complying with DB. In 
addition, during the examinations the subrecipient shall verify evidence of fringe benefit plans and payments thereunder 
by contractors and subcontractors who claim credit for fringe benefit contributions.  
(d)  The subrecipient shall periodically review contractors and subcontractors use of apprentices and trainees to verify 
registration and certification with respect to apprenticeship and training programs approved by either the U.S Department 
of Labor or a state, as appropriate, and that contractors and subcontractors are not using disproportionate numbers of, 
laborers, trainees and apprentices.  These reviews shall be conducted in accordance with the schedules for spot checks 
and interviews described in Item 5(b) and (c) above. 
(e)  Subrecipients must immediately report potential violations of the DB prevailing wage requirements to the Department 
of Commerce and to the appropriate DOL Wage and Hour District Office listed at 
http://www.dol.gov/contacts/whd/america2.htm.   
 

78

http://www.dol.gov/contacts/whd/america2.htm


 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum Street SE 
Post Office Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

Administrative services provided by the Department of Commerce 

(360) 725-3150                          Fax  (360) 586-8440                     www.pwb.wa.gov  

 

October 20, 2014 
 
«LoanContactName» 
«LegalName» 
«LoanContactStreet1» 
«LoanContactStreet2» 
«Loancontactcity», WA «LoanContactZip» 
 
RE: Non-Municipal Loan Contract Number «LoanNumber» 
 
Dear «LoanContactNamePrefix» «LoanContactName»: 
 
Enclosed are two originals of the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Contract Number identified 
above.  The Loan Contract details the terms and conditions that will govern the agreement between us. 
 
When you have obtained the appropriate signatures, please return both original contracts and all the 
attachments to the Public Works Board within 60 calendar days of the date of this letter. Failure to return the 
contracts within this timeline may result in your loan offer being withdrawn.  
 
Please note that the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is the funding source for this program and 
the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number is 66.468.  Consequently, the loan funds are 
federal and subject to both state and federal requirements. 
 
If the loan fee applies, the amount of the loan includes an amount sufficient to cover a one-percent loan 
administration fee.  The fee will be collected at contract execution, and is non-refundable. Please review the 
terms and conditions of the Loan Contract carefully, as well as the attachments. 
 
A requirement of the DWSRF program is that you must maintain updated project records and yearly renewal of 
your registration in the System for Award Management at www.sam.gov 
 
Another requirement of the DWSRF program is that all entities are required to verify that the federal 
government has not suspended or debarred them from receiving federal funds.  This includes, but is not limited 
to, project contractors, subcontractors, engineers, architects, consultants, and equipment vendors.  The 
Exclusion Report can be accessed at www.sam.gov.  Failure to provide this required certification may result in 
termination of your loan contract. 

Please ensure that all signatures required on the Promissory Note, Commercial Security Agreement, 
Corporate Resolution to Borrow Funds, Suspension and Debarment Certificate, and UCC Filing form are 
obtained.  Also, please completely fill all the blanks on CORPORATE RESOLUTION TO BORROW OR 
GUARANTEE.  This includes the location of the Corporation's principle office, the name and position of all of 
the Corporation's officers, the date the resolution was adopted, and the name, position, and actual signature of 
all officers of the Corporation who are authorizing the debt. 

79



«LegalName» 
«LoanNumber» 
October 20, 2014 
Page 2 
 
 
After the Loan Contracts have been signed by the Board or its designee, one fully executed original will be 
returned to you for your files. Instructions for drawing the loan funds will be returned to you with the executed 
Loan Contract, as well as the necessary forms.  The Loan Contract specifies that draws may be made for costs 
that have been incurred, and which have supporting documentation such as receipts or bills. 
 
We are looking forward to working with you over the course of this project.  If you have any questions about 
this Loan Contract, please contact me. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
«ndbStaffName» 
«ndbStaffUnit» 
«ndbStaffPhone» 
«ndbStaffEmail» 
 
Enclosures: 
ATTACHMENT I:      PROMISSORY NOTE 
ATTACHMENT II:     FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 
ATTACHMENT III:    DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS 
ATTACHMENT IV:    CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS 
ATTACHMENT V:     DWSRF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS 
ATTACHMENT VI:    LABOR STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR SUBRECIPIENTS THAT ARE NOT GOVERNMENT ENTITIES 
ATTACHMENT VII:   UCC FILINGS 
ATTACHMENT VIII:  CORPORATE RESOLUTION TO BORROW OR GUARANTEE 
ATTACHMENT IX:    COMMERCIAL SECURITY AGREEMENT

80



 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 
1011 Plum Street SE 
Post Office Box 42525 
Olympia, Washington 98504-2525 

 

 
Washington State Department of Commerce 
www.commerce.wa.gov  
«LegalName» Page 1 Cover 
«LoanNumber»  10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 
Capital Agreement between: 
 

«LegalName» 
 

and 
 

Public Works Board 
 
For: 

 
Project Name: «ProjectTitle» 

Loan Number: «LoanNumber» 
Loan Type: «LoanTypeText»  

 
 
Contract Start Date:  Contract Execution Date  
  
 

81



 

«LegalName» Page 2  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

DECLARATIONS 

 
CLIENT INFORMATION 
Legal Name: «LegalName» 
Loan Number: «LoanNumber» 
Award Year: «LoanStartCalendarYear» 
State Wide Vendor Number:  «StateClientNumber» 
 
 
 
PROJECT INFORMATION 
  
Project Title: «ProjectTitle» 
Project City:  «ProjectCity» 
Project State: Washington 
Project Zip Code:  «ProjectZip» 
 
 
 
LOAN INFORMATION 
 
Loan Amount: «ndbNewLoanAmountExec» 
Loan Fee (Included in Loan Amount, if applicable) «LoanFee» 
Loan Forgiveness %: «PercentForgiven»% 
Loan Term: «TermInYears» 
Interest Rate:  «InterestRatePctExec»% 
Payment Month: October 1st 
Earliest Date for Construction Reimbursement: «ReimbursmentYear» 
Time of Performance 48 months from Contract execution date to Project 

Completion date. 
  
SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS GOVERNING THIS LOAN AGREEMENT 
 
«ndbSpecialTerms» 
 
 
  
 
 

82



 

«LegalName» Page 3  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 
DECLARATION (continued) 
 
Loan Number:  «LoanNumber» 
Project Title:  «ProjectTitle» 
  
Scope of Work:   
«ScopeOfWork» 
 

 

83



 

«LegalName» Page 4  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 84



 

«LegalName» Page 5  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

CONTRACT FACE SHEET 

Contract Number: «LoanNumber» 
Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) 

2014 
(NON-MUNICIPAL) 

 
1. Contractor 2. Contractor Doing Business As (optional) 
«LegalName» 
«LoanContactStreet1» 
«LoanContactStreet2» 
«Loancontactcity», WA «LoanContactZip» 

N/A 

3. Contractor Representative 4. Public Works Board Representative 
N/A N/A  
5. Contract Amount 6. Funding Source 7. Start Date 8. End Date 
«ndbNewLoanAmount
Exec» 

Federal:  State:   Other:   
N/A:  

Contract Execution Date October 1, 
«LoanEndCalendarYear» 

9. Federal Funds (as applicable)   
 

Federal Agency 
EPA 

CFDA Number  
66.468 

10. Tax ID # 11. SWV # 12. UBI # 13. DUNS # 
N/A «StateClientNumber»«Sta

teClientNumberSufix» 
 «DunnsID» 

14. Contract Purpose 
The purpose of this Contract is to provide funding for a project that furthers the goals and objectives of the Drinking Water 
State Revolving Fund Loan Program.  The project will be undertaken by the Contractor and will include the activities 
described in the Declared Scope of Work. 
The Board, defined as the Washington State Public Works Board, and Contractor acknowledge and accept the terms of 
this Contract and attachments and have executed this Contract on the date below to start as of the date and year last 
written below. The rights and obligations of both parties to this Contract are governed by this Contract and the following 
other documents incorporated by reference:  Contractor Terms and Conditions including Declarations Page; Attachment I: 
Promissory Note; Attachment II: Federal and State Requirements; Attachment III: Disadvantaged Business Enterprise 
Requirements; Attachment IV: Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters; 
Attachment V: DWSRF Eligible Project Costs; Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions for Subrecipients that are not 
Governmental Entities; Attachment VII: UCC Filings; Attachment VIII: Corporate Resolution to Borrow or Guarantee; and, 
Attachment IX: Commercial Security Agreement. 
FOR THE CONTRACTOR FOR PUBLIC WORKS BOARD 
 
 
  
Signature 
 
  
Print Name 
 
  
Title 
 
  
Date 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  
Stan Finkelstein, Public Works Board Chair 
 
  
Date 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY 
 
This 18th Day of February, 2014                
Bob Ferguson 
Attorney General 
 
Signature on File  
Kathryn Wyatt 
Assistant Attorney General 

 

85



 

«LegalName» Page 6  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 

86



 

«LegalName» Page 7  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
CONTRACT TITLE PAGE ……………………………………………………………………………….…………………….. 1 
CONTRACT DECLARATIONS………………………………………………………………………………………………… 2 
CONTRACT FACE SHEET………………………………………………………………………………..…………………… 5 
TABLE OF CONTENTS ………………………………………………………………………………………………………... 7 

 
  

Part 1 SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS  
1.1. DEFINITIONS 11 
1.2. AUTHORITY 11 
1.3. PURPOSE 11 
1.4. ORDER OF PRECEDENCE 11 
1.5. AMOUNT OF LOAN 12 
1.6. LOAN FEE 12 
1.7. TERM OF LOAN… 12 
1.8. RATE AND LOAN FORGIVENESS 12 
1.9. DISBURSEMENT OF LOAN PROCEEDS AND REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION 12 
1.10. TIME OF PERFORMANCE 13 
1.11. PROJECT COMPLETION AMENDMENT AND THE CERTIFIED PROJECT COMPLETION REPORT 13 
1.12. REPAYMENT 14 
1.13. DEDICATED ACCOUNT FOR LOAN REPAYMENT 14 
1.14. DEFAULT IN REPAYMENT 14 
1.15. LOAN SECURITY 14 
1.16. HISTORICAL AND CULTURAL ARTIFACTS 15 
1.17. FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 15 
1.18. COMPETITIVE BIDDING REQUIREMENTS 15 
1.19. SMALL PURCHASE PROCEDURES FOR LIMITED PUBLIC WORKS PROJECT 16 
1.20. ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS 16 
1.21. PREVAILING WAGE 16 
1.22. FEDERAL EXCLUSION 16 
1.23. REGISTRATION WITH CENTRAL CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION (CCR) 16 
1.24. RECORDKEEPING AND ACCESS TO RECORDS 17 
1.25. REPORTS 17 
1.26. AMENDMENTS, MODIFICATIONS, ASSIGNMENTS, AND WAIVERS 17 
1.27. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE 17 
1.28. TERMINATION FOR CONVIENIENCE 18 
1.29. AUDIT 18 
1.30. PROJECT SIGNS 18 
1.31. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS 19 
1.32. NONDISCRIMINATION PROVISION 19 
1.33. PROHIBITION STATEMENT 19 
1.34. FALSE, INCORRECT, OR INCOMPLETE INFORMATION OR CLAIM 19 
1.35. ACCURACY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 19 

87



 

«LegalName» Page 8  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

1.36. INTERNAL CONTROL 20 
1.37. LITIGATION 20 
1.38. INSURANCE 20 
1.39. ESTABLISHMENT OF ADEQUATE RATES AND RESERVES 21 
1.40. SPECIAL CONDITIONS 21 
1.41. INVESTMENT GRADE AUDIT 21 
1.42. BUY AMERICAN  21 

   
   
Part 2. GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS  

2.1. DEFINITIONS 22 
2.2. ADMINISTRATIVE COST ALLOCATION 22 
2.3. ALLOWABLE COSTS 22 
2.4. ALL WRITINGS CONTAINED HEREIN 22 
2.5. AMENDMENTS 22 

2.6. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) OF 1990, PUBLIC LAW 101-336, also referred to as the 
“ADA” 28 CFR Part 35 22 

2.7. APPROVAL 22 
2.8. ASSIGNMENT 22 
2.9. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 23 
2.10. AUDIT 23 

2.11. CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION OR INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY 
EXCLUSION—PRIMARY AND LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS 24 

2.12. CODE REQUIREMENTS 24 
2.13. CONFIDENTIALITY/SAFEGUARDING OF INFORMATION 24 
2.14. CONFORMANCE 25 
2.15. COPYRIGHT PROVISIONS 25 
2.16. DISALLOWED COSTS 25 
2.17. DISPUTES 25 
2.18. DUPLICATE PAYMENT 26 
2.19. ETHICS/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 26 
2.20. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE 26 
2.21. INDEMNIFICATION 26 
2.22. INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE CONTRACTOR 26 
2.23. INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE COVERAGE 26 
2.24. LAWS 27 
2.25. LICENSING, ACCREDITATION AND REGISTRATION 29 
2.26. LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY 29 
2.27. LOCAL PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION COORDINATION 29 
2.28. NONCOMPLIANCE WITH NONDISCRIMINATION LAWS 29 
2.29. NOTIFICATION OF TENANT RIGHTS/RESPONSIBILITIES 29 
2.30. POLITICAL ACTIVITIES 29 
2.31. PREVAILING WAGE LAWS 29 
2.32. PROCUREMENT STANDARDS FOR FEDERALLY FUNDED PROGRAMS 30 
2.33. PROHIBITION AGAINST PAYMENT OF BONUS OR COMMISION 30 

88



 

«LegalName» Page 9  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

2.34. PUBLICITY 30 
2.35. RECAPTURE 30 
2.36. RECORDS MAINTENANCE 31 
2.37. REGISTRATION WITH DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 31 
2.38. RIGHT OF INSPECTION 31 
2.39. SAVINGS 31 
2.40. SEVERABILITY 31 
2.41. SUBCONTRACTING 31 
2.42. SURVIVAL 31 
2.43. TAXES 31 
2.44. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE/SUSPENSION 32 
2.45. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 32 
2.46. TERMINATION PROCEDURES 32 
2.47. WAIVER 32 
2.48. WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS 32 

   
ATTACHMENT I PROMISSORY NOTE 35 
ATTACHMENT II FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 37 
ATTACHMENT III DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS 39 

ATTACHMENT IV CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER 
RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS 41 

ATTACHMENT V DWSRF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS 43 

ATTACHMENT VI LABOR STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR SUBRECIPIENTS THAT ARE NOT 
GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES 45 

ATTACHMENT VII UCC FILINGS 51 
ATTACHMENT VIII CORPORATE RESOLUTION TO BORROW OR GUARANTEE 53 
ATTACHMENT IX COMMERCIAL SECURITY AGREEMENT 55 

 

89



 

«LegalName» Page 10  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 

90



 

«LegalName» Page 11  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND 
NEW TRADITIONAL 
(NON-MUNICIPAL) 

Part 1.  SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS  
1.1. DEFINITIONS 

As used throughout this Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Contract the following terms shall have the 
meaning set forth below: 

A. AWARD YEAR shall mean the calendar year in which the funds were awarded to the Board for use in making 
loans under this program. 

B. “Board” shall mean the Washington State Public Works Board created in Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 
43.155.030, and who is a Party to the Contract. 

C. “Contract” shall mean this Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan. 

D. “Contractor” shall mean the Corporation identified on the Contract Face Sheet performing service(s) under this 
Contract and who is a Party to the Contract, and shall include all employees and agents of the Contractor. 

E. The “Contract End Date” shall mean the date the contract expires.  This date shall occur in the final year of the 
LOAN TERM unless otherwise amended, as counted from the AWARD YEAR.  The actual date of contract 
execution shall have no effect on the Contract End Date. 

F. “Deferral Period” shall be from the date of contract execution until the date of project completion. The Deferral 
Period shall not exceed 4 years in length. 

G. “Department of Commerce” and “Commerce” shall mean the Washington State Department of Commerce. 

H. “Department of Health” shall mean the Washington State Department of Health, Office of Drinking Water, who is 
the recipient of the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund grant and regulates drinking water systems in the 
State of Washington. 

I. "Iron and steel products" means the following products made primarily of iron or steel: lined or unlined pipes 
and fittings, manhole covers and other municipal castings, hydrants, tanks, flanges, pipe clamps and restraints, 
valves, structural steel, reinforced precast concrete, and construction materials. 

J. PAYMENT MONTH shall mean the day and month of the year in which payments are due. 
  

1.2. AUTHORITY 
Acting under the authority of RCW 70.119A.170 and RCW 43.155.040, the Board has awarded the Contractor a 
Drinking Water State Revolving Fund loan for an approved project.  The Contractor will be a sub-recipient of funds 
provided by the United States Environmental Protection Agency, CFDA Number 66.468, Title:  Safe Drinking Water 
State Revolving Fund, award year of this contract. 
 

1.3. PURPOSE 
The Board and the Contractor have entered into this Contract to undertake a local project that furthers the goals 
and objectives of the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Program.  The project will be undertaken by the 
Contractor and will include the activities described in the SCOPE OF WORK shown on the Declarations page.  The 
project must be undertaken in accordance with the loan Program Special Terms and Conditions and all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and ordinances, including but not limited to those specifically enumerated in 
Attachment II:  Federal and State Requirements,  which by this reference are incorporated into this Contract as 
though set forth fully herein. 
 

1.4. ORDER OF PRECEDENCE 
In the event of an inconsistency in this Contract, the inconsistency shall be resolved by giving precedence in the 
following order:  

A. Applicable federal and State of Washington statutes and regulations. 
B. Special Terms and Conditions including attachments. 

91



 

«LegalName» Page 12  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

C. General Terms and Conditions. 
 
1.5. AMOUNT OF LOAN 

The Board, using funds appropriated from the Drinking Water Assistance Account, shall loan the Contractor a sum 
not to exceed the amount shown as LOAN AMOUNT on the attached Declarations Page. This loan amount includes 
a loan fee, if applicable, which is shown on the Declarations Page as LOAN FEE. 
 

1.6. LOAN FEE 
If the loan fee applies, it will be assessed at loan execution. 

The amount of the loan fee (if applicable) represents one percent (1%) of the loan request and shall not be reduced, 
regardless of the actual final loan amount at project completion.  If the loan fee applies and the total loan amount is 
increased by amendment, an additional loan fee equal to one percent (1%) of the additional loan amount will be 
assessed at amendment execution. 
 

1.7. TERM OF LOAN 
Unless otherwise amended, the term of the loan shall not exceed the period shown on the Declarations Page as 
LOAN TERM. The term shall start in the AWARD YEAR. 

Except as herein provided, under no circumstances shall the loan repayment period exceed 20 years from the 
contract execution date. 

The loan term may be extended for a disadvantaged community up to 30 years, provided that a recipient completes 
loan repayment no later than 30 years after project completion and the term of the loan does not exceed the 
expected design life of the project. 

 
1.8. RATE AND LOAN FORGIVENESS 

The interest rate shall be the declared INTEREST RATE per annum on the outstanding principal balance, based on 
a three hundred and sixty (360) day year composed of twelve (12) thirty (30) day months. The amount of loan 
forgiveness (if applicable) shall be as stated on the attached Declarations Page, and identified therein as LOAN 
FORGIVENESS %.  

 This loan forgiveness shall be applied at project completion and shall apply to the lesser of the loan amount or the 
actual eligible costs and that declared percent on any accrued interest. The percent of loan forgiveness and interest 
rate shall not be changed, regardless of the actual cost of the project and the Affordability Index at project 
completion. 
 

1.9. DISBURSEMENT OF LOAN PROCEEDS AND REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION 
If funding or appropriation is not available at the time the Contractor submits a request for a loan disbursement, the 
issuance of a warrant will be delayed or suspended until such time funds become available.  Therefore, subject to 
availability of funds, warrants shall be issued to the Contractor for payment of allowable expenses incurred by the 
Contractor while undertaking and administering approved project activities in accordance with the declared SCOPE 
OF WORK.  

The Contractor must meet the internal control requirements as stated in Section 1.36.  The loan funds will be 
disbursed to the Contractor as follows: 

Ten percent (10%) of loan proceeds will be held until project completion. The total Drinking Water State Revolving 
Fund Loan shall not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the actual eligible project costs.  

When requesting reimbursement for costs incurred, the Contractor shall submit a signed and completed A19 
Reimbursement Voucher referencing the declared SCOPE OF WORK project activity performed, and any 
appropriate documentation such as bills, invoices, and receipts.  The purchase of any land necessary and integral 
to the project must be included in the declared SCOPE OF WORK and be documented with an appraisal or other 
market valuation and a valid purchase and sale agreement. The Invoice Voucher must be certified by an official of 
the Contractor with authority to bind the Contractor. 

Each succeeding A19 Reimbursement Voucher must be accompanied by a Project Status Report, which describes, 
in narrative form, the progress made on the project since the last invoice was submitted, as well as a report of 
project status to date.  The Department of Commerce (Commerce) will not release payment for any reimbursement 
request received unless the Project Status Report is received. After approving the Invoice Voucher and the Project 
Status Report, Commerce shall promptly release the funds to the Contractor. 

92



 

«LegalName» Page 13  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

Requests for reimbursements for costs related to pre-construction activities will not be accepted until the 
Contractor has met the following conditions: 

 
A. Established a dedicated account at an FDIC-insured institution as referenced in Section 1.13 and 
B. Met the insurance requirements as stated in Section 1.38. 

Construction expenses incurred after the date shown as LOAN REIMBURSEMENT DATE on the Declarations Page 
are eligible for reimbursement.  Requests for reimbursements for costs related to construction activities will not be 
accepted until the Contractor has met the following conditions: 

A. Issued a Notice to Proceed, which follows the formal award of a construction contract; 
B. Completed the State Environmental Review Process; 
C. Complied with all provisions of Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966; 
D. Complied with Section 1.19: Prevailing Wage; 
E. Obtained approval from the Department of Health of the project report and related construction documents for 

all applicable activities described in the declared SCOPE OF WORK; and 
F. Complied with any other loan conditions required by Department of Health or the Board. 

An electronic copy (emailed PDF or a FAX) of a signed A19 Reimbursement Voucher and other required 
documentation is the preferred method for requesting reimbursement.  Submit the electronic requests to your 
Contracts Administration Unit (CAU) representative or fax to 360-586-8440.  This electronic submittal may be 25 
pages or less.  If you choose to send your vouchers and backup documentation electronically, please DO NOT mail 
in the original.  You will receive email notification from your CAU representative that the electronic request has been 
received.  

Commerce will pay the Contractor upon acceptance of the work performed and receipt of properly completed 
invoices.  Invoices may be submitted to Commerce not more often than monthly.   

Payment shall be considered timely if made by Commerce within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of properly 
completed invoices.  Payment shall be sent to the address designated by the Contractor. 

The Board may, at its sole discretion, withhold payments claimed by the Contractor for services rendered if the 
Contractor fails to satisfactorily comply with any term or condition of this contract.   

No payments in advance or in anticipation of services or supplies to be provided under this contract shall be made 
by the Board. 

In the event that the Contractor receives reimbursement for costs that are later determined by the Board to be 
ineligible, these funds shall be repaid to the Drinking Water Assistance Account by payment to the Department of 
Commerce, or its successor, together with the submission of the Project Completion Amendment.   

At the time of project completion, the Contractor shall submit to the Board a Certified Project Completion Request 
certifying the total actual project costs, and a final voucher for the remaining eligible funds. The Certified Project 
Completion Request shall include a copy of the Construction Completion Report as submitted to Department of 
Health.  
 

1.10. TIME OF PERFORMANCE 
The Contractor shall begin the activities identified within the declared SCOPE OF WORK no later than thirty (30) 
days after Contract execution. No later than eighteen (18) months after Contract execution, the Contractor shall issue 
a ‘Notice to Proceed’, which follows the formal award of a construction contract.   

The Contractor must reach project completion within the period specified on the Declarations Page as TIME OF 
PERFORMANCE. 

Failure to meet project completion within the time frame described in this section shall constitute default under this 
Contract, and as a result, this Contract may be terminated. In the event of extenuating circumstances, the Contractor 
may request, in writing, at least 90 days prior to the expiration of project completion date that the Board extend the 
deadline for project completion. . The Board may extend the time of project completion. 
 

1.11. PROJECT COMPLETION AMENDMENT AND THE CERTIFIED PROJECT COMPLETION REPORT 
The Contractor shall initiate a Project Completion Amendment by submitting a Certified Project Completion Report 
when activities identified in the declared SCOPE OF WORK are complete and the Contractor agrees that no 
additional eligible costs will be reimbursed. 

In the Project Completion Amendment, the Contractor will provide the following information to the Board:  

93



 

«LegalName» Page 14  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

A. A certified statement of the actual dollar amounts spent, from all fund sources, in completing the project as 
described in the declared SCOPE OF WORK. 

B. Certification that all costs associated with the project have been incurred.  Costs are incurred when goods and 
services are received and/or contract work is performed. 

C. A copy of the Department of Health Construction Completion Report as submitted to Department of Health. 
D. Evidence documenting compliance with audit requirements as referenced in Section 1.29. 
E. A final voucher for the remaining eligible funds. 

The Project Completion Amendment shall serve as an amendment to this Contract determining the final loan 
amount and term of the loan.  
 

1.12. REPAYMENT 
Loan repayments shall be made to the Board in accordance with Attachment I: Promissory Note. 
 

1.13. DEDICATED ACCOUNT FOR LOAN REPAYMENT 
The Contractor shall establish a dedicated account at an FDIC-insured institution for loan repayment. During the 
term of the loan, the Contractor shall make regular deposits into the loan repayment account such that by 
September 30th of the repayment years, the funds in this account cover the annual debt service payment. All 
interest earned on funds deposited in this account shall accrue to the benefit of the Contractor and be applied 
toward reducing the amount of the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund loan. The funds in this account shall be 
used solely to make debt service payments. 

The Contractor shall comply with this condition until the term of the loan, or until such time the Board is satisfied 
with the Contractor’s finances and notifies the Contractor that this condition no longer applies. Submittal of proof of 
condition is due within thirty (30) days of the execution of this Contract. 

. 
1.14. DEFAULT IN REPAYMENT 

Loan repayments shall be made in accordance with Attachment I: Promissory Note.  A payment not received within 
thirty (30) days of the due date shall be declared delinquent.  Delinquent payments shall be assessed a monthly 
penalty beginning on the first (1st) day past the due date.  The penalty will be one percent (1%) per month or twelve 
percent (12%) per annum of the delinquent payment amount. These same penalty terms shall apply if the 
repayment of loan funds determined to be ineligible costs are not repaid within thirty (30) days as provided for in 
Section 1.12. 

Upon default in the payment of any annual installment, the Board may declare the entire remaining balance of the 
loan, together with interest accrued, immediately due and payable. Failure to exercise its option with respect to any 
such repayment in default shall not constitute a waiver by the Board to exercise such option for any succeeding 
installment payment that may then be in default.   

Contractor shall be responsible for all legal fees incurred by the Board in any action undertaken to enforce its rights 
under this section. 
 

1.15. LOAN SECURITY 
Loan documents are those standard documents required by the Board to make and close the loan, including, but 
not limited to, the Promissory Note, first or junior deeds of trust, security agreements, financing statements and 
assignment of assets, and others that may be included as attachments to this document. 

The Contractor hereby agrees that the loan documents shall inure to the benefit of the Board and that the Board 
shall review the form of the loan documents prior to execution. 

A. Collateral:  As security for the full and timely payment of the loan and performance of all of the Contractor’s 
obligations under this Contract and all renewals, extensions, or amendments thereof, the Contractor grants to 
the Board a security interest as follows:   

 The loan shall be secured by valid liens on Contractor’s accounts and/or assets, including but not limited to 
accounts receivable, the dedicated account for loan repayment, and proceeds therefrom.  The Board is 
responsible for filing these liens.  Said liens will not be subordinated to any other loans entered into by the 
Contractor after the date of the execution of this Contract. 

 The security shall be evidenced by a Promissory Note, Commercial Security Agreement, and UCC-1 form. 

 The Contractor agrees to assist the Board in the completion and filing of all financing statements or other 
collateral documentation reasonably required by the Board. 

94



 

«LegalName» Page 15  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

B. Collateral Documents:  The Contractor shall execute all necessary assignments, security agreements, and 
financing statements to establish, perfect, and maintain the security interests of the Board.   

Nothing in this section shall absolve the Contractor of its obligation to make loan repayments when due, and to 
adjust rates, fees, or surcharges, if necessary, to meet its obligations under this Contract. 
 

1.16. HISTORICAL AND CULTURAL ARTIFACTS 
The Contractor acknowledges that the project funded by this Contract is subject to Section 106 of the National 
Historic Preservation Act of 1966. 

Contractor agrees that Contractor is legally and financially responsible for compliance with all laws, regulations, and 
agreements related to the preservation of historical or cultural artifacts, and agrees to hold harmless the State of 
Washington in relation to any claim related to such historical or cultural artifacts discovered, disturbed, or damaged 
as a result of Contractor’s public works project funded under this Contract. 

The Contractor agrees that, in no case shall construction activities, ground disturbance, or excavation of any sort, 
begin until the Contractor has complied with all provisions of Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 
1966, as amended. 

In addition, the Contractor shall not conduct or authorize destructive project planning activities before completing 
compliance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended. 

If historical or cultural artifacts are discovered during construction, the Contractor shall immediately stop 
construction, and implement reasonable measures to protect the discovery site from further disturbance, take 
reasonable steps to ensure confidentiality of the discovery site, restrict access to the site,  and notify the concerned 
tribe’s cultural staff or committee, Tribal Historical Preservation Officer (THPO), Cultural Resources Program 
Manager at Washington State Department of Health, and the State's Historical Preservation Officer (SHPO) at the 
Washington State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation (DAHP).  If human remains are uncovered, 
the Contractor shall report the presence and location of the remains to the coroner and local enforcement 
immediately, then contact the concerned tribe’s cultural staff or committee and DAHP. 

The Contractor shall require the above provisions to be contained in all contracts for work or services related to  the 
declared SCOPE OF WORK. In no case shall construction activities begin until the Contractor has complied with all 
provisions of Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966. 

In addition to the requirements set forth in this Contract, the Contractor agrees to comply with Native American 
Graves Protection and Repatriation Act,  Archaeological Resources Protection Act, Revised Code of Washington 
(RCW) 27.44 regarding Indian Graves and Records; RCW 27.53 regarding Archaeological Sites and Resources; 
RCW 68.60 regarding Abandoned and Historic Cemeteries and Historic Graves; and Washington Administrative 
Code (WAC) 25-48 regarding Archaeological Excavation and Removal Permits. 
 

1.17. FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS 
The Contractor assures compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, requirements, and ordinances 
as they pertain to the design, implementation, and administration of the approved project, including but not limited to 
those listed in Attachments II, III, and IV. 
 

1.18. COMPETITIVE BIDDING REQUIREMENTS 
Pursuant to 40 CFR, Section 33.501(b) and (c), the Contractor also agrees to create and maintain a bidders list for 
both Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (DBE) and Non-Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (non-DBE). The 
purpose of a bidders list is to provide the recipient and entities receiving identified loans who conduct competitive 
bidding with as accurate a database as possible about the universe of DBE and non-DBE prime and 
subcontractors. The list must include all firms that bid or quote on prime contracts, or bid or quote on subcontracts 
on Environmental Protection Agency assisted projects, including both DBE and non-DBE. The bidders list must be 
kept at least until the grant project period has expired and the recipient is no longer receiving Environmental 
Protection Agency funding under the grant. For entities receiving identified loans, the bidders list must only be kept 
until the project period for the identified loan has ended. The following information must be obtained from all prime 
and subcontractors: entity's name with point of contact; entity's mailing address, telephone number, and e-mail 
address; the procurement on which the entity bid or quoted, and when; and entity's status as a DBE or non-DBE. 

The Contractor agrees to provide Environmental Protection Agency Form 6100-2 DBE Subcontractor Participation 
and Environmental Protection Agency Form 6100-3 DBE Subcontractor Performance to all its Disadvantaged 
Business Enterprise subcontractors. 

95



 

«LegalName» Page 16  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

The Contractor shall require Disadvantaged Business Enterprise provisions are contained in all contracts with any 
subcontractors for work or services related to the declared SCOPE OF WORK. 

The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of RCW 43.155.060 regarding competitive bidding requirements for 
projects assisted in whole or in part with money from the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund program. 
 

1.19. SMALL PURCHASE PROCEDURES FOR LIMITED PUBLIC WORKS PROJECT 
The Contractor may utilize the small purchase procedures in those instances where public works projects are not 
expected to cost over $35,000.  However, small purchase procedures may not be used to procure engineering or 
architectural services.  If small purchase procurement is used, price or rate quotations or proposals must be 
obtained from at least three qualified sources.  Efforts must be made to seek at least one quotation or proposal from 
a certified minority business enterprise (MBE) or from a certified woman business enterprise (WBE).  If the 
jurisdiction has established a lower ceiling for small purchases, then the lower ceiling must be followed.  All steps 
taken, quotations/proposals received and MBE/WBE outreach efforts made by the Contractor must be documented.  
Requests for quotes, proposals, etc., may have to be advertised in a newspaper of general circulation.  See RCW 
39.04.155 (3) for details. 

The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of RCW 39.04.155 (3) regarding small purchase procedures 
requirements for limited project works projects assisted in whole or in part with money from the Drinking Water State 
Revolving Fund program. 
 

1.20. ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS 
The Contractor assures compliance with Attachment V: DWSRF Eligible Project Costs, which identifies eligible costs 
for projects funded by Drinking Water State Revolving Fund loans. 
 

1.21. PREVAILING WAGE 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.31. Prevailing Wage Laws in General Terms and Conditions. 

All contractors and subcontractors performing work on a construction project funded through this Contract shall 
comply with prevailing wage laws by paying the higher of state or federal prevailing wages according to: 

State Prevailing Wages on Public Works, Chapter 39.12 RCW, as applicable to the Project funded by this 
contract, including but not limited to the filing of the “Statement of Intent to Pay Prevailing Wages” and “Affidavit 
of Wages Paid” as required by RCW 39.12.040.  The Contractor shall maintain records sufficient to evidence 
compliance with Chapter 39.12 RCW, and shall make such records available for Board’s review upon request; 
or 

The Davis Bacon Act, 40 USC 276a-276a-5 and related federal acts provide that all laborers and mechanics 
employed by contractors or subcontractors in the performance shall be paid wages at rates not less than those 
prevailing on similar construction in the locality as determined by the Secretary of Labor. 

The Contractor agrees that the Contractor is legally and financially responsible for compliance with the prevailing 
wage requirements. Contractor is advised to consult the United States Department of Labor and Washington State 
Department of Labor and Industries websites to determine the federal and State prevailing wages that must be paid.  

The Contractor shall ensure that all contractors, subcontractors, engineers, vendors, and any other entity for work 
or services listed in the declared SCOPE OF WORK shall insert in full, in any contract, the labor standards 
provisions listed in Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions for Subrecipients That Are Governmental Entities. 
Contractor shall report to the Board and/or the Department of Health that this requirement has been met as stated 
in this Contract. 
 

1.22. FEDERAL EXCLUSION 
These terms add to the terms in Section 2.11. Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension or Ineligibility and 
Voluntary Exclusion – Primary and Lower Tier Covered Transactions in General Terms and Conditions. The 
Contractor also agrees to access the Federal Exclusion List at www.sam.gov and provide Federal Exclusion 
documentation to the Board and to keep a copy on file with the Contractor’s project records. 
 

1.23. REGISTRATION WITH CENTRAL CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION (CCR) 
By signing this Contract, the Contractor accepts the requirements stated in 48 CFR 52.204-7 to register with the 
Central Contractor Registration (CCR) database at the System for Awards Management (SAM) website.  To register 
in SAM, a valid Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) Number is required. The Contractor is responsible for the 
accuracy and completeness of the data within the SAM database and for any liability resulting from the Government's 

96



 

«LegalName» Page 17  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

reliance on inaccurate or incomplete data. The Contractor must remain registered in the SAM database after the initial 
registration. The Contractor is required to review and update on an annual basis from the date of initial registration or 
subsequent updates its information in SAM to ensure it is current, accurate and complete. The Contractor shall provide 
evidence documenting registration and renewal of SAM registration to the Board.  

In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance or refusal to comply with the requirement stated above, the Board 
reserves the right to suspend payment until the Contractor cures this noncompliance. 

1.24. RECORDKEEPING AND ACCESS TO RECORDS 
Amendments, modifications, assignments, and waivers to any of the terms of this contract supersede those terms 
as found in the original contract. 

The Board, the Board’s agents, and duly authorized officials of the state and federal governments shall have full 
access and the right to examine, copy, excerpt, or transcribe any pertinent documents, papers, records, and books 
of the Contractor and of persons, firms, or organizations with which the Contractor may contract, involving 
transactions related to this project and this Contract.   

The Contractor agrees to retain these records for a period of six (6) years from the date that the debt is retired.  This 
includes but is not limited to financial reports.  If any litigation, claim, or audit is started before the expiration of the 
six (6) year period, the records shall be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit findings involving the records 
have been resolved. 
 

1.25. REPORTS 
The Contractor, at such times and on such forms as the Board may require, shall furnish the Board with such 
periodic reports as it may request pertaining to the activities undertaken pursuant to this Contract including, but not 
limited to: 

A.  Prevailing Wage decisions and/or changes; 
B. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises utilization; 
C. Project Status Reports with each Invoice Voucher, 
D. Certified Project Completion Report at project completion (as described in Section 1.11), and  
E. Other reports as the Board may require.   

In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance or refusal to comply with the requirement stated above, the Board 
reserves the right to suspend payment until the Contractor cures this noncompliance. 
 

1.26. AMENDMENTS, MODIFICATIONS, ASSIGNMENTS, AND WAIVERS 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.5 Amendments in General Terms and Conditions. 

The Contractor may request an amendment of this Contract for the purpose of modifying the declared SCOPE OF 
WORK or for extending the time of performance as provided for in Section 1.10.   Any revision to the SCOPE OF 
WORK or location of the project must be approved by the Department of Health. No modification or amendment 
resulting in an extension of project completion shall take effect until a request in writing has been received, 
approved by the Board, and approved in writing by both the Board and the Contractor and attached hereto in 
accordance with Section 1.10 

During the term of this loan, any change in ownership of the water system(s) improved with funds received 
by the Contractor under this Contract must be approved in writing by the Board.  As a condition of 
approval, the Board reserves the right to demand payment in full of the outstanding principal balance of the 
loan. 

No conditions or provisions of this Contract may be waived unless approved by the Board in writing.  No waiver of 
any default or breach by any party shall be implied from any failure to take action upon such default or breach, if the 
default of breach persists or repeats. 
 

1.27. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.44.  Termination for Cause/Suspension in General Terms and 
Conditions.  

Failure to perform the duties associated with this Contract in a timely manner may constitute default of this Contract 
and require the immediate repayment of any funds disbursed. 

If the Board concludes that the Contractor has failed to comply with the terms and conditions of this Contract, or has 
failed to use the loan proceeds only for those activities identified in the declared SCOPE OF WORK, or has 

97



 

«LegalName» Page 18  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

otherwise materially breached one or more of the covenants in this Contract, the Board may at any time, at its 
discretion, upon notice to the Contractor, terminate the Contract and/or its attached agreements in whole or in part, 
and declare the entire remaining balance of the loan, together with any interest accrued, immediately due and 
payable in full.  Such Notice of Termination for Cause shall be in writing, shall state the reason for such termination, 
and shall specify the effective date of the termination. The effective date of the termination will be determined by the 
Board.  Such notice shall inform the Contractor of the breach of the relevant covenant and shall allow the Contractor 
at least thirty (30) business days to cure such breach, if curable.  The notice shall instruct the Contractor that, if the 
breach is not cured or cannot be cured within thirty (30) business days, the outstanding balance of the loan shall be 
due and payable. If this Contract is so terminated, the Board shall be liable only for payment required under the 
terms of this Contract for services rendered or goods delivered prior to the effective date of termination. Nothing in 
this section shall affect the Contractor’s obligations to immediately repay the unpaid balance of the loan as 
prescribed in the Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 246-296-150. 
 

1.28. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.45. Termination for Convenience in General Terms and Conditions. 

The Board may terminate this Contract in the event that federal or state funds are no longer available to the Board, 
or are not appropriated for the purpose of meeting the Board’s obligations under this Contract.  The Board shall 
notify the Contractor in writing of its determination to terminate and the reason for such termination.  The effective 
date of the termination will be determined by the Board. If this Contract is so terminated, the Board shall be liable 
only for payment required under the terms of this Contract for services rendered or goods delivered prior to the 
effective date of termination. Nothing in this section shall affect Contractor’s obligations to repay the unpaid balance 
of the loan. 
 

1.29. AUDIT 
These terms supersede the terms in Section 2.10 Audit in General Terms and Conditions. 

The Board reserves the right to require an audit of this project.  The Contractor is responsible for correcting any 
audit findings.  The Contractor agrees to refund to the Board all disallowed costs resulting from the audit.  Audit 
costs are allowable expenses within this Contract. 

All Contractors are required, at project completion, to submit a completed Project Completion Amendment certified 
by a Certified Public Accountant or the Chief Financial Officer. The Certified Public Accountant or the Chief 
Financial Officer shall perform agreed upon tasks and follow agreed-upon procedures on project financial records 
as identified in the Project Completion Amendment to ensure all reimbursed costs have been reviewed and are 
consistent with the declared SCOPE OF WORK. 

In addition, if the Contractor expends more than $500,000 in federal funds (all sources) in any fiscal year, the 
Contractor must have an audit of project activities conducted by a Certified Public Accountant.  The audit is due 
nine (9) months after the end of the fiscal year in which $500,000 or more in federal funds were expended.  
Contractors are advised to consult with private counsel to determine the rules appropriate to them. 

As necessary, audits are to be conducted in accordance with Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Revised 
Circular A-133 "Audits of States, Local Government, and Non-Profit Organizations.” The Contractor must send a 
copy of any required audit Reporting Package as described in OMB Circular A-133, Part C, Section 320(c) no later 
than nine (9) months after the end of the Contractor’s fiscal year(s) to: 

Department of Commerce 
ATTN: Public Works Board 
1011 Plum Street SE 
Olympia WA 98504-2525 

In addition to sending a copy of the audit, when applicable, the Contractor must include: 

 Corrective action plan for audit findings within three (3) months of the audit being received by the Board.  
 Copy of the Management Letter.   

 
1.30. PROJECT SIGNS 

If the Contractor displays, during the period covered by this Contract, any signs or markers identifying those entities 
participating financially in the approved project, the sign or marker must identify the Washington State Public Works 
Board Drinking Water State Revolving Fund, and the Washington State Department of Health, as participants in the 
project. 

 

98



 

«LegalName» Page 19  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

1.31. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS 
As mandated by the Environmental Protection Agency, the Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of 
the Environmental Protection Agency’s Program for Utilization of Small, Minority, and Women’s Business 
Enterprises in procurement under this Contract. The Contractor is required to follow the requirements identified in 
Attachment III: Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Requirements. 

By signing this Contract, the Contractor accepts the applicable MBE/WBE fair share objectives/goals negotiated 
with Environmental Protection Agency by the Washington State Office of Minority and Women's Business 
Enterprises. The Contractor attests to the fact that it is purchasing the same or similar construction, supplies, 
services and equipment, in the same or similar relevant geographic buying market as Washington State Office of 
Minority and Women's Business Enterprises. The goals for the utilization of disadvantaged businesses are stated in 
Attachment III: Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Requirements. 

The Contractor is required to furnish the Board and the Department of Health with such periodic reports as the 
Department may request pertaining to the utilization of disadvantaged businesses. 

 
1.32. NONDISCRIMINATION PROVISION 

During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor shall comply with all federal and state nondiscrimination 
laws, including, but not limited to Chapter 49.60 RCW, Washington’s Law Against Discrimination, and 42 USC 
12101 et seq, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). 

In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance or refusal to comply with any applicable nondiscrimination law, 
regulation, or policy, this Contract may be rescinded, canceled, or terminated in whole or in part, and the Contractor 
may be declared ineligible for further contracts with the Board.  The Contractor shall, however, be given a 
reasonable time in which to cure this noncompliance. 

The Contractor must also include the following terms and conditions in contracts with all contractors, 
subcontractors, engineers, vendors, and any other entity for work or services listed in the declared SCOPE OF 
WORK. 

“The Contractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin or sex in the performance of this 
Contract. The Contractor shall carry out applicable requirements of 40 CFR part 33 in the award and 
administration of contracts awarded under Environmental Protection Agency financial agreements. Failure by the 
Contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this Contract which may result in termination of 
this Contract.” 
 

1.33. PROHIBITION STATEMENT 
Pursuant to Section 106 of the Trafficking Victims Protection Act of 2000, as amended, the Contractor `s 
contractors, subcontractors, engineers, vendors, and any other entity shall comply with and include the following 
terms and conditions in all contracts for work or services listed in the declared SCOPE OF WORK: 

“All forms of trafficking in persons, illegal sex trade, or forced labor practices are prohibited in the 
performance of this award or subawards under the award, or in any manner during the period of 
time that the award is in effect.  This prohibition applies to you as the recipient, your employees, 
subrecipients under this award, and subrecipients’ employees.” 

If any term of this section is violated, this contract may be terminated. 

1.34. FALSE, INCORRECT, OR INCOMPLETE INFORMATION OR CLAIM 
The Contractor warrants that the Contractor neither has submitted nor shall submit any information that is materially 
false, incorrect, or incomplete to the Board. 

The Contractor is advised that providing false, fictitious, or misleading information with respect to the receipt and 
disbursements of Environmental Protection Agency funds is basis for criminal, civil, or administrative fines and/or 
penalties. 
 

1.35. ACCURACY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
The Contractor warrants that all financial statements and related information furnished by the Contractor have been 
prepared under Generally Accepted Accounting Procedures (GAAP) or tax basis, and fully represents to the best of 
the Contractor’s knowledge, the financial condition of the Contractor as of the dates and for the periods indicated.   

99



 

«LegalName» Page 20  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

The Contractor covenants that since the date of such statements, the Contractor is unaware of any materially 
adverse change in the business property, operations, or condition (financial or otherwise) that would impair the 
Contractor’s ability to repay the loan. 
 

1.36. INTERNAL CONTROL 
The Contractor must designate one person as fiscal coordinator of the loan.  Only one signature is required to 
request reimbursement of expenditures from Commerce, However, in the absence of the fiscal coordinator, or in 
other circumstances, a second person must be authorized to sign on the reimbursement request form. 

The Contractor must maintain effective internal controls and accountability for the loan funds by complying with 
financial management standards and Generally Accepted Accounting Procedures (GAAP). 
 

1.37. LITIGATION 
The Contractor warrants that there is no threatened or pending litigation, investigation, or legal action before any 
court, arbitrator, or administrative agency that, if adversely determined, would have a materially adverse effect on 
the Contractor’s ability to repay the loan. 
 

1.38. INSURANCE 
A. Liability Coverage:  

At its sole expense, the Contractor shall obtain and keep in force, during completion of activities listed in the 
declared SCOPE OF WORK, Commercial General Liability coverage, written on form  
CG 00 01 07 98 (ISO) or later editions.  Policy limits should be no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence with a 
general aggregate limit of $5,000,000, or the amount of the loan, whichever is less. 

Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis, with the Board a named insured at policy inception.  Said 
policy shall be endorsed to reflect that Contractor, not the Board, shall be responsible for the payment of policy 
premiums, and that coverage shall be limited to claims arising from the project or projects financed by the loan 
proceeds under this Contract. 

B. Property Coverage: 

The Contractor shall obtain and keep in force, during the term of this loan, a policy or policies of insurance 
providing coverage for all risks of physical damage or loss to the improvements and/or structures to be 
constructed using the proceeds of the loan contemplated by this Contract. Said policy or policies shall provide 
replacement cost coverage, with adequate policy limits to assure no co-insurance exposure by any insured 
under the policy or loss-payee thereunder.  Said polices shall provide no less coverage than provided by the 
Builders Risk Coverage Form   
(CP 00 20 06 95 ISO), with any and all necessary endorsements to provide the all risk, replacement cost 
coverage, to the improvements and/or structures constructed utilizing the loan proceeds under this Contract.  

At its sole expense, upon completion of construction, Contractor shall obtain and keep in force, during the term 
of this loan, permanent property coverage providing coverage for all risks of physical damage, written on a 
replacement cost basis.  Contractor shall maintain adequate policy limits to enable all insured and loss payees 
to avoid any exposure to co-insurance penalties.  No loss deductible shall exceed five percent (5%) of any loss, 
and the Board shall have no loss deductible payment obligation under said policy/policies.  The Board shall be 
an insured and the loss-payee under all policies required by this section, to the extent of its insurable interests. 

C. General Provisions: 

Within thirty (30) days of the execution of this Contract, Contractor shall deliver to the Board a certificate of 
insurance for liability coverage certifying that the insurance coverage required by this section has been 
obtained.   

Upon issuance of Notice to Proceed, Contractor shall deliver to the Board a certificate of insurance for property 
coverage certifying that the insurance coverage required by this section has been obtained.  

The Board reserves the right to review the insurance policies required by the section, to accept or reject them.  
Contractor at its sole cost has the obligation to replace or secure the coverage to replace policy provisions 
rejected by the Board.  Each policy shall contain a provision requiring the insurance carrier to notify the Board in 
writing at least seven (7) days prior to any policy cancellation, or any failure by the Contractor to pay the policy 
premiums, or of any lapse in coverage.  

The coverage required by this section shall be secured exclusively through insurance carriers licensed to do 
business in the State of Washington, and shall not be subject to any self-insured retained limits. 

100



 

«LegalName» Page 21  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

1.39. ESTABLISHMENT OF ADEQUATE RATES AND RESERVES 
Non-profit: 

The Contractor agrees to provide a resolution adopting rate increases, capital assessments, or both, for the 
services of the system that shall be sufficient to provide funds which, along with other revenues of the system, will 
pay all operating expenses and debt repayments during the term of the loan. 

For-profit: 

The Contractor agrees to obtain the Utilities and Transportation Commission approval of Drinking Water State 
Revolving State Fund loan surcharge and/or owner’s contribution that shall be sufficient to pay for debt 
repayments during the term of the loan. The Contractor shall furnish the Board a copy of the quarterly report 
submitted to the Utilities and Transportation Commission regarding the collection and distribution of funds 
dedicated for loan repayment throughout the term of the loan. 

All: 

In addition, the Contractor shall create, fund and maintain reserves at least as required by the Water System Plan 
or Small Water System Management Plan. The Board reserves the right, at any time, to request proof of 
compliance of these requirements from the Contractor. 

 
1.40. SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

If SPECIAL CONDITIONS are listed on the Contract Declarations Page then these conditions are herein 
incorporated as part of the terms and requirements of this contract. 

 
1.41. INVESTMENT GRADE AUDIT 

For projects involving repair, replacement, or improvement of a wastewater treatment plant, or other public works 
facility for which energy efficiency is obtainable, Contractor must undertake an investment grade audit per ESHB 
1497. 

Costs incurred as part of the investment grade audit are eligible project costs. 
 
1.42. BUY AMERICAN 

None of the funds made available to the Contractor shall be used for a project for the construction, alteration, 
maintenance, or repair of a public water system or treatment works unless all of the iron and steel products used in 
the project are produced in the United States.  This requirement applies to the entire project receiving a loan 
agreement executed after January 17, 2014.  Buy American does not apply to a project if the Department of Health 
approves the engineering plans and specifications for the project, in that agency's capacity to approve such plans 
and specifications prior to a project requesting bids, prior to January 17, 2014.  

Waiver of the Buy American requirement may be considered if:  1) compliance would be inconsistent with the public 
interest; or 2) the particular iron and steel products are not produced in the United States in sufficient and 
reasonably available quantities and/or the particular iron and steel products are not of a satisfactory quality; or 3) 
inclusion of iron and steel products produced in the United States will increase the cost of the overall project by 
more than 25 percent.  For consideration, a request for a waiver must be submitted to the Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA).   Contractors shall submit the waiver request to Commerce, which will then submit the request to 
EPA.    EPA will post the waiver request and any other information available to EPA concerning the waiver request, 
on EPA’s public Internet website and allow for informal public input on the request for at least 15 days prior to 
making a finding based on the request.  The full text of the Buy American requirements appears at H.R. 3547, 
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014. 

101



 

«LegalName» Page 22  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

Part 2.  GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
2.1. DEFINITIONS 

As used throughout this Contract, the following terms shall have the meaning set forth below: 

A. “Authorized Representative” shall mean the Public Works Board Chair and/or the designee authorized in writing 
to act on the Chair’s behalf. 

B. "Contractor" shall mean the entity identified on the face sheet performing service(s) under this Contract, and 
shall include all employees and agents of the Contractor. 

C. “Board” shall mean the  Washington State Public Works Board created in Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 
43.155.030, and which is a Party to the Contract 

D. “Personal Information” shall mean information identifiable to any person, including, but not limited to, 
information that relates to a person’s name, health, finances, education, business, use or receipt of 
governmental services or other activities, addresses, telephone numbers, social security numbers, driver 
license numbers, other identifying numbers, and any financial identifiers. 

E. ”State” shall mean the state of Washington. 

F. "Subcontractor" shall mean one not in the employment of the Contractor, who is performing all or part of those 
services under this Contract under a separate contract with the Contractor.  The terms “subcontractor” and 
“subcontractors” mean subcontractor(s) in any tier. 

 
2.2. ADMINISTRATIVE COST ALLOCATION 

Administrative costs that may be allowed are set forth in the Specific Terms and Conditions.  Administrative services 
shared by other programs shall be assigned to this Contract based on an allocation plan that reflects allowable 
administrative costs that support services provided under each Contract administered by the Contractor.  An 
approved current federal indirect cost rate may be applied up to the maximum administrative budget allowed.  

 
2.3. ALLOWABLE COSTS 

Costs allowable under this Contract are actual expenditures according to an approved budget up to the maximum 
amount stated on the Contract Award or Amendment Face Sheet. 

 
2.4. ALL WRITINGS CONTAINED HEREIN 

This Contract contains all the terms and conditions agreed upon by the parties. No other understandings, oral or 
otherwise, regarding the subject matter of this Contract shall be deemed to exist or to bind any of the parties hereto. 

 
2.5. AMENDMENTS 

This Contract may be amended by mutual agreement of the parties. Such amendments shall not be binding unless 
they are in writing and signed by personnel authorized to bind each of the parties. 

 
2.6. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) OF 1990, PUBLIC LAW 101-336, also referred to as the “ADA” 

28 CFR Part 35 
The Contractor must comply with the ADA, which provides comprehensive civil rights protection to individuals with 
disabilities in the areas of employment, public accommodations, state and local government services, and 
telecommunications. 

 
2.7. APPROVAL 

This contract shall be subject to the written approval of the Board’s Authorized Representative and shall not be 
binding until so approved.  The contract may be altered, amended, or waived only by a written amendment 
executed by both parties. 

 
2.8. ASSIGNMENT 

Neither this Contract, nor any claim arising under this Contract, shall be transferred or assigned by the Contractor 
without prior written consent of the Board. 

 

102



 

«LegalName» Page 23  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

2.9. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 
Unless expressly permitted under another provision of the Contract, in the event of litigation or other action brought 
to enforce Contract terms, each party agrees to bear its own attorneys fees and costs. 

 
2.10. AUDIT 

A. General Requirements 
Contractors are to procure audit services based on the following guidelines.   

The Contractor shall maintain its records and accounts so as to facilitate the audit requirement and shall ensure 
that Subcontractors also maintain auditable records.   

The Contractor is responsible for any audit exceptions incurred by its own organization or that of its 
Subcontractors.   

The Board reserves the right to recover from the Contractor all disallowed costs resulting from the audit. 

As applicable, Contractors required to have an audit must ensure the audits are performed in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS); Government Auditing Standards (the Revised Yellow Book) 
developed by the Comptroller General. 

Responses to any unresolved management findings and disallowed or questioned costs shall be included with 
the audit report.  The Contractor must respond to the Board requests for information or corrective action 
concerning audit issues within thirty (30) days of the date of request. 
 

B. Federal Funds Requirements - OMB Circular A-133 Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit 
Organizations 

Contractors expending $500,000 or more in a fiscal year in federal funds from all sources, direct and indirect, 
are required to have an audit conducted in accordance with Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Revised 
Circular A-133 “Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.”  Revised OMB A-133 
requires the Contractor to provide the auditor with a schedule of Federal Expenditure for the fiscal year(s) being 
audited.  When state funds are also to be paid under this Agreement a Schedule of State Financial Assistance 
must also be included.  Both schedules include: 

Grantor agency name  
Federal agency 
Federal program name 
Other identifying contract numbers 
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) number (if applicable) 
Grantor contract number 
Total award amount including amendments (total grant award) 
Current year expenditures 

If the Contractor is a state or local government entity, the Office of the State Auditor shall conduct the audit.  
Audits of non-profit organizations are to be conducted by a certified public accountant selected by the 
Contractor in accordance with OMB Circular A-110 “Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and 
Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education, Hospitals, and Other Non-Profit Organizations.” 

The Contractor shall include the above audit requirements in any subcontracts. 

In any case, the Contractor’s financial records must be available for review by the Board. 
 

C. Documentation Requirements 

The Contractor must send a copy of any required audit Reporting Package as described in OMB Circular A-133, 
Part C, Section 320(c) no later than nine (9) months after the end of the Contractor’s fiscal year(s) by sending a 
scanned copy to auditreview@commerce.wa.gov or by sending a hard copy to: 

Department of Commerce 
ATTN:  Audit Review and Resolution Office 
1011 Plum Street 
PO Box 42525 
Olympia WA 98504-2525 

In addition to sending a copy of the audit, when applicable, the Contractor must include: 

103

mailto:auditreview@commerce.wa.gov


 

«LegalName» Page 24  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

• Corrective action plan for audit findings within three (3) months of the audit being received by the Board.  
• Copy of the Management Letter. 

 
2.11. CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION OR INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY 

EXCLUSION—PRIMARY AND LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS 
A. Contractor, defined as the primary participant and it principals, certifies by signing these General Terms and 

Conditions that to the best of its knowledge and belief that they: 

1. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded 
from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency. 

2. Have not within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil judgment 
rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, 
attempting to obtain, or performing a public or private agreement or transaction, violation of Federal or State 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of 
records, making false statements, tax evasion, receiving stolen property, making false claims, or obstruction 
of justice; 

3. Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity (federal, 
state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (1)(b) of this section; and, 

4. Have not within a three-year period preceding the signing of this contract had one or more public 
transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause of default. 

B. Where the Contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this contract, the Contractor shall attach an 
explanation to this contract. 

C. The Contractor agrees by signing this contract that it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered 
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by the Board. 

D. The Contractor further agrees by signing this contract that it will include the clause titled “Certification Regarding 
Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion-Lower Tier Covered Transaction,” as follows, 
without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered 
transactions: 

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS 
a) The lower tier contractor certifies, by signing this contract that neither it nor its principals is presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation 
in this transaction by any Federal department or agency. 

b) Where the lower tier contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this contract, such contractor 
shall attach an explanation to this contract. 

E. The terms covered transaction, debarred, suspended, ineligible, lower tier covered transaction, person, primary 
covered transaction, principal, and voluntarily excluded, as used in this section, have the meanings set out in 
the Definitions and Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549.  You may contact the 
Board for assistance in obtaining a copy of these regulations.  

 
2.12. CODE REQUIREMENTS 

All construction and rehabilitation projects must satisfy the requirements of applicable local, state, and federal 
building, mechanical, plumbing, fire, energy and barrier-free codes.  Compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990, 28 C.F.R. Part 35 will be required, as specified by the local building Department. 

 
2.13. CONFIDENTIALITY/SAFEGUARDING OF INFORMATION 

A. “Confidential Information” as used in this section includes:  

1.  All material provided to the Contractor by the Board that is designated as “confidential” by the Board; 

2. All material produced by the Contractor that is designated as “confidential” by the Board; and  

3. All personal information in the possession of the Contractor that may not be disclosed under state or federal 
law. “Personal information” includes but is not limited to information related to a person’s name, health, 
finances, education, business, use of government services, addresses, telephone numbers, social security 

104



 

«LegalName» Page 25  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

number, driver’s license number and other identifying numbers, and “Protected Health Information” under 
the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA).  

B. The Contractor shall comply with all state and federal laws related to the use, sharing, transfer, sale, or 
disclosure of Confidential Information. The Contractor shall use Confidential Information solely for the purposes 
of this Contract and shall not use, share, transfer, sell or disclose any Confidential Information to any third party 
except with the prior written consent of the Board or as may be required by law. The Contractor shall take all 
necessary steps to assure that Confidential Information is safeguarded to prevent unauthorized use, sharing, 
transfer, sale or disclosure of Confidential Information or violation of any state or federal laws related thereto.  
Upon request, the Contractor shall provide the Board with its policies and procedures on confidentiality.  The 
Board may require changes to such policies and procedures as they apply to this Contract whenever the Board 
reasonably determines that changes are necessary to prevent unauthorized disclosures.  The Contractor shall 
make the changes within the time period specified by the Board.  Upon request, the Contractor shall 
immediately return to the Board any Confidential Information that the Board reasonably determines has not 
been adequately protected by the Contractor against unauthorized disclosure.  

C. Unauthorized Use or Disclosure. The Contractor shall notify the Board within five (5) working days of any 
unauthorized use or disclosure of any confidential information, and shall take necessary steps to mitigate the 
harmful effects of such use or disclosure.   

 
2.14. CONFORMANCE 

If any provision of this contract violates any statute or rule of law of the state of Washington, it is considered 
modified to conform to that statute or rule of law. 

 
2.15. COPYRIGHT PROVISIONS 

Unless otherwise provided, all Materials produced under this Contract shall be considered "works for hire" as 
defined by the U.S. Copyright Act and shall be owned by the Board.  The Board shall be considered the author of 
such Materials.  In the event the Materials are not considered “works for hire” under the U.S. Copyright laws, the 
Contractor hereby irrevocably assigns all right, title, and interest in all Materials, including all intellectual property 
rights, moral rights, and rights of publicity to the Board effective from the moment of creation of such Materials. 

“Materials” means all items in any format and includes, but is not limited to, data, reports, documents, pamphlets, 
advertisements, books, magazines, surveys, studies, computer programs, films, tapes, and/or sound reproductions.  
“Ownership” includes the right to copyright, patent, register and the ability to transfer these rights. 

For Materials that are delivered under the Contract, but that incorporate pre-existing materials not produced under 
the Contract, the Contractor hereby grants to the Board a nonexclusive, royalty-free, irrevocable license (with rights 
to sublicense to others) in such Materials to translate, reproduce, distribute, prepare derivative works, publicly 
perform, and publicly display.  The Contractor warrants and represents that the Contractor has all rights and 
permissions, including intellectual property rights, moral rights and rights of publicity, necessary to grant such a 
license to the Board. 

The Contractor shall exert all reasonable effort to advise the Board, at the time of delivery of Materials furnished 
under this Contract, of all known or potential invasions of privacy contained therein and of any portion of such 
document which was not produced in the performance of this Contract.  The Contractor shall provide the Board with 
prompt written notice of each notice or claim of infringement received by the Contractor with respect to any 
Materials delivered under this Contract.  The Board shall have the right to modify or remove any restrictive markings 
placed upon the Materials by the Contractor. 

 
2.16. DISALLOWED COSTS 

The Contractor is responsible for any audit exceptions or disallowed costs incurred by its own organization or that of 
its Subcontractors. 

 
2.17. DISPUTES 

Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, when a dispute arises between the parties and it cannot be resolved 
by direct negotiation, either party may request a dispute hearing with the Director of the  Board, who may designate 
a neutral person to decide the dispute. 

The request for a dispute hearing must: 

• be in writing; 
• state the disputed issues; 

105



 

«LegalName» Page 26  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

• state the relative positions of the parties; 
• state the Contractor's name, address, and Contract number; and 
• be mailed to the Director and the other party’s (respondent’s) Contract Representative within three (3) working 

days after the parties agree that they cannot resolve the dispute. 

The respondent shall send a written answer to the requestor’s statement to both the Director or the Director’s 
designee and the requestor within five (5) working days. 

The Director or designee shall review the written statements and reply in writing to both parties within ten (10) 
working days. The Director or designee may extend this period if necessary by notifying the parties. 

The decision shall not be admissible in any succeeding judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding. 

The parties agree that this dispute process shall precede any action in a judicial or quasi-judicial tribunal. 

Nothing in this Contract shall be construed to limit the parties’ choice of a mutually acceptable alternate dispute 
resolution (ADR) method in addition to the dispute hearing procedure outlined above.   

 
2.18. DUPLICATE PAYMENT 

The Contractor certifies that work to be performed under this contract does not duplicate any work to be charged 
against any other contract, subcontract, or other source.  

 
2.19. ETHICS/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

In performing under this Contract, the Contractor shall assure compliance with the Ethics in Public Service Act 
(Chapter 42.52 RCW) and any other applicable state or federal law related to ethics or conflicts of interest. 

 
2.20. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE 

This Contract shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the state of Washington, and the 
venue of any action brought hereunder shall be in the Superior Court for Thurston County. 

 
2.21. INDEMNIFICATION 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the state of 
Washington, the Board, all other agencies of the state and all officers, agents and employees of the state, from and 
against all claims or damages for injuries to persons or property or death arising out of or incident to the 
Contractor’s performance or failure to perform the Contract.  The Contractor’s obligation to indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless includes any claim by the Contractor’s agents, employees, representatives, or any Subcontractor or 
its agents, employees, or representatives.  

The Contractor’s obligation to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless shall not be eliminated by any actual or alleged 
concurrent negligence of the state or its agents, agencies, employees and officers. 

Subcontracts shall include a comprehensive indemnification clause holding harmless the Contractor, the Board, the 
state of Washington, its officers, employees and authorized agents. 

The Contractor waives its immunity under Title 51 RCW to the extent it is required to indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless the state and its agencies, officers, agents or employees. 

 
2.22. INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE CONTRACTOR 

The parties intend that an independent contractor relationship will be created by this Contract.  The Contractor and 
its employees or agents performing under this Contract are not employees or agents of the state of Washington or 
the Board.  The Contractor will not hold itself out as or claim to be an officer or employee of the Board or of the state 
of Washington by reason hereof, nor will the Contractor make any claim of right, privilege or benefit which would 
accrue to such officer or employee under law.  Conduct and control of the work will be solely with the Contractor. 

 
2.23. INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE COVERAGE 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable provisions of Title 51 RCW, Industrial Insurance.  If the Contractor 
fails to provide industrial insurance coverage or fails to pay premiums or penalties on behalf of its employees as 
may be required by law, The Board may collect from the Contractor the full amount payable to the Industrial 
Insurance Accident Fund.  The Board may deduct the amount owed by the Contractor to the accident fund from the 
amount payable to the Contractor by the Board under this Contract, and transmit the deducted amount to the 
Department of Labor and Industries, (L&I) Division of Insurance Services.  This provision does not waive any of 
L&I’s rights to collect from the Contractor.  

106



 

«LegalName» Page 27  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 
2.24. LAWS 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, codes, regulations, and policies of local, state, and 
federal governments, as now or hereafter amended, including, but not limited to: 

United States Laws, Regulations and Circulars (Federal) 

A. Audits 
Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Revised Circular A-133 “Audits of States, Local Governments, and 

Non-Profit Organizations.”   

B. Environmental Protection and Review 
Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972, 16 USC.§§1451-1464USCHUD’s implementing regulations at 24 CFR 

parts 50 or 58, as appropriate. 

Lead Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, 42 USC 4821-4846 also 24 CFR 982.401(j). 

National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, 42 USC 4321et seq. and the Implementing Regulations of 24 CFR 
58 (HUD) and 40 CFR 1500-1508 (Council on Environmental Quality) Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard 
Reduction Act of 1992, 42 USC 4851-4856. 

C. Flood Plains 
Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973, 42 USC 4001-4128. 

D. Labor and Safety Standards 
All Rental Units Assisted with Federal Funds Must Meet the Section 8 Housing Quality Standards (HQS) and 

Local Housing Code Requirements for the duration of the Affordability Period. 

Convict Labor, 18 USC 751, 752, 4081, 4082. 

Davis Bacon Act, 40 USC 276a-276a-5. 

Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, 41 USC 701 et seq. 

Federal Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 USC 201 et seq. 

Work Hours and Safety Act of 1962, 40 USC 327-330 and Department of Labor Regulations, 29 CFR Part 5. 

Title IV of the Lead Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, 42 USC 4831, 24 CFR Part 35. 

E. Laws against Discrimination 
Age Discrimination Act of 1975, Public Law 94-135, 42 USC 6101-07, 45 CFR Part 90 Nondiscrimination in 

Federally Assisted Programs. 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Public Law 101-336.  

Equal Employment Opportunity, Executive Order 11246, as amended by Executive Order 11375 and 
supplemented in U.S. Department of Labor Regulations, 41 CFR Chapter 60. 

Executive Order 11246, as amended by EO 11375, 11478, 12086 and 12102. 

Fair Housing Act (42 USC 3601-19) and implementing regulations at 24 CFR part 100.Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and implementing regulations at 24 CFR part 8. 

Fair Housing, Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, Public Law 90-284, 42 USC 3601-19. 

Handicapped Employees of Government Contractors, Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 503, 29 USC 793. 

Handicapped Recipients of Federal Financial Assistance, Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 504, 29 USC 794. 

Minority Business Enterprises, Executive Order 11625, 15 USC 631. 

Minority Business Enterprise Development, Executive Order 12432, 48 FR 32551. 

Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity, 24 CFR 5.105(a). 

Nondiscrimination in benefits, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Public Law 88-352, 42 USC 2002d et seq, 
24 CFR Part 1. 

Nondiscrimination in employment, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Public Law 88-352. 

Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Programs. 

107



 

«LegalName» Page 28  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

Nondiscrimination in Federally Assisted Construction Contracts, Executive Order 11246, 42 USC 2000e, as 
amended by Executive Order 11375, 41 CFR Chapter 60. 

Section 3, Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, 12 USC 1701u (See 24 CFR 570.607(b)). 

F. Office of Management and Budget Circulars 
Cost Principles for State, Local and Indian Tribal Governments, OMB Circular A-87, 2 CFR, Part 225.  

Cost Principles for Nonprofit Organizations, OMB Circular A-122, (if the Contractor is a nonprofit organization). 

Grants and Cooperative Agreements with State and Local Governments, OMB Circular A-102, (if the Contractor 
is a local government or federally recognized Indian tribal government). 

Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Other Agreements with Institutions of Higher Education, 
Hospitals and Other Nonprofit Organizations, OMB Circular A-110.  

G. Other 
Anti-Kickback Act, 18 USC 874; 40 USC 276b, 276c; 41 USC 51-54. 

H.R. 3547, Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014. 

Governmental Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying; Interim Final Guidance, Federal Register 1, Vol. 54, 
No. 243\Wednesday, December 20, 1989. 

Hatch Political Activity Act, 5 USC 1501-8. 

Lobbying and Disclosure, 42 USC 3537a and 3545 and 31 USC 1352 (Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment). 31 
USC 1352 provides that Contractors who apply or bid for an award of $100,000 or more must file the 
required certification.  Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not used Federal 
appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of any agency, a member of Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 
member of Congress in connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or other award covered by 31 
USC 1352.  Each tier must disclose any lobbying with non-Federal funds that takes place in connection with 
obtaining any Federal award.  Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to the recipient. 

Non-Supplanting Federal Funds. 

Section 8 Housing Assistance Payments Program. 

H. Privacy 
Privacy Act of 1974, 5 USC 522a. 

I. Relocation 
Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policy Act of 1970 and implementing regulations 

at 49 CFR part 24. 

Section 104(d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974 and the implementing regulations at 
24 CRF part 570. 

Washington State Laws and Regulations 
A. Affirmative Action, RCW 41.06.020 . 
B. Boards of Directors or Officers of Non-Profit Corporations – Liability - Limitations, RCW 4.24.264. 
C. Disclosure-Campaign Finances-Lobbying, Chapter 42.17 RCW.  
D. Discrimination-Human Rights Commission, Chapter 49.60 RCW. 
E. Ethics in Public Service, Chapter 42.52 RCW. 
F. Affordable Housing Program, Chapter 43.185 RCW 
G. Interlocal Cooperation Act, Chapter 39.34 RCW. 
H. Noise Control, Chapter 70.107 RCW. 
I. Office of Minority and Women’s Business Enterprises, Chapter 39.19 RCW and Chapter 326-02 WAC. 
J. Open Public Meetings act, Chapter 42.30 RCW.  
K. Prevailing Wages on Public Works, Chapter 39.12 RCW.  
L. Public Records Act, Chapter 42.56 RCW. 
M. Relocation Assistance - Real Property Acquisition Policy, Chapter 8.26 RCW. 

108



 

«LegalName» Page 29  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

N. Shoreline Management Act of 1971, Chapter 90.58 RCW.  
O. State Budgeting, Accounting, and Reporting System, Chapter 43.88 RCW. 
P. State Building Code, Chapter 19.27 RCW and Energy-Related Building Standards, Chapter 19.27A RCW, and 

Provisions in Buildings for Aged and Handicapped Persons, Chapter 70.92 RCW. 
Q. State Coastal Zone Management Program Section 309 Assessment and Strategy (Publication 01-06-003), 

Shorelands and Environmental Assistance Program, Washington State Department of Ecology. 
R. State Environmental Policy, Chapter 43.21C RCW. 
S. State Executive Order 05-05, Archeological and Cultural Resources. 

 
2.25. LICENSING, ACCREDITATION AND REGISTRATION 

The Contractor shall comply with all applicable local, state, and federal licensing, accreditation and registration 
requirements or standards necessary for the performance of this Contract.  

 
2.26. LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY 

Only the Authorized Representative or Authorized Representative’s designee by writing (designation to be made 
prior to action) shall have the express, implied, or apparent authority to alter, amend, modify, or waive any clause or 
condition of this Contract.  

 
2.27. LOCAL PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION COORDINATION 

Where applicable, Contractor shall participate in local public transportation forums and implement strategies 
designed to ensure access to services. 

 
2.28. NONCOMPLIANCE WITH NONDISCRIMINATION LAWS 

During the performance of this Contract, the Contractor shall comply with all federal, state, and local 
nondiscrimination laws, regulations and policies. In the event of the Contractor’s non-compliance or refusal to 
comply with any nondiscrimination law, regulation or policy, this contract may be rescinded, canceled or terminated 
in whole or in part, and the Contractor may be declared ineligible for further contracts with the Board.  The 
Contractor shall, however, be given a reasonable time in which to cure this noncompliance. Any dispute may be 
resolved in accordance with the “Disputes” procedure set forth herein.  

 
2.29. NOTIFICATION OF TENANT RIGHTS/RESPONSIBILITIES 

The Contractor shall provide all tenants, if any, with information outlining tenant rights and responsibilities under the 
Washington State Landlord Tenant laws, Title 59, Revised Code of Washington. 

The Contractor shall also provide all occupants of property acquired with U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) funds notice regarding their eligibility for relocation assistance.  Such notices will be provided 
as required by the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Act of 1970, as amended and 
referenced in 49 CFR part 24 and Section 104(d) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as 
amended and referenced in 24 CFR 570 and noted in HUD’s Handbook No. 1378.  Notifications will include but not 
be limited to: 

• General Information Notice 
• Notice of Displacement/Non-Displacement 

 
2.30. POLITICAL ACTIVITIES 

Political activity of Contractor employees and officers are limited by the State Campaign Finances and Lobbying 
provisions of Chapter 42.17 RCW and the Federal Hatch Act, 5 USC 1501 - 1508.  

No funds may be used for working for or against ballot measures or for or against the candidacy of any person for 
public office. 

 
2.31. PREVAILING WAGE LAWS 

All contractors and subcontractors performing work on a construction project funded through this agreement shall 
comply with prevailing wage laws by paying the higher of state or federal prevailing wages according to: 

State Prevailing Wages on Public Works, Chapter 39.12 RCW, as applicable to the Project funded by this contract, 
including but not limited to the filing of the “Statement of Intent to Pay Prevailing Wages” and “Affidavit of Wages 
Paid” as required by RCW 39.12.040.  The Contractor shall maintain records sufficient to evidence compliance with 
Chapter 39.12 RCW, and shall make such records available for the Board’s review upon request; or 

109



 

«LegalName» Page 30  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

The Davis Bacon Act, 40 USC 276a-276a-5 and related federal acts provide that all laborers and mechanics 
employed by contractors or subcontractors in the performance shall be paid wages at rates not less than those 
prevailing on similar construction in the locality as determined by the Secretary of Labor. 

 
2.32. PROCUREMENT STANDARDS FOR FEDERALLY FUNDED PROGRAMS 

A Contractor which is a local government or Indian Tribal government must establish procurement policies and 
procedures in accordance with OMB Circulars A-102, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants in Aid for 
State and Local Governments, for all purchases funded by this Contract. 

A Contractor which is a nonprofit organization shall establish procurement policies in accordance with OMB Circular 
A-110, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Agreements with Nonprofit Agencies, for all purchases 
funded by this Contract. 

The Contractor’s procurement system should include at least the following: 

1. A code or standard of conduct that shall govern the performance of its officers, employees, or agents engaged 
in the awarding of contracts using federal funds. 

2. Procedures that ensure all procurement transactions shall be conducted in a manner to provide, to the 
maximum extent practical, open and free competition. 

3. Minimum procedural requirements, as follows: 
a. Follow a procedure to assure the avoidance of purchasing unnecessary or duplicative items. 
b. Solicitations shall be based upon a clear and accurate description of the technical requirements of the 

procured items. 
c. Positive efforts shall be made to use small and minority-owned businesses. 
d. The type of procuring instrument (fixed price, cost reimbursement) shall be determined by the Contractor, 

but must be appropriate for the particular procurement and for promoting the best interest of the program 
involved. 

e. Contracts shall be made only with reasonable subcontractors who possess the potential ability to perform 
successfully under the terms and conditions of the proposed procurement. 

f. Some form of price or cost analysis should be performed in connection with every procurement action.   
g. Procurement records and files for purchases shall include all of the following: 

1) Contractor selection or rejection. 
2) The basis for the cost or price. 
3) Justification for lack of competitive bids if offers are not obtained. 

h. A system for contract administration to ensure Contractor conformance with terms, conditions and 
specifications of this Contract, and to ensure adequate and timely follow-up of all purchases. 

4. Contractor and Subcontractor must receive prior approval from the Board for using funds from this Contract to 
enter into a sole source contract or a contract where only one bid or proposal is received when value of this 
contract is expected to exceed $5,000. 
Prior approval requests shall include a copy of proposed contracts and any related procurement documents and 
justification for non-competitive procurement, if applicable. 

 
2.33. PROHIBITION AGAINST PAYMENT OF BONUS OR COMMISSION 

The funds provided under this Contract shall not be used in payment of any bonus or commission for the purpose of 
obtaining approval of the application for such funds or any other approval or concurrence under this Contract 
provided, however, that reasonable fees or bona fide technical consultant, managerial, or other such services, other 
than actual solicitation, are not hereby prohibited if otherwise eligible as project costs.  

 
2.34. PUBLICITY 

The Contractor agrees not to publish or use any advertising or publicity materials in which the state of Washington 
or the Board’s name is mentioned, or language used from which the connection with the state of Washington’s or 
the Board’s name may reasonably be inferred or implied, without the prior written consent of the Board.  

 
2.35. RECAPTURE 

In the event that the Contractor fails to perform this contract in accordance with state laws, federal laws, and/or the 
provisions of this contract, The Board reserves the right to recapture funds in an amount to compensate the Board 
for the noncompliance in addition to any other remedies available at law or in equity.  

110



 

«LegalName» Page 31  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

Repayment by the Contractor of funds under this recapture provision shall occur within the time period specified by 
the Board. In the alternative, The Board may recapture such funds from payments due under this contract. 

 
2.36. RECORDS MAINTENANCE 

The Contractor shall maintain all books, records, documents, data and other evidence relating to this Contract and 
performance of the services described herein, including but not limited to accounting procedures and practices 
which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs of any nature expended in the performance of this 
Contract.  Contractor shall retain such records for a period of six years following the date of final payment.   

If any litigation, claim or audit is started before the expiration of the six (6) year period, the records shall be retained 
until all litigation, claims, or audit findings involving the records have been finally resolved. 

 
2.37. REGISTRATION WITH DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 

If required by law, the Contractor shall complete registration with the Washington State Department of Revenue.  
 
2.38. RIGHT OF INSPECTION 

At no additional cost all records relating to the Contractor’s performance under this Contract shall be subject at all 
reasonable times to inspection, review, and audit by the Board, the Office of the State Auditor, and federal and state 
officials so authorized by law, in order to monitor and evaluate performance, compliance, and quality assurance 
under this Contract. The Contractor shall provide access to its facilities for this purpose.  

 
2.39. SAVINGS 

In the event funding from state, federal, or other sources is withdrawn, reduced, or limited in any way after the 
effective date of this Contract and prior to normal completion, The Board may terminate the Contract under the 
"Termination for Convenience" clause, without the ten business day notice requirement.  In lieu of termination, the 
Contract may be amended to reflect the new funding limitations and conditions.  

 
2.40. SEVERABILITY 

If any provision of this Contract or any provision of any document incorporated by reference shall be held invalid, 
such invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this Contract that can be given effect without the invalid 
provision, if such remainder conforms to the requirements of law and the fundamental purpose of this Contract and 
to this end the provisions of this Contact are declared to be severable.  

 
2.41. SUBCONTRACTING 

The Contractor may only subcontract work contemplated under this Contract if it obtains the prior written approval of 
the Board. 

If the Board approves subcontracting, the Contractor shall maintain written procedures related to subcontracting, as 
well as copies of all subcontracts and records related to subcontracts.  For cause, the Board in writing may: (a) 
require the Contractor to amend its subcontracting procedures as they relate to this Contract; (b) prohibit the 
Contractor from subcontracting with a particular person or entity; or (c) require the Contractor to rescind or amend a 
subcontract. 

Every subcontract shall bind the Subcontractor to follow all applicable terms of this Contract. The Contractor is 
responsible to the Board if the Subcontractor fails to comply with any applicable term or condition of this Contract. 
The Contractor shall appropriately monitor the activities of the Subcontractor to assure fiscal conditions of this 
Contract. In no event shall the existence of a subcontract operate to release or reduce the liability of the Contractor 
to the Board for any breach in the performance of the Contractor’s duties. 

Every subcontract shall include a term that the Board and the State of Washington are not liable for claims or 
damages arising from a Subcontractor’s performance of the subcontract. 

 
2.42. SURVIVAL 

The terms, conditions, and warranties contained in this Contract that by their sense and context are intended to 
survive the completion of the performance, cancellation or termination of this Contract shall so survive.  

 
2.43. TAXES 

All payments accrued on account of payroll taxes, unemployment contributions, the Contractor’s income or gross 
receipts, any other taxes, insurance or expenses for the Contractor or its staff shall be the sole responsibility of the 
Contractor.  

111



 

«LegalName» Page 32  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 
2.44. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE / SUSPENSION 

In event the Board determines that the Contractor failed to comply with any term or condition of this Contract, the 
Board may terminate the Contract in whole or in part upon written notice to the Contractor.  Such termination shall 
be deemed “for cause.” Termination shall take effect on the date specified in the notice.  

In the alternative, the Board upon written notice may allow the Contractor a specific period of time in which to 
correct the non-compliance.  During the corrective-action time period, the Board may suspend further payment to 
the Contractor in whole or in part, or may restrict the Contractor’s right to perform duties under this Contract.  
Failure by the Contractor to take timely corrective action shall allow the Board to terminate the Contract upon written 
notice to the Contractor. 

“Termination for Cause” shall be deemed a “Termination for Convenience” when the Board determines that the 
Contractor did not fail to comply with the terms of the Contract or when the Board determines the failure was not 
caused by the Contractor’s actions or negligence. 

If the Contract is terminated for cause, the Contractor shall be liable for damages as authorized by law, including, 
but not limited to, any cost difference between the original contract and the replacement contract, as well as all 
costs associated with entering into the replacement contract (i.e., competitive bidding, mailing, advertising, and staff 
time). 

 
2.45. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 

Except as otherwise provided in this Contract, the Board may, by ten (10) business days written notice, beginning 
on the second day after the mailing, terminate this Contract, in whole or in part.  If this Contract is so terminated, the 
Board shall be liable only for payment required under the terms of this Contract for services rendered or goods 
delivered prior to the effective date of termination.  

 
2.46. TERMINATION PROCEDURES 

After receipt of a notice of termination, except as otherwise directed by the Board, the Contractor shall:  

A. Stop work under the Contract on the date, and to the extent specified, in the notice; 
B. Place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, services, or facilities related to the Contract; 
C. Assign to the Board all of the rights, title, and interest of the Contractor under the orders and subcontracts so 

terminated, in which case the Board has the right, at its discretion, to settle or pay any or all claims arising out of 
the termination of such orders and subcontracts.  Any attempt by the Contractor to settle such claims must have 
the prior written approval of the Board; and 

D. Preserve and transfer any materials, contract deliverables and/or the Board property in the Contractor’s 
possession as directed by the Board. 

Upon termination of the Contract, the Board shall pay the Contractor for any service provided by the Contractor 
under the Contract prior to the date of termination.  The Board may withhold any amount due as the Board 
reasonably determines is necessary to protect the Board against potential loss or liability resulting from the 
termination.  The Board shall pay any withheld amount to the Contractor if the Board later determines that loss or 
liability will not occur. 

The rights and remedies of the Board under this section are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided 
under this Contract or otherwise provided under law. 

 
2.47. WAIVER 

Waiver of any default or breach shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default or breach.  Any 
waiver shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this Contract unless stated to be such in writing 
and signed by Authorized Representative of the Board.  

 
2.48. WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS 

The Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 USC 327-333)-Where applicable, all contracts awarded by 
recipients in excess of $100,000 for construction and other purposes that involve the employment of mechanics or 
laborers must include a provision for compliance with Section 102 and 107 of the Contract Work Hours Safety 
Standards Act (40 USC 327-333), as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations (29 CFR part 5).  Under 
Section 102 of the Act, each subcontractor is required to compute the wages of every mechanic and laborer on the 
basis of a standard work week of 40 hours.  Work in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided that 
the worker is compensated at a rate of not less than 1 ½ times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess 

112



 

«LegalName» Page 33  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

of 40 hours in the work week.  Section 107 of the Act is applicable to construction work and provides that no laborer 
or mechanic is required to work in surroundings or under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous, or 
dangerous.  These requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles ordinarily 
available on the open market, or contracts for transportation or transmission of intelligence. 

 

113



 

«LegalName» Page 34  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014 DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 

114



 

«LegalName» Page 35 Attachment I: Promissory Note  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 
 

ATTACHMENT I:  PROMISSORY NOTE  

DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND 
(NON-MUNICIPAL) 

 
Contractor: «LegalName» 
Loan Number: «LoanNumber» 
Amount: $«ndbNewLoanAmountExec» 
 
The above named Contractor promises to pay to the order of the Washington State Public Works Board (the Board) the 
principal sum declared above, along with any accrued interest to date at a rate specified in the attached Declarations 
Page as INTEREST RATE per annum.  The Project Completion Amendment shall serve as an amendment to this 
Promissory Note determining the final loan amount and term of the loan. The term of the loan shall not exceed the period 
specified on the Declarations Page as LOAN TERM, beginning at contract execution with the final payment due on or 
before the date specified in the Contract Face Sheet as the Contract End Date. 
 
An assistance recipient begins annual repayment of principal and interest no later than one year after contract execution.  
The first repayment installment is due on the first day of the month shown as PAYMENT MONTH on the Declarations 
Page. Interest only will be charged for this first payment if a draw is made prior to this date. All subsequent payments shall 
consist of principal and accrued interest due that month of each year during the remaining term of the loan. 
 
The Contractor has the right to repay the unpaid balance of the loan in full at any time or make accelerated payments without 
penalty. 
 
The Contractor will repay the loan in accordance with the preceding conditions through the use of a check, money order, 
or equivalent means made payable to the Washington State Department of Commerce, or its successor. 
 
Default in the payment of any installment of principal or interest, at the option of the Board, shall render the whole amount 
due and payable, whether due by lapse of time or not, time being of the essence of this agreement.  Failure to exercise 
this option shall not constitute a waiver of the right to exercise the same at any other time. 
 
Default under this note is defined in the Loan Contract Section 1.14.  Upon default, this note shall bear interest at the rate 
specified in the Loan Contract. 
 
Should any action be brought for the collection of any principal or interest due under this note, the undersigned promises 
to pay all costs thereof, including such additional sum as attorneys’ fees, as the court may adjudge reasonable. 
 
The makers and endorsers severally waive presentment, protest, and demand, notice of protest, demand, or dishonor and 
nonpayment of this note, and expressly agree that this note, or any payment hereunder, may be extended from time to 
time without in any way affecting the liability of the makers and endorsers hereof. 
 
This note is to be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington and policies of the 
Drinking Water State Revolving Fund. 
 
______________________________________  _____________________________________ 
Signature       Date 
 
______________________________________  _____________________________________ 
Print Name       Title 

115



 

«LegalName» Page 36 Attachment I: Promissory Note  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 
 

 

116



 

«LegalName» Page 37 Attachment II: Federal and State Requirements  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT II:  FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS  

1) Environmental Authorities 
a) Archeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974, Public Law 86-523 as amended 
b) Clean Air Act, Public Law 84-159 as amended 
c) Coastal Zone Management Act, Public Law 92-583 as amended 
d) Endangered Species Act, Public Law 93-205 as amended 
e) Environmental Justice, Executive Order 12898 
f) Floodplain Management, Executive Order 11988 as amended by Executive Order 12148 
g) Protection of Wetlands, Executive Order 11990 
h) Farmland Protection Policy Act, Public Law 97-98 
i) Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act, Public Law 85-624 as amended 
j) National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, Public Law 89-665 as amended 
k) Safe Drinking Water Act, Public Law 93-523 as amended 
l) Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, Public Law 90-542 as amended 

 
2) Economic and Miscellaneous Authorities 

a) Demonstration Cities and Metropolitan Development Act of 1996, Public Law 89-754 as amended, Executive 
Order 12372 

b) Procurement Prohibitions under Section 306 of the Clean air Act and Section 508 of the Clean Water Act, 
including Executive Order 11738, Administration of the Clean Air Act and the Federal Water Pollution Control 
Ac with Respect to Federal Contracts, Grants, or Loans 

c) Uniform Relocation and Real Property Policies Act, Public Law 91-646 as amended 
d) Debarment and Suspension, Executive Order 12549 
e) H.R. 3547, Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2014. 

 
3) Social Policy Authorities 

a) Age Discrimination Act of 1975, Public Law 94-135 
b) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Public Law 88-352 
c) Section 13 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, Public Law 92-500 (the Clean 

Water Act) 
d) Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Public Law 93-112 (including Executive Orders 11914 and 

11250) 
e) Equal Employment Opportunity, Executive Order 11246 
f) Disadvantaged Business Enterprise, Public Law 101-549 (the Clean Air Act), and Public Law 102-389 (the 

Clean Water Act) 
g) Section 129 of the Small Business Administration Reauthorization and Amendment Act of 1988, Public Law 

100-590 
 
4) State Laws 

a) Chapter 36.70A RCW, Growth Management Act 
b) Chapter 39.80 RCW, Contracts for Architectural and Engineering Services 
c) Chapter 39.12 RCW, Washington State Public Works Act 
d) Chapter 43.20 RCW, State Board of Health 
e) Chapter 43.70 RCW, Department of Health 
f) Chapter 43.155 RCW, Public Works Project 
g) Chapter 70.116 RCW, Public Water Systems Coordination Act of 1977 
h) Chapter 70.119 RCW, Public Water Supply Systems Certification and Regulation of Operations 
i) Chapter 70.119A RCW, Public Water Systems, Penalties & Compliances 
j) Chapter 246-290 WAC, Group A Public Water Systems 
k) Chapter 246-291 WAC, Group B Public Water Systems 
l) Chapter 246-292 WAC, Waterworks Operator Certification Regulations 
m) Chapter 246-293 WAC, Water Systems Coordination Act 
n) Chapter 246-294 WAC, Drinking Water Operating Permits 
o) Chapter 246-295 WAC, Satellite System Management Agencies 
p) Chapter 246-296 WAC Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan Program 
q) Chapter 173-160 WAC, Minimum Standards for Construction & Maintenance of Wells 
r) Title 173 WAC, Department of Ecology Rules 
s) Title 40 Part 141 Code of Federal Regulations, Federal National Primary Drinking Water Regulations (Section 

Adopted by Reference) 

117



 

«LegalName» Page 38 Attachment II: Federal and State Requirements  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

118



 

«LegalName» Page 39 Attachment III: DBE Requirements  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT III:  DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE 
REQUIREMENTS  

GENERAL COMPLIANCE, 40 CFR, Part 33 
The Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of Environmental Protection Agency's Program for Utilization 
of Small, Minority and Women's Business Enterprises (MBE/WBE) in procurement under this Contract, contained in 
40 CFR, Part 33. 
 
FAIR SHARE OBJECTIVES, 40 CFR, Part 33, Subpart D 
The following are exemptions from the fair share objective Requirements: 

• Grant and loan recipients receiving a total of $250K or less in EPA financial assistance in a given fiscal year. 
• Tribal recipients of Performance Partnership Eligible grants under 40 CFR Part 35, Subpart B. 

o There is a 3-year phase in period for the requirement to negotiate fair share goals for Tribal and 
Insular Area recipients. 

• Recipients of Technical Assistance Grants. 

The Fair Share Objectives or goals for the utilization of disadvantaged businesses negotiated with EPA by the WA 
Office of Minority Women Business are stated below. 

Construction 10% MBE 6% WBE 
Supplies 8% MBE 4% WBE 
Equipment 8% MBE 4% WBE 
Purchased Services 10% MBE 4% WBE 

By signing this Contract, the Contractor is accepting the fair share objectives/goals stated above and attests to the 
fact that it is purchasing the same or similar construction, supplies, services and equipment, in the same or similar 
relevant geographic buying market as WA Office of Minority Women Business goal is being adopted. 
 
SIX GOOD FAITH EFFORTS, 40 CFR, Part 33, Subpart C 
Pursuant to 40 CFR, Section 33.301, the Contractor agrees to make the following good faith efforts whenever 
procuring construction, equipment, services and supplies under an EPA financial assistance agreement, and to 
ensure that sub-recipients, loan recipients, and prime contractors also comply. 

Records documenting compliance with the six good faith efforts shall be retained. The six good faith efforts shall 
include: 

A. Ensure Disadvantaged Business Enterprises are made aware of contracting opportunities to the fullest extent 
practicable through outreach and recruitment activities. For Indian Tribal, State and Local Government 
recipients, this will include placing the Disadvantaged Business Enterprises on solicitation lists and soliciting 
them whenever they are potential sources. 

B. Make information on forthcoming opportunities available to Disadvantaged Business Enterprises and arrange 
time frames for contracts and establish delivery schedules, where the requirements permit, in a way that 
encourages and facilitates participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in the competitive process. 
This includes, whenever possible, posting solicitations for bids or proposals for a minimum of thirty (30) 
calendar days before the bid or proposal closing date. 

C. Consider in the contracting process whether firms competing for large contracts could subcontract with 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprises. For Indian Tribal, State and Local Government recipients, this will 
include dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into smaller tasks or quantities to permit 
maximum participation by Disadvantaged Business Enterprises in the competitive process.  

D. Encourage contracting with a consortium of Disadvantaged Business Enterprises when a contract is too large 
for one of these firms to handle individually. 

E. Use the services and assistance of the Small Business Administration and the Minority Business 
Development Agency of the Department of Commerce. 

F. If the prime contractor awards subcontracts, also require the prime contractor to take the five good faith 
efforts in paragraphs A through E above.  

 
 

119



 

«LegalName» Page 40 Attachment III: DBE Requirements  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

MBE/WBE REPORTING, 40 CFR, Part 33, Sections 33.502 and 33.503 
Contractor is required to submit MBE/WBE participation reports to the Board and/or the Department of Health, on a 
quarterly basis, beginning with the Federal fiscal year reporting period the Contractor receives the award and 
continuing until the project is completed. 
 
CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION PROVISIONS, 40 CFR, Section 33.302 
The Contractor agrees to comply with the contract administration provisions of 40 CFR, Section 33.302. 

The Contractor agrees to require all general contractors to provide forms: EPA Form 6100-2 DBE Subcontractor 
Participation Form and EPA Form 6100-3 DBE Subcontractor Performance Form to all its Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise subcontractors, engineers, vendors, and any other entity for work or services listed in the declared SCOPE 
OF WORK. These two (2) forms may be obtained from the EPA Office of Small Business Program’s website on the 
internet at http://www.epa.gov/osbp/grants.htm.  

The Contractor agrees to require all general contractors to complete and submit to the Contractor and Environmental 
Protection Agency EPA Form 6100-4 DBE Subcontractor Utilization Form beginning with the Federal fiscal year 
reporting period the Contractor receives the award and continuing until the project is completed. Only procurements 
with certified MBE/WBEs are counted toward a Contractor’s MBE/WBE accomplishments.  
 

BIDDERS LIST, 40 CFR, Section 33.501(b) and (c) 
The Contractor is also required to create and maintain a bidders list if the Contractor of the loan is subject to, or 
chooses to follow, competitive bidding requirements. Please see 40 CFR, Section 33.501 (b) and (c) for specific 
requirements and exemptions. 

Section 33.501(b) of the rule is as follows: 

A recipient of a Continuing Environmental Program Grant or other annual grant must create and maintain a bidders 
list. In addition, a recipient of an EPA financial assistance agreement to capitalize a revolving loan fund also must 
require entities receiving identified loans to create and maintain a bidders list if the recipient of the loan is subject to, 
or chooses to follow, competitive bidding requirements. The purpose of a bidders list is to provide the recipient and 
entities receiving identified loans who conduct competitive bidding with as accurate a database as possible about the 
universe of MBE/WBE and non-MBE/WBE prime and subcontractors. The list must include all firms that bid or quote 
on prime contracts or bid or quote on subcontracts under EPA assisted projects, including both MBE/WBEs. 

The bidders list must be kept until the grant project period has expired and the recipient is no longer receiving EPA 
funding under the grant. For entities receiving identified loans, the bidders list must be kept until the project period for 
the identified loan has ended. The following information must be obtained from all prime and subcontractors: 

(1) Entity’s name with point of contact; 
(2) Entity’s mailing address, telephone number, and e-mail address; 
(3) The procurement on which the entity bid or quoted, and when; and 
(4) Entity’s status as a MBE/WBE1 or non-MBE/WBE. 

The exemption found at § 33.501(c) is as follows: 

A recipient of an EPA financial assistance agreement in the amount of $250,000 or less for any single assistance 
agreement, or of more than one financial assistance agreement with a combined total of $250,000 or less in any one 
fiscal year, is exempt from the paragraph (b) of this section requirement to create and maintain a bidders list. Also, a 
recipient under the CWSRF, DWSRF, or BCRLF Program is not required to apply the paragraph (b) of this section 
bidders list requirement of this subpart to an entity receiving an identified loan in an amount of $250,000 or less, or to 
an entity receiving more than one identified loan with a combined total of $250,000 or less in any one fiscal year. This 
exemption is limited to the paragraph (b) of this section bidders list requirements of this subpart. 

 

                                                      
1 Qualified Women and Minority business enterprises may be found on the Internet at www.omwbe.wa.gov or by contacting the Washington State 
Office of Minority and Women’s Enterprises at 360-704-1181. 

120

http://www.epa.gov/osbp/grants.htm
http://www.omwbe.wa.gov/


 

«LegalName» Page 41 Attachment IV: Certification Regarding Debarment   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 ATTACHMENT IV: CERTIFICATION REGARDING  
DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS 

 
 
 

United States Environmental Protection Agency 
Washington, DC 20460  

 
The prospective participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and the principals:  

(a)  Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;  

(b)  Have not within a three year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered 
against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or 
performing a public (Federal, State, or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction: violation of Federal 
or State antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of 
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;  

(c)  Are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity (Federal, State, or local) 
with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (1)(b) of this certification; and  

(d)  Have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public transactions 
(Federal, State, or local) terminated for cause or default.  

I understand that a false statement on this certification may be ground for rejection of this proposal or termination of 
the award. In addition, under 18 USC Sec. 1001, a false statement may result in a fine of up to $10,000 or 
imprisonment for up to 5 years, or both.  

Typed Name & Title of Authorized Representative  

__________________________________________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Representative     Date  
 
 

I am unable to certify to the above statements.  My explanation is attached.  
 

 
EPA Form 5700-49 (11-88) 

121



 

«LegalName» Page 42 Attachment IV: Certification Regarding Debarment   
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 

122



 

«LegalName» Page 43 Attachment V: DWSRF Eligible Project Costs  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT V:  DWSRF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS  

Must be directly attributable to the project. 
1. The costs for complying with the Uniform Relocation 

Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies 
Act of 1970. 

2. DWSRF loan fees. 
3. The purchase of a portion of another system’s 

capacity, if it is the most cost effective solution 
(limited to publicly owned (municipal) systems). 

4. Construction of reservoirs (clear wells) that are part 
of the treatment process and are collocated with the 
treatment facility. 

5. Construction of distribution reservoirs (finished 
water). 

6. Cost associated with restructuring or consolidation of 
existing water systems by publicly owned water 
systems. 

7. Main extensions to connect to safe and reliable 
sources of drinking water. 

8. Cost associated with collecting and preparing 
environmental assessment documents to obtain local 
permits. 

9. Direct labor including related employee benefits: 
a. Salaries and wages (at actual or average rates) 

covering productive labor hours of employees of 
the borrower (excluding the administrative 
organization of the operating unit involved) for 
periods of time actively or incidentally engaged 
in pre-design engineering, design engineering, 
construction engineering, acquisition of rights of 
way, and the cleaning, sterilization or 
bacteriological testing of water system 
components prior to public use. The costs of 
services rendered by employees generally 
classified as administration/project management 
of the loan are considered a direct cost only 
when such employees are assigned the types of 
services described above and shall be limited to 
3% or less of the project loan amount. 

b. Employee benefits relating to labor are 
considered a direct cost of construction projects. 
The following items may be included as 
employee benefits: 
• F.I.C.A. (Social Security) –employer’s share. 
• Retirement benefits. 
• Hospital, health, dental, and other welfare 

insurance. 
• Life insurance. 
• Industrial and medical insurance. 
• Vacation. 
• Holiday. 
• Sick leave. 
• Military leave and jury duty. 

Employee benefits must be calculated as a 
percentage of direct labor dollars. The 
computation of predetermined percentage rates 
to be applied to current labor costs must be 
based on the average of total employee benefits 
and total labor costs for the prior fiscal year and 
adjusted by known current year variations. 

c. Other than work identified in Number 9.a, no 
costs associated with labor performed by the 
borrower’s employees, including force account 
work, are eligible for financing assistance. 

10. Contract engineering, planning, design, legal, and 
financial planning services. The Board reserves the 
right to declare ineligible legal costs that are 
unreasonable and disproportionate to the project. 

11. Contract construction work. 
12. Direct vehicle and equipment charges at the actual 

rental cost paid for the equipment or, in the case of 
city or county-owned equipment, at the rental rates 
established by the local government’s “equipment 
rental and revolving fund” following the methods 
prescribed by the division of municipal corporations. 
However, such costs must be charged on a uniform 
basis to equipment used for all projects regardless of 
the source of funding. Cities with a population of 
eight thousand or less not using this type of fund are 
allowed the same rates as used by the State 
Department of Transportation. 

13. Direct materials and supplies. 
14. Other direct costs incurred for materials or services 

acquired for a specific project are eligible costs and 
may include, but are not limited to such items as: 
a. Telephone charges. 
b. Reproduction and photogrammetry costs. 
c. Video and photography for project 

documentation. 
d. Computer usage. 
e. Printing and advertising. 
15. Other project related costs include: 

• Competitive Bidding. 
• Audit. 
• Insurance. 
• Prevailing wages. 
• Attorney fees. 
• Environmental Review. 
• Archaeological Survey. 

Water system plan costs are not eligible for 
reimbursement. Small water system management 
program and plan amendments costs are eligible for 
reimbursement. 
Projects may be designed to accommodate reasonable 
growth. This is generally the 20-year projection included 
in the system’s water system plan or small water system 
management program. 

123



 

«LegalName» Page 44 Attachment V: DWSRF Eligible Project Costs  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Municipal) 

 

 

124



 

«LegalName» Page 45 Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 ATTACHMENT VI:  LABOR STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR 
SUBRECIPIENTS THAT ARE NOT GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES 

Wage Rate Requirements Under The Consolidated and Further Continuing Appropriations Act, 2013 (P.L. 113-6) 
Preamble 
With respect to the Clean Water and Safe Drinking Water State Revolving Funds, EPA provides capitalization grants to 
each State which in turn provides subgrants or loans to eligible entities within the State.  Typically, the subrecipients are 
municipal or other local governmental entities that manage the funds.  For these types of recipients, the provisions set 
forth under Roman Numeral I, below, shall apply.  Although EPA and the State remain responsible for ensuring 
subrecipients’ compliance with the wage rate requirements set forth herein, those subrecipients shall have the primary 
responsibility to maintain payroll records as described in Section 3(ii)(A), below and for compliance as described in 
Section I-5.  
Occasionally, the subrecipient may be a private for profit or not for profit entity.  For these types of recipients, the 
provisions set forth in Roman Numeral II, below, shall apply.  Although EPA and the State remain responsible for ensuring 
subrecipients’ compliance with the wage rate requirements set forth herein, those subrecipients shall have the primary 
responsibility to maintain payroll records as described in Section II-3(ii)(A), below and for compliance as described in 
Section II-5.  
II.  Requirements Under The Consolidated and Further Continuing Appropriations Act, 2013 (P.L. 113-6) For 
Subrecipients That Are Not Governmental Entities: 
The following terms and conditions specify how recipients will assist EPA in meeting its DB responsibilities when DB 
applies to EPA awards of financial assistance under the FY2013 Continuing Resolution with respect to subrecipients that 
are not governmental entities.  If a subrecipient has questions regarding when DB applies, obtaining the correct DB wage 
determinations, DB provisions, or compliance monitoring, it may contact the Department of Commerce for guidance.  If a 
State recipient needs guidance, they may obtain additional guidance from DOL’s web site at http://www.dol.gov/whd/ 
Under these terms and conditions, the subrecipient must submit its proposed DB wage determinations to the 
Department of Commerce for approval prior to including the wage determination in any solicitation, contract task 
orders, work assignments, or similar instruments to existing contractors.   
1.  Applicability of the Davis- Bacon (DB) prevailing wage requirements.  
Under the FY 2013 Continuing Resolution, DB prevailing wage requirements apply to the construction, alteration, and 
repair of treatment works carried out in whole or in part with assistance made available by a State water pollution control 
revolving fund and to any construction project carried out in whole or in part by assistance made available by a drinking 
water treatment revolving loan fund.  If a subrecipient encounters a unique situation at a site that presents uncertainties 
regarding DB applicability, the subrecipient must discuss the situation with the recipient State before authorizing work on 
that site.   
2.  Obtaining Wage Determinations.  
(a)  Subrecipients must obtain proposed wage determinations for specific localities at www.wdol.gov.  After the 
Subrecipient obtains its proposed wage determination, it must submit the wage determination to Department of 
Commerce, Contracts Administration Unit, for approval prior to inserting the wage determination into a solicitation, 
contract or issuing task orders, work assignments or similar instruments to existing contractors (ordering instruments 
unless subsequently directed otherwise by the State recipient Award Official.  
(b)  Subrecipients shall obtain the wage determination for the locality in which a covered activity subject to DB will take 
place prior to issuing requests for bids, proposals, quotes or other methods for soliciting contracts (solicitation) for 
activities subject to DB.  These wage determinations shall be incorporated into solicitations and any subsequent contracts.  
Prime contracts must contain a provision requiring that subcontractors follow the wage determination incorporated into the 
prime contract.   

(i) While the solicitation remains open, the subrecipient shall monitor www.wdol.gov on a weekly basis to ensure that 
the wage determination contained in the solicitation remains current.  The subrecipients shall amend the solicitation 
if DOL issues a modification more than 10 days prior to the closing date (i.e. bid opening) for the solicitation.  If DOL 
modifies or supersedes the applicable wage determination less than 10 days prior to the closing date, the 
subrecipients may request a finding from the State recipient that there is not a reasonable time to notify interested 
contractors of the modification of the wage determination.  The State recipient will provide a report of its findings to 
the subrecipient.  

(ii) If the subrecipient does not award the contract within 90 days of the closure of the solicitation, any modifications or 
supersedes DOL makes to the wage determination contained in the solicitation shall be effective unless the State 
recipient, at the request of the subrecipient, obtains an extension of the 90 day period from DOL pursuant to 29 

125

http://www.dol.gov/whd/
http://www.wdol.gov/
http://www.wdol.gov/


 

«LegalName» Page 46 Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

CFR 1.6(c)(3)(iv).  The subrecipient shall monitor www.wdol.gov on a weekly basis if it does not award the contract 
within 90 days of closure of the solicitation to ensure that wage determinations contained in the solicitation remain 
current.   

(c)  If the subrecipient carries out activity subject to DB by issuing a task order, work assignment or similar instrument to 
an existing contractor (ordering instrument) rather than by publishing a solicitation, the subecipient shall insert the 
appropriate DOL wage determination from www.wdol.gov into the ordering instrument.   
(d) Subrecipients shall review all subcontracts subject to DB entered into by prime contractors to verify that the prime 
contractor has required its subcontractors to include the applicable wage determinations.  
(e)  As provided in 29 CFR 1.6(f), DOL may issue a revised wage determination applicable to a subrecipient’s contract 
after the award of a contract or the issuance of an ordering instrument if DOL determines that the subrecipient has failed 
to incorporate a wage determination or has used a wage determination that clearly does not apply to the contract or 
ordering instrument.  If this occurs, the subecipient shall either terminate the contract or ordering instrument and issue a 
revised solicitation or ordering instrument or incorporate DOL’s wage determination retroactive to the beginning of the 
contract or ordering instrument by change order.  The subrecipient’s contractor must be compensated for any increases in 
wages resulting from the use of DOL’s revised wage determination.  
3.  Contract and Subcontract provisions 
(a)  The Recipient shall insure that the subrecipient(s) shall insert in full in any contract in excess of $2,000 which is 
entered into for the actual construction, alteration and/or repair, including painting and decorating, of a treatment work 
under the CWSRF or a construction project under the DWSRF financed in whole or in part from Federal funds or in 
accordance with guarantees of a Federal agency or financed from funds obtained by pledge of any contract of a Federal 
agency to make a loan, grant or annual contribution (except where a different meaning is expressly indicated), and which 
is subject to the labor standards provisions of any of the acts listed in § 5.1 or the FY 2013 Continuing Resolution, the 
following clauses: 
(1)  Minimum wages.  
(i)  All laborers and mechanics employed or working upon the site of the work, will be paid unconditionally and not less 
often than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on any account (except such payroll deductions as 
are permitted by regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act (29 CFR part 3) ), the full amount of 
wages and bona fide fringe benefits (or cash equivalents thereof) due at time of payment computed at rates not less than 
those contained in the wage determination of the Secretary of Labor which is attached hereto and made a part hereof, 
regardless of any contractual relationship which may be alleged to exist between the contractor and such laborers and 
mechanics.  
Contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits under section 1(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon 
Act on behalf of laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to such laborers or mechanics, subject to the 
provisions of paragraph (a)(1)(iv) of this section; also, regular contributions made or costs incurred for more than a weekly 
period (but not less often than quarterly) under plans, funds, or programs which cover the particular weekly period, are 
deemed to be constructively made or incurred during such weekly period.  Such laborers and mechanics shall be paid the 
appropriate wage rate and fringe benefits on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed, 
without regard to skill, except as provided in § 5.5(a)(4).  Laborers or mechanics performing work in more than one 
classification may be compensated at the rate specified for each classification for the time actually worked therein: 
Provided, that the employer's payroll records accurately set forth the time spent in each classification in which work is 
performed.  The wage determination (including any additional classification and wage rates conformed under paragraph 
(a)(1)(ii) of this section) and the Davis-Bacon poster (WH-1321) shall be posted at all times by the contractor and its 
subcontractors at the site of the work in a prominent and accessible place where it can be easily seen by the workers.  
Subrecipients may obtain wage determinations from the U.S. Department of Labor’s web site, www.dol.gov.  . 
(ii)(A)  The subrecipient(s), on behalf of EPA, shall require that any class of laborers or mechanics, including helpers, 
which is not listed in the wage determination and which is to be employed under the contract shall be classified in 
conformance with the wage determination.  The State award official shall approve a request for an additional classification 
and wage rate and fringe benefits therefore only when the following criteria have been met:  
(1)  The work to be performed by the classification requested is not performed by a classification in the wage 
determination; and  
(2)  The classification is utilized in the area by the construction industry; and  
(3)  The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe benefits, bears a reasonable relationship to the wage rates 
contained in the wage determination.  
(B)  If the contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be employed in the classification (if known), or their 
representatives, and the subrecipient(s) agree on the classification and wage rate (including the amount designated for 
fringe benefits where appropriate), documentation of  the action taken and the request, including the local wage 

126

http://www.wdol.gov/
http://www.wdol.gov/
http://www.dol.gov/


 

«LegalName» Page 47 Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

determination shall be sent by the subrecipient(s) to the State award official.  The State award official will transmit the 
report, to the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division, Employment Standards Administration, U.S. Department of 
Labor, Washington, DC 20210 and to the EPA DB Regional Coordinator concurrently.  The Administrator, or an 
authorized representative, will approve, modify, or disapprove every additional classification request within 30 days of 
receipt and so advise the State award official or will notify the State award official within the 30-day period that additional 
time is necessary.  
(C)  In the event the contractor, the laborers or mechanics to be employed in the classification or their representatives, 
and the and the subrecipient(s) do not agree on the proposed classification and wage rate (including the amount 
designated for fringe benefits, where appropriate), the award official shall refer the request, and the local wage 
determination, including the views of all interested parties and the recommendation of the State award official, to the 
Administrator for determination.  The request shall be sent to the EPA Regional Coordinator concurrently.  The 
Administrator, or an authorized representative, will issue a determination within 30 days of receipt of the request and so 
advise the contracting officer or will notify the contracting officer within the 30-day period that additional time is necessary.  
(D)  The wage rate (including fringe benefits where appropriate) determined pursuant to paragraphs (a)(1)(ii)(B) or (C) of 
this section, shall be paid to all workers performing work in the classification under this contract from the first day on which 
work is performed in the classification.  
(iii)  Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the contract for a class of laborers or mechanics includes a fringe 
benefit which is not expressed as an hourly rate, the contractor shall either pay the benefit as stated in the wage 
determination or shall pay another bona fide fringe benefit or an hourly cash equivalent thereof.  
(iv)  If the contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other third person, the contractor may consider as part of the 
wages of any laborer or mechanic the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in providing bona fide fringe benefits 
under a plan or program, provided, that the Secretary of Labor has found, upon the written request of the contractor, that 
the applicable standards of the Davis-Bacon Act have been met.  The Secretary of Labor may require the contractor to set 
aside in a separate account assets for the meeting of obligations under the plan or program.  
(2)  Withholding.  The subrecipient(s) shall upon written request of the EPA Award Official or an authorized representative 
of the Department of Labor, withhold or cause to be withheld from the contractor under this contract or any other Federal 
contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to Davis-Bacon prevailing wage 
requirements, which is held by the same prime contractor, so much of the accrued payments or advances as may be 
considered necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, including apprentices, trainees, and helpers, employed by the 
contractor or any subcontractor the full amount of wages required by the contract. In the event of failure to pay any laborer 
or mechanic, including any apprentice, trainee, or helper, employed or working on the site of the work, all or part of the 
wages required by the contract, the (Agency) may, after written notice to the contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take 
such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds until 
such violations have ceased.  
(3)  Payrolls and basic records.  
(i)  Payrolls and basic records relating thereto shall be maintained by the contractor during the course of the work and 
preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all laborers and mechanics working at the site of the work.  Such 
records shall contain the name, address, and social security number of each such worker, his or her correct classification, 
hourly rates of wages paid (including rates of contributions or costs anticipated for bona fide fringe benefits or cash 
equivalents thereof of the types described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act), daily and weekly number of hours 
worked, deductions made and actual wages paid.  Whenever the Secretary of Labor has found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) 
that the wages of any laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably anticipated in providing benefits 
under a plan or program described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the contractor shall maintain records 
which show that the commitment to provide such benefits is enforceable, that the plan or program is financially 
responsible, and that the plan or program has been communicated in writing to the laborers or mechanics affected, and 
records which show the costs anticipated or the actual cost incurred in providing such benefits.  Contractors employing 
apprentices or trainees under approved programs shall maintain written evidence of the registration of apprenticeship 
programs and certification of trainee programs, the registration of the apprentices and trainees, and the ratios and wage 
rates prescribed in the applicable programs.  
(ii)(A)  The contractor shall submit weekly, for each week in which any contract work is performed, a copy of all payrolls to 
the subrecipient, that is, the entity that receives the sub-grant or loan from the State capitalization grant recipient.  Such 
documentation shall be available on request of the State recipient or EPA.  As to each payroll copy received, the 
subrecipient shall provide written confirmation in a form satisfactory to the State indicating whether or not the project is in 
compliance with the requirements of 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1) based on the most recent payroll copies for the specified week.  
The payrolls shall set out accurately and completely all of the information required to be maintained under 29 CFR 
5.5(a)(3)(i), except that full social security numbers and home addresses shall not be included on the weekly payrolls.  
Instead the payrolls shall only need to include an individually identifying number for each employee (e.g., the last four 
digits of the employee's social security number).  The required weekly payroll information may be submitted in any form 

127



 

«LegalName» Page 48 Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

desired. Optional Form WH-347 is available for this purpose from the Wage and Hour Division Web site at 
http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/wh347instr.htm or its successor site.  The prime contractor is responsible for the 
submission of copies of payrolls by all subcontractors.  Contractors and subcontractors shall maintain the full social 
security number and current address of each covered worker, and shall provide them upon request to the subrecipient(s) 
for transmission to the State or EPA if requested by EPA, the State, the contractor, or the Wage and Hour Division of the 
Department of Labor for purposes of an investigation or audit of compliance with prevailing wage requirements.  It is not a 
violation of this section for a prime contractor to require a subcontractor to provide addresses and social security numbers 
to the prime contractor for its own records, without weekly submission to the subrecipient(s).  
(B)  Each payroll submitted shall be accompanied by a “Statement of Compliance,” signed by the contractor or 
subcontractor or his or her agent who pays or supervises the payment of the persons employed under the contract and 
shall certify the following:  
(1)  That the payroll for the payroll period contains the information required to be provided under § 5.5 (a)(3)(ii) of 
Regulations, 29 CFR part 5, the appropriate information is being maintained under § 5.5 (a)(3)(i) of Regulations, 29 CFR 
part 5, and that such information is correct and complete;  
(2)  That each laborer or mechanic (including each helper, apprentice, and trainee) employed on the contract during the 
payroll period has been paid the full weekly wages earned, without rebate, either directly or indirectly, and that no 
deductions have been made either directly or indirectly from the full wages earned, other than permissible deductions as 
set forth in Regulations, 29 CFR part 3;  
(3)  That each laborer or mechanic has been paid not less than the applicable wage rates and fringe benefits or cash 
equivalents for the classification of work performed, as specified in the applicable wage determination incorporated into 
the contract.  
(C)  The weekly submission of a properly executed certification set forth on the reverse side of Optional Form WH-347 
shall satisfy the requirement for submission of the “Statement of Compliance” required by paragraph (a)(3)(ii)(B) of this 
section.  
(D)  The falsification of any of the above certifications may subject the contractor or subcontractor to civil or criminal 
prosecution under section 1001 of title 18 and section 231 of title 31 of the United States Code.  
(iii)  The contractor or subcontractor shall make the records required under paragraph (a)(3)(i) of this section available for 
inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the State, EPA or the Department of Labor, and shall 
permit such representatives to interview employees during working hours on the job.  If the contractor or subcontractor 
fails to submit the required records or to make them available, the Federal agency or State may, after written notice to the 
contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further 
payment, advance, or guarantee of funds.  Furthermore, failure to submit the required records upon request or to make 
such records available may be grounds for debarment action pursuant to 29 CFR 5.12.  
(4)  Apprentices and trainees--  
(i)  Apprentices.  Apprentices will be permitted to work at less than the predetermined rate for the work they performed 
when they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a bona fide apprenticeship program registered with the 
U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training Administration, Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and 
Labor Services, or with a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Office, or if a person is employed in his or her 
first 90 days of probationary employment as an apprentice in such an apprenticeship program, who is not individually 
registered in the program, but who has been certified by the Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor 
Services or a State Apprenticeship Agency (where appropriate) to be eligible for probationary employment as an 
apprentice.  The allowable ratio of apprentices to journeymen on the job site in any craft classification shall not be greater 
than the ratio permitted to the contractor as to the entire work force under the registered program.  Any worker listed on a 
payroll at an apprentice wage rate, who is not registered or otherwise employed as stated above, shall be paid not less 
than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed.  In addition, any 
apprentice performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be paid not 
less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed.  Where a contractor is 
performing construction on a project in a locality other than that in which its program is registered, the ratios and wage 
rates (expressed in percentages of the journeyman's hourly rate) specified in the contractor's or subcontractor's registered 
program shall be observed.  Every apprentice must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the registered program 
for the apprentice's level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeymen hourly rate specified in the applicable 
wage determination.  Apprentices shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of the apprenticeship 
program.  If the apprenticeship program does not specify fringe benefits, apprentices must be paid the full amount of 
fringe benefits listed on the wage determination for the applicable classification.  If the Administrator determines that a 
different practice prevails for the applicable apprentice classification, fringes shall be paid in accordance with that 
determination.  In the event the Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor Services, or a State 
Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the Office, withdraws approval of an apprenticeship program, the contractor will no 

128

http://www.dol.gov/whd/forms/wh347instr.htm


 

«LegalName» Page 49 Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

longer be permitted to utilize apprentices at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an 
acceptable program is approved.  
(ii)  Trainees.  Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16, trainees will not be permitted to work at less than the predetermined 
rate for the work performed unless they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a program which has 
received prior approval, evidenced by formal certification by the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and Training 
Administration.  The ratio of trainees to journeymen on the job site shall not be greater than permitted under the plan 
approved by the Employment and Training Administration.  Every trainee must be paid at not less than the rate specified 
in the approved program for the trainee's level of progress, expressed as a percentage of the journeyman hourly rate 
specified in the applicable wage determination.  Trainees shall be paid fringe benefits in accordance with the provisions of 
the trainee program. If the trainee program does not mention fringe benefits, trainees shall be paid the full amount of 
fringe benefits listed on the wage determination unless the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division determines that 
there is an apprenticeship program associated with the corresponding journeyman wage rate on the wage determination 
which provides for less than full fringe benefits for apprentices.  Any employee listed on the payroll at a trainee rate who is 
not registered and participating in a training plan approved by the Employment and Training Administration shall be paid 
not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the classification of work actually performed.  In 
addition, any trainee performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be 
paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually performed.  In the event the 
Employment and Training Administration withdraws approval of a training program, the contractor will no longer be 
permitted to utilize trainees at less than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until an acceptable 
program is approved.  
(iii)  Equal employment opportunity.  The utilization of apprentices, trainees and journeymen under this part shall be in 
conformity with the equal employment opportunity requirements of Executive Order 11246, as amended, and 29 CFR part 
30.  
(5)  Compliance with Copeland Act requirements.  The contractor shall comply with the requirements of 29 CFR part 3, 
which are incorporated by reference in this contract.  
(6)  Subcontracts.  The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses contained in 29 CFR 
5.5(a)(1) through (10) and such other clauses as the EPA determines  may by appropriate, and also a clause requiring the 
subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts.  The prime contractor shall be responsible for the 
compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5.  
(7)  Contract termination: debarment.  A breach of the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5 may be grounds for termination of 
the contract, and for debarment as a contractor and a subcontractor as provided in 29 CFR 5.12.  
(8)  Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Related Act requirements.  All rulings and interpretations of the Davis-Bacon and 
Related Acts contained in 29 CFR parts 1, 3, and 5 are herein incorporated by reference in this contract.  
(9)  Disputes concerning labor standards.  Disputes arising out of the labor standards provisions of this contract shall not 
be subject to the general disputes clause of this contract.  Such disputes shall be resolved in accordance with the 
procedures of the Department of Labor set forth in 29 CFR parts 5, 6, and 7.  Disputes within the meaning of this clause 
include disputes between the contractor (or any of its subcontractors) and Subrecipient(s), State, EPA, the U.S. 
Department of Labor, or the employees or their representatives.  
(10)  Certification of eligibility.  
(i)  By entering into this contract, the contractor certifies that neither it (nor he or she) nor any person or firm who has an 
interest in the contractor's firm is a person or firm ineligible to be awarded Government contracts by virtue of section 3(a) 
of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1).  
(ii)  No part of this contract shall be subcontracted to any person or firm ineligible for award of a Government contract by 
virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1).  
(iii)  The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in the U.S. Criminal Code, 18 USC 1001. 
4.  Contract Provision for Contracts in Excess of $100,000. 
(a)  Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act.  The subrecipient shall insert the following clauses set forth in 
paragraphs (a)(1), (2), (3), and (4) of this section in full in any contract in an amount in excess of $100,000 and subject to 
the overtime provisions of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act.  These clauses shall be inserted in addition 
to the clauses required by Item 3, above or 29 CFR 4.6. As used in this paragraph, the terms laborers and mechanics 
include watchmen and guards. 
(1)  Overtime requirements.  No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work which may 
require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic in any 
workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work in excess of forty hours in such workweek unless such 
laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and one-half times the basic rate of pay for all 
hours worked in excess of forty hours in such workweek.  

129



 

«LegalName» Page 50 Attachment VI: Labor Standard Provisions  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

(2)  Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages.  In the event of any violation of the clause set forth in 
paragraph (b)(1) of this section the contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefore shall be liable for the unpaid 
wages.  In addition, such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in the case of work done under 
contract for the District of Columbia or a territory, to such District or to such territory), for liquidated damages.  Such 
liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and 
guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (b)(1) of this section, in the sum of $10 for each 
calendar day on which such individual was required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty 
hours without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (b)(1) of this section.  
(3)  Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages.  The subrecipient shall upon the request of the EPA Award 
Official or an authorized representative of the Department of Labor, withhold or cause to be withheld, from any moneys 
payable on account of work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under any such contract or any other Federal 
contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and 
Safety Standards Act, which is held by the same prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to 
satisfy any liabilities of such contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as provided in the 
clause set forth in paragraph (a)(2) of this section.  
(4)  Subcontracts.  The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in paragraph 
(b)(1) through (4) of this section and also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier 
subcontracts.  The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor 
with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (b)(1) through (4) of this section.  
(c)  In addition to the clauses contained in Item 3, above, in any contract subject only to the Contract Work Hours and 
Safety Standards Act and not to any of the other statutes cited in 29 CFR 5.1, the Subrecipient shall insert a clause 
requiring that the contractor or subcontractor shall maintain payrolls and basic payroll records during the course of the 
work and shall preserve them for a period of three years from the completion of the contract for all laborers and 
mechanics, including guards and watchmen, working on the contract.  Such records shall contain the name and address 
of each such employee, social security number, correct classifications, hourly rates of wages paid, daily and weekly 
number of hours worked, deductions made, and actual wages paid.  Further, the Subrecipient shall insert in any such 
contract a clause providing that the records to be maintained under this paragraph shall be made available by the 
contractor or subcontractor for inspection, copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the (write the name of 
agency) and the Department of Labor, and the contractor or subcontractor will permit such representatives to interview 
employees during working hours on the job. 
5.  Compliance Verification   
(a).  The subrecipient shall periodically interview a sufficient number of employees entitled to DB prevailing wages 
(covered employees) to verify that contractors or subcontractors are paying the appropriate wage rates.  As provided in 29 
CFR 5.6(a)(6), all interviews must be conducted in confidence.  The subrecipient must use Standard Form 1445 (SF 
1445) or equivalent documentation to memorialize the interviews.  Copies of the SF 1445 are available from EPA on 
request.   
(b)  The subrecipient shall establish and follow an interview schedule based on its assessment of the risks of 
noncompliance with DB posed by contractors or subcontractors and the duration of the contract or subcontract.  
Subrecipients must conduct more frequent interviews if the initial interviews or other information indicated that there is a 
risk that the contractor or subcontractor is not complying with DB.  Subrecipients shall immediately conduct interviews in 
response to an alleged violation of the prevailing wage requirements.  All interviews shall be conducted in confidence." 
(c).  The subrecipient shall periodically conduct spot checks of a representative sample of weekly payroll data to verify 
that contractors or subcontractors are paying the appropriate wage rates.  The subrecipient shall establish and follow a 
spot check schedule based on its assessment of the risks of noncompliance with DB posed by contractors or 
subcontractors and the duration of the contract or subcontract.  At a minimum, if practicable the subrecipient should spot 
check payroll data within two weeks of each contractor or subcontractor’s submission of its initial payroll data and two 
weeks prior to the completion date the contract or subcontract.  Subrecipients must conduct more frequent spot checks if 
the initial spot check or other information indicates that there is a risk that the contractor or subcontractor is not complying 
with DB.  In addition, during the examinations the subrecipient shall verify evidence of fringe benefit plans and payments 
thereunder by contractors and subcontractors who claim credit for fringe benefit contributions.  
(d).  The subrecipient  shall periodically review contractors and subcontractors use of apprentices and trainees to verify 
registration and certification with respect to apprenticeship and training programs approved by either the U.S Department 
of Labor or a state, as appropriate, and that contractors and subcontractors are not using disproportionate numbers of, 
laborers, trainees and apprentices.  These reviews shall be conducted in accordance with the schedules for spot checks 
and interviews described in Item 5(b) and (c) above. 

(e)  Subrecipients must immediately report potential violations of the DB prevailing wage requirements to Department of 
Commerce and  to the appropriate DOL Wage and Hour District Office listed at http://www.dol.gov/whd/america2.htm.  

130

http://www.dol.gov/esa/contacts/whd/america2.htm


 

«LegalName» Page 51 Attachment VII: UCC Filings  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT VII:  UCC FILINGS 

 
DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND 

 (NON-MUNICIPAL) 
 

«LegalName» 
«LoanNumber» 

 
 
By signing, the Contractor acknowledges that a Uniform Commercial Code lien will be electronically filed 
against Contractor’s accounts and/or assets, including but not limited to accounts receivable, the dedicated account for 
loan repayment, and proceeds therefrom.  This filing can be retrieved at the Washington State Department of 
Licensing website:   www.dol.wa.gov. 
 
 
 
Signature:    ______________________________________________ 
 
 
Print Name:  ______________________________________________ 
 
 
Title:     ______________________________________________ 
 
 
Date:   ______________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

131



 

«LegalName» Page 52 Attachment VII: UCC Filings  
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

132



 

«LegalName» Page 53 Attachment VIII: Corporate Resolution 
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT VIII:  CORPORATE RESOLUTION TO BORROW OR 
GUARANTEE 

DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND 
(NON-MUNICIPAL) 

 
«LegalName» 

«LoanNumber» 
 

Corporation: «LegalName»  Lender: State of Washington 
 «ProjectAddress»   Public Works Board 
 «ProjectCity», «ProjectState» 

«ProjectZip» 
  Post Office Box 42525 

    Olympia, WA  98504-8319 
 
I, the undersigned Secretary of the Corporation named above, hereby certify as follows: the Corporation is organized and 
existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Washington.  
 
The Corporation has its principal office located at:  
 
____________________________________________________________________________   _ 
 
 
The Officers of the Corporation are as follows: 

 
Name 

  
 

Position 
   

   

   

   

   

 
I further certify that at a meeting of the Directors of the Corporation, duly and regularly called and held on the  
_____ day of _____________, 20___, at which a quorum was present and voting, the following resolutions were 
unanimously adopted: 
 
BE IT RESOLVED that any _____ of the following named officers or employees of this Corporation, whose actual 
signatures are shown below 
 

Name (please type)  Position  Actual Signature 
 

     

     

     

 
acting for and on behalf of this Corporation and as its act and deed, be and they are hereby authorized and empowered: 
 

(a) To borrow from the Lender, on such terms as may be agreed upon between the officers or employees and the 
Lender, such sum or sums of money as in their judgment should be borrowed, not exceeding, however, at any 
one time, the aggregate amount shown on the attached Declarations Page as LOAN AMOUNT. 

(b) To execute and deliver to Lender the promissory note or notes of the Corporation, on Lender's forms, at such 
rates of interest and on such terms as may be agreed upon, evidencing the sums of money so borrowed or any 

133



 

«LegalName» Page 54 Attachment VIII: Corporate Resolution 
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

indebtedness of the Corporation to Lender, and also to execute and deliver to Lender any renewal or renewals 
of the notes, or any of them, or any part thereof. 

(c) To mortgage, pledge, hypothecate, or otherwise encumber and deliver to Lender, as security for the payment of 
any loans so obtained, any promissory notes so executed, or any other or further indebtedness of the 
Corporation to Lender at any time owing, however the same may be evidenced, any property belonging to the 
Corporation or in which the Corporation may have an interest, real, personal or mixed.  Such property may be 
encumbered, hypothecated, or pledged at addition to or in lieu of any property therefore mortgaged, 
hypothecated, encumbered, or pledged.  The provisions of these Resolutions authorizing or relating to the 
pledge, hypothecation, granting of a security interest in, or otherwise in any way encumbering the assets of the 
Corporation shall include, without limitation, doing so in order to lend collateral support to indebtedness, now 
existing or later arising any of any nature whatsoever, of the above named Corporation to the above named 
Lender. The Corporation has considered the value to itself of lending collateral in support of such indebtedness, 
and the Corporation represents to the Lender that the Corporation is benefited by doing so. 

(d) To execute and deliver to Lender the form of pledge agreement, security agreement, and financing statement 
which may be submitted by Lender, and which shall evidence the terms and conditions under and pursuant to 
which such pledges, or any of them, are made; and also to execute and deliver to Lender any mortgages, 
deeds, trust indentures, or other instruments in writing, or any kind or nature, which may be necessary or proper 
in connection therewith, or pertaining thereto. 

(e)       To draw, endorse, and discount with Lender drafts, trade acceptances, promissory notes, or other 
evidences of indebtedness payable or belonging to the Corporation or in which the Corporation may have an 
interest, and either to receive cash for the same or to cause such proceeds to be credited to the account of the 
Corporation with Lender, or to cause such other disposition of the proceeds derived there from, as they may 
deem advisable. 

(f) To do and perform such other acts and things and to execute and deliver such other documents as may in their 
discretion be deemed reasonably necessary or proper in order to carry into effect any of the provisions of these 
Resolutions. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that these Resolutions shall remain in full force and effect until written notice of the 
revocation thereof shall have been delivered to and received by Lender.  Any such notice shall not affect any agreements 
in effect or committed at the time notice is given. 
 
I further certify that the persons hereinabove named occupy the positions set opposite their respective names; that the 
foregoing Resolutions now stand of record on the books of the Corporation; that they are in full force and effect and have 
not been modified or revoked in any manner whatsoever. 
 
IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the seal of the Corporation this  
_______Day of ___________________, 20 _____. 
 
 Secretary’s Signature: _________________________ 

  
                         Print Name: _________________________ 

CORPORATE 
                           SEAL HERE               
 
 
Director’s Signature: ___________________________ 
 
Print Name: ________________________ Title*: _____________________________________ 
 
*In case the Secretary or other certifying officer is designated by the foregoing resolutions as one of the signing officers, this certificate 
must also be signed by a second officer or Director of the Corporation. 

134



 

«LegalName» Page 55 Attachment IX: Commercial Security Agreement 
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

ATTACHMENT IX: COMMERCIAL SECURITY AGREEMENT  

DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND 
 (NON-MUNICIPAL) 

 
«LegalName» 

«LoanNumber» 
Contractor: «LegalName»  Lender: Washington State 
 «ProjectAddress»   Public Works Board 
 «ProjectCity», «ProjectState» «ProjectZip»   Post Office Box 42525 
    Olympia, WA  98504-8319 
 
 
Grant of Security Interest.  For value received, and to secure both the payment of the Indebtedness owed to Lender and 
the performance of the obligations under this Security Agreement and any Related Documents, and in accordance with 
the definitions and terms set forth below, Contractor grants Lender a security interest in all of the following Collateral: 
 
  Contractor’s accounts, and/or assets, including but not limited to accounts receivable, the dedicated account for 

loan repayment, and proceeds therefrom.  
 
1. Definitions. 
 1.1 Indebtedness.  "Indebtedness" shall mean all amounts and liabilities of every kind and description, whether now 

owed or hereafter owed by Contractor to Lender, whether or not evidenced by a promissory note or credit 
agreement and whether direct, indirect, or contingent. 

 
 1.2 Related Documents.  "Related Documents" shall mean the promissory notes, loan agreements, guaranties, trust 

deeds, mortgages, other security agreements, or any other documents executed in connection with this Security 
Agreement or the Indebtedness, whether already existing or executed now or later. 

 
 1.3 Collateral.  "Collateral" shall mean the collateral described above, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, 

whether now existing or hereafter arising, and wherever located; and   
   (a) All accessions, parts, or additions to and all replacements of and substitutions for any of the property 

described above; and 
   (b) All proceeds (including insurance proceeds) from the sale or other disposition of any of the property 

described above, including that described in the preceding subparagraph. 
   (c) In addition to all liens upon, and rights of setoff against the moneys, securities, or other property of 

Contractor given to Lender by law, lender shall have a security interest in and a right of setoff 
against all moneys, securities, and other property of Contractor now or hereafter in the possession of 
or on deposit with Lender, whether held in a general or special account or deposit, or for 
safekeeping or otherwise; and every such security interest and right of setoff may be exercised 
without demand upon or notice to Contractor.  No security interest or right of setoff shall be deemed 
to have been waived by any act or conduct on the part of Lender, or by any neglect to exercise such 
right of setoff or to enforce such security interest, or by any delay in so doing; and every right of 
setoff and security interest shall continue in full force and effect until such right of setoff or security 
interest is specifically waived or released by an instrument in writing executed by Lender.  

 
2. Obligations of Contractor.   
 Contractor warrants and covenants: 
 2.1 Perfection of Security Interest.  Contractor agrees to execute financing statements and to take whatever other 

action is requested by Lender to perfect and continue Lender's security interest in the Collateral.  Upon request of 
Lender, Contractor will deliver to Lender any and all documents evidencing or constituting the Collateral, and 
Contractor will note Lender's interest upon any and all chattel paper.  Contractor hereby appoints Lender the 
Contractor’s irrevocable attorney in fact for the purpose of executing any documents necessary to perfect or to 
continue the security interest granted herein.  Lender may at any time, and without further authorization from 
Contractor, file copies of this Security Agreement as a financing statement. 

 
 2.2 Removal of Collateral.  Contractor warrants that the Collateral (or to the extent the Collateral consists of 

intangible property such as accounts, the records concerning the Collateral) is located at Contractor’s address or 

135



 

«LegalName» Page 56 Attachment IX: Commercial Security Agreement 
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

the Collateral address shown above.  Except in the ordinary course of its business within the county in which the 
Collateral is located, Contractor shall not remove the Collateral from its location without the prior written consent 
of Lender, which shall not be unreasonably withheld.  To the extent the Collateral constitutes vehicles, or other 
titled property, and except for sales of inventory in the ordinary course of its business, Contractor shall not take or 
permit any action which would require registration of the vehicles outside of the state in which the Lender is 
located, without the prior written consent of Lender. 

  
 2.3 Transactions Involving Collateral.  Except for inventory sold or accounts collected in the ordinary course of 

Contractor’s business, Contractor shall not sell, offer to sell, or otherwise transfer the Collateral.  Contractor shall 
not pledge mortgage, encumber or otherwise permit the Collateral to be subject to any lien, security interest, or 
charge, other than the security interest provided for herein, without the prior written consent of Lender.  This 
includes security interests even if junior in right to this Security Agreement.  Unless waived by Lender, all 
proceeds from any disposition of the Collateral (for whatever reason) shall be held in trust for Lender, and shall 
not be commingled with any other funds; provided, however, that this requirement shall not constitute consent by 
Lender to any sale or other disposition.  Contractor shall immediately deliver any such proceeds to Lender. 

 
 2.4 Title.  Contractor warrants that it holds marketable title to the Collateral subject only to the lien of this Security 

Agreement. Contractor shall defend Lender's rights against the claims and demands of all persons. 
 
 2.5 Use.  Contractor shall keep the Collateral in first class condition and repair.  Contractor will not commit or permit 

damage to or destruction of the Collateral or any part thereof. 
 

2.6 Taxes, Assessments, and Liens.  Contractor will pay when due all taxes, assessments, and liens upon the 
collateral, its use or operation, upon this Security Agreement, upon any promissory notes evidencing the 
Indebtedness or upon any of the other Related Documents.  Contractor may withhold any such payment or may 
elect to contest any lien if Contractor is in good faith conducting appropriate proceedings to contest the obligation 
to pay and so long as Lender's interest in the Collateral is not jeopardized.  If the Collateral is subjected to a lien 
which is not discharged within 15 days, Contractor shall deposit with Lender cash, a sufficient corporate surety 
bond or other security satisfactory to Lender in any amount adequate to provide for the discharge of the lien plus 
any interest, costs, attorneys' fees or other charges that could accrue as a result of foreclosure or sale.  In any 
contest Contractor shall defend itself and Lender and shall satisfy any final adverse judgment before enforcement 
against the Collateral.  Contractor shall name Lender as an additional obligee under any surety bond furnished in 
the contest proceedings. 

 
2.7 Compliance with Governmental Requirements.  Contractor shall comply promptly with all laws, ordinances 

and regulations of all governmental authorities applicable to the use of the Collateral.  Contractor may contest in 
good faith any such law, ordinance, or regulation and withhold compliance during any proceeding, including 
appropriate appeals, so long as Lender's interest in the Collateral is not jeopardized. 

 
2.8 Property Coverage.  The Contractor shall obtain and keep in force during the term of this loan, a policy or 

policies of insurance providing coverage for all risks of physical damage or loss to the improvements and/or 
structures to be constructed using the proceeds of the loan contemplated by this agreement.  Said policy or 
policies shall provide replacement cost coverage, with adequate policy limits to assure no co-insurance exposure 
by any insured under the policy or loss-payee thereunder.  Said polices shall provide no less coverage than 
provided by the Builders Risk Coverage Form  (CP 00 20 06 95 ISO), with any and all necessary endorsements to 
provide the all risk, replacement cost coverage,  to the improvements and/ or structures constructed utilizing the 
loan proceeds.  

 
At its sole expense, upon completion of construction, the Contractor shall obtain and keep in force during the term 
of this loan, permanent property coverage providing coverage for all risks of physical damage, written on a 
replacement cost basis.  The Contractor shall maintain adequate policy limits to enable all insureds and loss 
payees to avoid any exposure to co-insurance penalties.  No loss deductible shall exceed FIVE PERCENT (5%) 
of any loss, and the Board shall have no loss deductible payment obligation under said policy/policies.  The Board 
shall be an insured and the loss-payee under all policies required by this section, to the extent of its insurable 
interests. 
 

2.9 Liability Coverage.  At its sole expense, the Contractor shall obtain and keep in force during the completion of 
activities listed in the SCOPE OF WORK shown on the Declarations Page, Commercial General Liability 
coverage, written on form CG 00 01 07 98 (ISO) or later editions, with policy limits of no less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence with a general aggregate limit of $5,000,000, or the amount of the loan, whichever is less.  Coverage 
shall be written on an occurrence basis, with the Board a named insured at policy inception.  Said policy shall be 

136



 

«LegalName» Page 57 Attachment IX: Commercial Security Agreement 
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

endorsed to reflect that Contractor, not the Board shall be responsible for the payment of policy premiums, and 
that coverage shall be limited to claims arising from the project or projects, financed by the loan proceeds. 

 
2.10 General Provisions. Within thirty business days of the execution of this agreement, the Contractor shall deliver 

to the Board a certificate of insurance certifying that the insurance coverage required by this section has been 
obtained. The Board reserves the right to review the insurance policies required by the section, to accept or reject 
them.  The Contractor at its sole cost has the obligation to replace or secure the coverage to replace policy 
provisions rejected by the Board. Each policy shall contain a provision requiring the insurance carrier to notify the 
Board in writing at least seven days prior to any policy cancellation of any failure by the Contractor to pay the 
policy premiums, or of any lapse in coverage.  

 
The coverage required by this section shall be secured exclusively through insurance carriers licensed to do 
business in the State of Washington, and shall not be subject to any self-insured retained limits. 

 
3. Contractor's Right to Possession. 

Until default, Contractor may have possession of the tangible personal property and beneficial use of all of the 
Collateral and may use it in any lawful manner not inconsistent with this Security Agreement or the Related 
Documents. 

 
4. Expenditures by Lender. 

If not discharged or paid by Contractor when due, Lender may discharge taxes, liens, security interest, or other 
encumbrances at any time levied or placed on the Collateral, may pay for insurance on the collateral, and may pay for 
maintenance and preservation of the Collateral.  All such payments shall become a part of Contractor's obligations 
secured hereby, payable on demand, with interest at the maximum rate permitted by law from date of expenditure until 
repaid.  Such right shall be in addition to any other rights or remedies to which Lender may be entitled on account of 
default. 

 
5. Events of Default. 

Contractor shall be in default under this Security Agreement upon: 
(a)  Failure to make any payment of the Indebtedness when due; or 
(b)  Failure to comply within 15 days after written notice from Lender demanding compliance with any other term, 

obligation, covenant or condition contained herein (or in any of the Related Documents); provided, if 
compliance is not possible within 15 days, default shall occur upon failure within 15 days to take steps that 
will produce compliance as soon as is reasonably practical; or  

 (c)  Any warranty, representation, or statement made or furnished to Lender by or on behalf of Contractor proves 
to have been false in any material respect when made or furnished; or 

 (d)  Contractor's death (if Contractor is an individual), dissolution or termination of Contractor's existence as a 
going business, insolvency, appointment of a receiver for any part of Contractor's property, any assignment 
for the benefit of creditors, or the commencement of any proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws 
by or against Contractor; or 

 (e)  Commencement of foreclosure, whether by judicial proceeding, self-help, repossession, or any other method, 
by any creditor of Contractor against any of the Collateral, but this subsection shall not apply in the event of a 
good faith dispute by Contractor as to the validity or reasonableness of the claim which is the basis of the 
foreclosure suit, provided that Contractor provides Lender with written notice of such claim and provides 
adequate reserves. 

 
6. Rights of Lender. 
 6.1 Rights Prior to Default or Thereafter.  Lender and its designated representatives or agents may at all 

reasonable times examine and inspect the Collateral, wherever located. 
 
 6.2 Rights upon Default or Thereafter.  Upon default, or if Lender reasonably deems itself insecure, Lender may 

exercise any one or more of the following rights and remedies in addition to any other rights or remedies that may 
be available at law, in equity, or otherwise: 

  (a)  Lender may declare the entire Indebtedness including any prepayment penalty which Contractor would be 
required to pay, immediately due and payable. 

  (b)  Lender may require Contractor to deliver to Lender all or any portion of the Collateral and any and all 
certificates of title and other documents relating thereto.  Lender may require Contractor to assemble the 
Collateral and make it available to Lender at a place to be designated by Lender which is reasonably 
convenient to both parties.  Lender also shall have full power to enter upon the property of Contractor to 
take possession of and remove the Collateral. 

137



 

«LegalName» Page 58 Attachment IX: Commercial Security Agreement 
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

 (c)  Lender shall have full power to sell, lease, transfer, or otherwise deal with the Collateral or proceeds 
thereof in its own name or that of Contractor.  Lender may sell the Collateral at public auction.  Unless the 
Collateral threatens to decline speedily in value or is of the type customarily sold on a recognized market, 
Lender will give Contractor reasonable notice of the time after which any private sale or any other 
intended disposition thereof is to be made.  The requirements of reasonable notice shall be met if such 
notice is mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the address of Contractor stated in this 
Security Agreement at least 10 days before the time of the sale or disposition.  Contractor shall be liable 
for expenses of retaking, holding, preparing for sale, selling, and the like. 

  (d)  Lender may have a receiver appointed as a matter of right.  The receiver may be an employee of Lender 
and may serve without bond.  All fees of the receiver and his attorney shall be secured hereby.   

  (e)  Lender may revoke Contractor's right to collect the rents and revenues from the Collateral, and may, 
either itself or through a receiver, collect the same.  To facilitate collection, Lender may notify any account 
debtors of Contractor to pay directly to Lender. 

 (f)  Lender may obtain a judgment for any deficiency remaining in the Indebtedness due to Lender after 
application of all amounts received from the exercise of the rights provided in this section.  Contractor 
shall be liable for a deficiency even if the underlying transaction is a sale of accounts or chattel paper. 

 (g)  Lender shall have and may exercise any or all of the rights and remedies of a secured creditor under the 
provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code, at law, in equity, or otherwise. 

 
7. Waiver. 

Lender shall not be deemed to have waived any rights hereunder (or under the Related Documents) unless such 
waiver be in writing and signed by Lender.  No delay or omission on the part of Lender in exercising any right shall 
operate as a waiver of such right or any other right.  A waiver by any party of a breach of a provision of this Security 
Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of or prejudice the party's right otherwise to demand strict compliance with 
that provision or any other provision.  Whenever consent by Lender is required herein, the granting of such consent by 
Lender in any instance shall not constitute continuing consent to subsequent instances where such consent is 
required herein. 

 
8.  Remedies Cumulative. 

All of the Lender's rights and remedies, whether evidenced hereby or by any other writing, shall be cumulative and 
may be exercised singularly or concurrently.  Election by Lender to pursue any remedy shall not exclude pursuit of any 
other remedy, and an election to make expenditures or take action to perform an obligation of Contractor under this 
Security Agreement after Contractor's failure to perform shall not affect Lender's right to declare a default and exercise 
its remedies under Section 1.14. 

 
9. Successor Interests. 

This Security Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their successors, and assigns, 
but whenever there is no outstanding Indebtedness, Contractor may terminate this Security Agreement upon written 
notice to Lender. 

 
10. Notice. 

Any notice under this Security Agreement shall be in writing and shall be effective when actually delivered or when 
deposited in the mail, registered or certified, addressed to the parties at the addresses stated herein or such other 
addresses as either party may designate by written notice to the other. 

 
11. Expenses, Costs, and Attorneys' Fees. 

In the event Lender is required to commence any suit or action to enforce any of the terms of this Security Agreement, 
Lender shall be entitled to recover from Contractor reasonable attorneys' fees and legal expenses at trial and also 
such fees and expenses on appeal, in addition to all other sums provided by law.  In the event that Lender is 
otherwise required to incur any expenses whatsoever to protect or enforce its rights hereunder, whether or not 
litigation is commenced, Lender shall be entitled to recover any and all such sums and all incidental expenses, 
including such reasonable attorneys' fees.  All such sums shall be part of the Indebtedness secured hereby. 

 
12. Applicable Law. 

This Security Agreement is accepted in and shall be governed by the laws of the state of Washington. 
 
13. Multiple Parties; Corporate Authority. 

If Contractor consists of more than one person or entity, all obligations of Contractor under this Security Agreement 
shall be joint and several.  Where any one or more of Contractors are corporations or partnerships, it is not necessary 

138



 

«LegalName» Page 59 Attachment IX: Commercial Security Agreement 
«LoanNumber» 10/20/2014  DWSRF NT Loan Contract (Non-Municipal) 

for Lender to inquire into the powers of Contractors or the officers, directors, partners, or agents acting or purporting to 
act on their behalf, and any Indebtedness made or created in reliance upon the professed exercise of such powers 
shall be guaranteed hereunder. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Security Agreement as of the dates shown below. 
 
 
LENDER: CONTRACTOR: 
 
Washington State Public Works Board «LegalName» 
 
 
By:                                                                By: ________________________________ 
       Stan Finkelstein, Public Works Board Chair         
 
 Print Name: _________________________ 
 
Date:                                                           Title:           
 
 Date:        
 
 

139



140



TAB C 
POLICY & PROGRAM 

DEVELOPMENT 

141



142



 

 
 
Date: October 23, 2014 
 
To: Public Works Board 
 
From: Cecilia Gardener, Managing Director 
 
Subject: 2014-15 Public Works Board Work plan Update 
 
In keeping with the Board request, listed below are all opportunities/events, deliverables, and actions/tasks 
that have been completed and removed from the work plan 

 
1) Opportunities/Events 

a) Evergreen Rural Water of Washington (ERWOW) Conference 
b) Washington Financial Officers Association (WFOA) Conference 
c) Washington Association of Sewer and Water Districts (WASWD) Conference  
d) Washington Public Utility Districts Association (WPUDA) Conference 
e) Infrastructure Assistance Coordinating Council (IACC) Conference  
f) Webinar on Using the CFP guidebook has been moved to November due to scheduling issues 

2) Deliverables (In Progress) 
The following items moved to November pending meeting with the Governor  
a) Prepare Slide Deck in anticipation of Request to present 
b) Develop white papers on decision packages and fact sheets 
c) Provide educational briefings to OFM, Legislature, Legislative Staff, and Executive Staff. 

3) Deliverables 
a) Develop draft language regarding the proviso. 
b) Submit Public Works Board Annual Legislative Report  

 
4) Actions/Tasks 

a) Seek path to include Legislators in the Board makeup (included in proviso language)  
b) Site tours are under development (Clark County, and possibly Tri-Cities) 

 
Attached is the updated work plan as of October 23, 2014 
 
 
 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 

November 10, 2014 
Board Meeting 

143



DRAFT PUBLIC WORKS BOARD – 2014-2015 WORKPLAN – REVISED OCTOBER 22, 2014 (this is a living document, and will be updated regularly) 

 

PAGE 1 
 

 
  OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER JANUARY FEBURARY MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER 

O
PP

O
RT

U
N

IT
IE

S/
 

EV
EN

TS
 

PWB Meeting PWB Meeting 11/10/14 PWB Meeting 12/5/14 PWB Meeting-Legislative 
Meetings 

22nd - Last day to read in 
committee reports in 
house of origin 

PWB Meeting 2015 Legislative Session 
scheduled to end 

PWB Meeting AWC Conference    

American Public Works 
Association-Washington 
Conference 
 

CIFA Conference  14th-2015 Legislative 
Session Begins 

ERWOW Annual 
Conference 

1st-Last day to read in 
committee reports from 
House fiscal committees 

3rd - Last day to read in 
committee reports from 
opposite house  

Community Survivors 
Conference 

    

American Planning 
Association-Washington 
Conference 

WASAC Conference WPUDA Annual 
Conference 

  13th - Last day to 
consider bills in house of 
origin  

9th-Last day to read in 
opposite house 
committee reports from 
House fiscal committees  

WPPA Conference     

 Peninsula Academy     17th-Last day to consider 
opposite house bills  

     
IACC Conference      28th- Last day allowed for 

regular session under 
state constitution 

     

20-minute Webinar Series: 
Using the CFP Guidebook 
Moved to November due 
to lead staff medical leave 

20-minute Webinar 
Series: Using the CFP 
Guidebook 
Pending Staff Action 

    WASWD Conference      

 Meeting with the 
Governor 11/10/14  
 
Senate Legislative Days 
11/20-21/14 
 
Meeting with Senator 
Honeyford 11/21/14 

House Legislative Days 
12/4-5/14 

         

            

DE
LI

VE
RA

BL
ES

 

(S5.1)   Develop Slide Deck 
in anticipation of request-
Move to November 
pending meeting with 
Governor 

(S5.1)   Develop Slide 
Deck in anticipation of 
request-Pending Staff 
action - pending meeting 
with Governor 

          

(S5.2)  Develop White 
Papers on Decision 
Packages, and Fact Sheets- 
Move to December 
Pending Governors 
Budget 

 (S5.2)  Develop White 
Papers on Decision 
Packages, and Fact 
Sheets- Pending 
Governors Budget 

         

(S3.7)   Develop orientation 
video on history of PWB/ 
PWAA-Moved to 
November due to staffing 
capacity 

(S3.7)   Develop 
orientation video on 
history of PWB/ PWAA-
Pending Staff Action 

          

(S2.6) Provide educational 
briefings to OFM, Leg, Leg 
staff, and executive staff.- 
Ongoing  

(S2.6) Provide 
educational briefings to 
OFM, Leg, Leg staff, and 
executive staff.- Ongoing 

(S2.6) Provide 
educational briefings to 
OFM, Leg, Leg staff, and 
executive staff.- Ongoing 

         

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing  

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

(S2.3) Short-term 
strategy/policy items to 
Policy Committee-
Ongoing 

S2.8) Develop Draft 
Language regarding 
Proviso – -draft presented 
to full board 10/2/14-
Completed 

S2.8) Develop Draft 
Language regarding 
Proviso – -Draft 
presented to Full Board 
11/10/14 based on input 
from Board 

          

(S5.3)  Submit 
Recommended Loan list 
Bill-Presented to full 
Board in November 

(S5.3)  Submit 
Recommended Loan list 
Bill-Draft presented to 
Full Board 11/10/14   

          

 
Cells shaded in brown are completed 
 
Text Highlighted Yellow is modifications 
from last update. 

144

http://www.awcnet.org/
http://apwawaconf.com/
http://apwawaconf.com/
http://apwawaconf.com/
http://cifanet.org/conferences.html
http://www.erwow.org/annual_conference.html
http://www.erwow.org/annual_conference.html
http://choosewashingtonstate.com/events/cs7/
http://choosewashingtonstate.com/events/cs7/
http://washington-apa.org/conferences/2014/
http://washington-apa.org/conferences/2014/
http://washington-apa.org/conferences/2014/
http://wacounties.org/wsac/countyleaders/
http://www.wpuda.org/calendar.cfm
http://www.wpuda.org/calendar.cfm
http://washingtonports.org/
http://www.infrafunding.wa.gov/conference.html
http://www.waswd.org/general/page/training-conferences


DRAFT PUBLIC WORKS BOARD – 2014-2015 WORKPLAN – REVISED OCTOBER 22, 2014 (this is a living document, and will be updated regularly) 

 

PAGE 2 
 

  OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER JANUARY FEBURARY MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER 
(S5.4) Submit Legislative 
Report to the Legislature-
Pending OFM Approval 

(S5.4) Submit Legislative 
Report to the 
Legislature-Pending OFM 
Approval 

          

(S5.1)   Develop Slide Deck 
in anticipation of request-
Moved to November 
pending meeting with the 
Governor 

(S5.1)   Develop Slide 
Deck in anticipation of 
request-Pending Staff 
Action-based meeting 
with the Governor 

          

(S5.2)  Develop White 
Papers on Decision 
Packages, and Fact Sheets- 
Moved to November 
pending meeting with the 
Governor 

(S5.2)  Develop White 
Papers on Decision 
Packages, and Fact 
Sheets- Pending Staff 
Action- based meeting 
with the Governor 

          

(S2.6) Provide educational 
briefings to OFM, Leg, Leg 
staff, and executive staff.- 
Moved to November 
pending meeting with the 
Governor 
 

(S2.6) Provide 
educational briefings to 
OFM, Leg, Leg staff, and 
executive staff.- Pending 
Staff Action - pending 
meeting with the 
Governor 
 

          

AC
TI

O
N

S/
TA

SK
S 

(S2.7)  Seek path to have 
legislators included in the 
Board makeup-Provided 
in November Board 
meeting material 

       (L1.6)  Secure the fund – 
Make a true Trust Fund-
Post 2015 Session 

  

(S2.4)  Request 
participation in a work 
session at assembly 
days/ session-Pending 
meeting with the 
Governor 

       (L1.5) Review and 
develop next steps for 
Tribes.-Pending 

  

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market Sustainable 
Communities Initiative-
Ongoing 

 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

(S3) Market new 
Training/Education 
Curriculum-Ongoing 

 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

(S3) Market Resource 
Catalog-Ongoing 

 

(S4.2) Connect with 
workforce education-
Pending Staff Action due 
to staffing capacity 

          

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Presentation to the 
Board at December 5th 
Meeting 

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Ongoing 

(S3) Market SAO Self-
Assessment Tool-
Ongoing 

 

(S4.2) Connect with 
workforce education-
Pending Staff Action 

          

 (S3.8)   Explore TVW 
options to expand the 
Board’s visibility-Moved 
to December due to 
Staffing Capacity 

         

(S2.1)  Infrastructure 
Needs study- in short-
term category will be 
sent to Policy committee 
to review and determine 
next steps-Pending 
Policy Committee Action 
 

          

145



DRAFT PUBLIC WORKS BOARD – 2014-2015 WORKPLAN – REVISED OCTOBER 22, 2014 (this is a living document, and will be updated regularly) 

 

PAGE 3 
 

  OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER JANUARY FEBURARY MARCH APRIL MAY JUNE JULY AUGUST SEPTEMBER 
 (S4.5) Conduct site tours 

for Leg.-In process –  
Two possible sites 
selected (Clark County, 
and Tri-Cities Area) 

          

            

 (S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

(S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

(S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

(S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

(S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

(S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

(S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

(S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

(S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

(S3.9)  Explore Board 
members writing Op-Ed 
pieces for their local 
newspapers-Ongoing 

 

            
 

146



S:\Board\Board\Meetings\2014\11-2014\C-2a - 141015 UPDATED DRAFT Proviso language.docx 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board November 10, 2014 

Board Meeting 

 
Date: October 15, 2014 
 

To: Public Works Board 
 

From: Ann Campbell, Program & Policy Development Specialist 
 

Subject: Updated DRAFT Language for Proviso Response 
 
UPDATE: 
 

The Public Works Board (Board) requested certain clarification to proposed language that would be used in the 
event that changes to the Board’s authorizing statute, 43.155 RCW, are suggested.  The language changes 
requested by the Board have been incorporated in the PROPOSED LANGUAGE section below. 
 
PROPOSED LANGUAGE: 
 

The following draft language is intended to provide a starting point for any final language that the Board may 
choose to have on hand. 

1. Adding Legislators to the Board – No prior language; language copied from CERB’s statute. This 
would add 4 members to the Board, for a total of seventeen members. 

“One member from each of the two major caucuses of the house of representatives to be appointed by 
the speaker of the house and one member from each of the two major caucuses of the senate to be 
appointed by the president of the senate; (i)  Each member of the house of representatives who is 
appointed to the public works board under this chapter may designate another member from the house 
of representatives to take his or her place on the board for meetings at which the member will be 
absent, as long as the designated member belongs to the same caucus. The designee shall have all 
powers to vote and participate in board deliberations as have the other board members. Each member 
of the senate who is appointed to the public works board under this chapter may designate another 
member from the senate to take his or her place on the board for meetings at which the member will 
be absent, as long as the designated member belongs to the same caucus. The designee shall have 
all powers to vote and participate in board deliberations as have the other board members.”  

 
2. Needs Survey – Language based on Engrossed Second Substitute House Bill 1484, Section 5: 

“Every four years, the board shall, in collaboration with other federal and state organizations, advocate 
groups, and other stakeholders associated with infrastructure, provide the governor and the 
appropriate committees of the legislature with a comprehensive assessment of local infrastructure 
needs and potential resources within the state to meet those needs.” 

 
3. Establishing Interest Rates – No prior language 

“While local governments are responsible for creating and maintaining local infrastructure systems, 
state priority policy objectives are served by investing financial and technical resources in these 
systems. The public works assistance account was created to strategically invest public funds as a 
priority policy objective. The board must establish policies and procedures designed to manage the 
public works assistance account in such a way as to ensure sustainability of the account.  When 
establishing interest rates for loan programs authorized under this statute, the Board must take into 
consideration the following in any order: 

• The average daily market interest rate for tax-exempt municipal bonds as published in the bond 
buyer’s index for the three month period prior to the loan cycle; and 

DRAFT 

147



S:\Board\Board\Meetings\2014\11-2014\C-2a - 141015 UPDATED DRAFT Proviso language.docx 

• The length of the loan repayment period; and 
• For construction loans, the life of the asset being constructed; and  
• Whether or not the loan applicant is experiencing financial hardship as measured by the 

affordability index, or other similar standard measure of financial hardship; and 
• Whether or not the loan applicant has a bond rating at time of application. 

 
4. Investment Grade Efficiency Audit (IGEA) – Language based on the Proviso: RCW 43.155.070(13) 

This includes the IGEA requirement for applicable preconstruction loans so that loan applicants can 
include the audit outcomes in their construction loan projects: 

“Preconstruction and Construction loans, for projects involving repair, replacement, or improvement of 
a wastewater treatment plant or other public works facility for which an investment grade efficiency 
audit is obtainable, will include a condition that the loan recipient undertake an investment grade 
efficiency audit. The loan recipient may finance the costs of the audit as part of the loan.” 
 

5. Maximizing the use of federal funds – Language based on the Proviso: RCW 43.155.070(14)(a) 
[Included in the list of priority policy objectives] This removes the restriction of maximizing on the use 
of the state revolving fund loan programs administered by the Departments of Health and Ecology, 
thus enabling the Board to set policies and procedures to maximize the use of funds from USDA – RD, 
CDBG, and other federally funded programs: 

“Maximize local government use of federal funds to finance local infrastructure projects.” 
 

6. Numeric ranking of loan lists – Language based on the Proviso: RCW 43.155.070(5)(a).This 
language broadens the numeric ranking requirement to all of the Board’s programs: 

 

“The board must develop a process for numerically ranking loan applications submitted by local 
governments.” 
 

 
HISTORY: 
 

The 2013 Legislature passed a temporary change to the Board’s authorizing statute 43.155 RCW.  The 
temporary change to the statute is commonly referred to as “The Proviso.” 
 

The Proviso makes several prescriptive changes include specific direction as to how the Board sets interest 
rates, the maximum loan amount available to jurisdictions during a biennium, maximizing the use of federal 
State Revolving Funds administered by the departments of Health and Ecology, as well as requiring 
investment grade efficiency audits of all wastewater and water projects where possible.   
 

Although the Board has chosen not to introduce changes to its authorizing statute during the 2015 legislative 
session, the Board directed staff to draft language to have available should changes to 43.155 RCW be 
introduced by legislators during session.  The topics that the Board directed staff to create draft language for 
include (these are not in priority order): 

1. Adding legislators to Board membership; 
2. Summarizing and analyzing the needs surveys conducted by regulatory entities and stakeholder 

organizations;  
3. Identifying a process by which interest rates are established;  
4. Making the investment grade efficiency audit requirement for applicable water and wastewater 

projects permanent; 
5. Maximizing the use of federal funds; and 
6. Establishing a numerically ranked prioritized construction loan funding recommendation. 

 
ACTION: 
 

Please review the draft language above.  Direct additions, modifications, comments, and/or inquiries to Ann 
Campbell who will compile the information for the Policy Committee’s review. 

148



2016 Public Works Board Construction Loan Applicant Pool 

S:\Ann C\Board\MEMOs\2014\November\141016 AC Applicant Pool Matrix.docx 

 Domestic  
Water 

Sanitary  
Sewer 

Storm 
Water 

Solid Waste & 
Recycling 

Roads, Streets,  
& Bridges TOTALS 

Cities  
& Towns 

 

  7 Apps 
 
  $17M 

 

 8 Apps 
 
  $34.1M 

 

 4 Apps 
 
  $7.5M 

 

  2 Apps 
 
  $11M 

 

 10 Apps 
 
  $34.4M 

 
31 Apps 
  
 $104M 

Counties 

  

  1 App 
 
  $7M 

   

  1 App 
 
  $7M 

 

2 Apps 
 
 $14M 

Public Utility  
Districts 

      

Water & Sewer 
Districts 

 

 7 Apps 
 
  $23.7M 

 

 8 Apps 
 
  $23.9M 

    

 15 Apps 
 
 $47.6M 

Quasi-Municipal 
Corporations 

      

Flood Control  
District 

   

  1 App 
 
  $4.6M 

   

 1 App 
 
 $4.6M 

TOTALS 

 

 14 Apps 
 
 $40.7M 

 

 17 Apps 
 
 $65M 

 

 5 Apps 
 
  $12.1M 

 

  2 Apps 
 
  $11M 

 

  11 Apps 
 
  $41.4M 

 

49 Apps 
 
 $170.2M 

 

149



150



 

 1  

 AN ACT Relating to authorization for projects recommended by the 

public works board; creating a new section; and declaring an emergency. 

 

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON: 

 

 NEW SECTION.  Sec. 1. Pursuant to chapter 43.155 RCW, the following 

project loans recommended by the public works board are authorized to 

be made with funds appropriated from the public works assistance 

account: 

(1) Alderwood Water and Wastewater District-domestic water 

project-water pressure reduction for compliance with state 

and federal regulations -  $7,000,000 

(2) City  of Bellingham-solid waste project-fulfills cleanup of 

landfill in compliance with consent decree -  $4,000,000 

(3) Birch Bay Water and Sewer District-sanitary sewer project-

increase sewer capacity to eliminate overflows - $2,500,000 

(4) City of Bonney Lake-street project-resolve traffic 

impediments to economic development -  $5,200,000 

(5) City of Camas-street project-rehabilitate primary access to 

downtown and major employers -  $1,900,000 

(6) Clark County-street project-creating a continuous north/south 

corridor by connecting north east 10th avenue –  $7,000,000 

(7) Clark Regional Wastewater District-sanitary sewer project-

provides sanitary sewer services to enable full utilization 

of high density commercial land- $3,500,000 

(8) City of Concrete-domestic water project-replace water lines 

and install water meters for compliance with state and 

federal regulations - $1,096,500 

(9) Cross Valley Water District–domestic water project-replace 

water storage facility and associated structures for 

compliance with state and federal regulations - $3,235,000 

(10) City of Des Moines-street project-finalizing the 

transportation gateway corridor by widening and 

rehabilitating south 216th street for compliance with state 

and federal regulations - $3,000,000 

(11) City of Duvall-street project-state route 203 safety 

151



 

 2  

improvements - $1,500,000 

(12) City of Everett-sanitary sewer project-expanding capacity of 

the water pollution control facility for compliance with 

state and federal regulations - $7,000,000 

(13) City of Ferndale-sanitary sewer project-replacement of 

failing sewer mains and associated structures for compliance 

with state and federal regulations - $1,600,000 

(14) City of Ferndale-sanitary sewer project-rehabilitation of 

failing sewage pump stations and associated structures for 

compliance with state and federal regulations - $3,800,000 

(15) City of Ilwaco-domestic water project-replacement of failing 

water lines and water main rehabilitation and pressure 

reducing valve for compliance with state and federal 

regulations - $1,257,900 

(16) City of Kelso-street project-reconstruct yew street for 

compliance with state and federal regulations - $1,410,464 

(17) City of Kennewick-street project-reconstruct transportation 

network in the southridge area - $7,000,000 

(18) King County-sanitary sewer project-construct a combined sewer 

overflow storage tank and associated structures at the north 

beach basin site for compliance with state and federal 

regulations - $7,000,000 

(19) Kitsap County Sewer District Number 7-sanitary sewer project-

replace digester number 1 and associated structures - 

 $650,000 

(20) City of La Conner-replace failing water mains and associated 

structures for compliance with state and federal  

regulations -  $827,000 

(21) City of La Conner-stormwater project-reconstruct failing 

stormwater pump and associated structures for compliance with 

state and federal regulation - $711,000 

(22) City of Lake Forest Park-stormwater project-improve 

stormwater flow for compliance with state and federal 

regulations - $1,598,040 

(23) Lake Forest Park Water District-domestic water project-

replace failing water mains and associated structures for 

152



 

 3  

compliance with state and federal regulations -  $1,700,000 

(24) Lakehaven Utility District-sanitary sewer project-replace 

failing sewer trunk and associated structures for compliance 

with state and federal regulations - $2,000,000 

(25) Lakehaven Utility District-sanitary sewer project-expanding 

capacity of the lakota wastewater treatment plant for 

compliance with state and federal regulations - $5,000,000 

(26) Lakewood Water District-domestic water project-replace 

failing water mains and service lines for compliance with 

state and federal regulations - $3,850,000 

(27) Lexington Flood Control Zone District-stormwater project-

expanding capacity of the mccorkle creek pump station for 

compliance with state and federal regulations - $4,600,000 

(28) City of Long Beach-domestic water project-replace failing 

water mains and associated structures for compliance with 

state and federal regulations - $1,130,000 

(29) City of Longview-bridge project-replace the washington way 

bridge for compliance with state and federal regulations -  

 $1,380,084 

(30) City of Mountlake Terrace-street project-replace failing 

street system to support multimodal rehabilitation of the 

city center - $5,400,000 

(31) City of Omak-sanitary sewer project-replacement of failing 

sewer system components for compliance with state and federal 

regulations - $3,706,000 

(32) City of Othello-sanitary sewer project-replace septic systems 

with sewer for compliance with state and federal  

regulations -  $3,000,000 

(33) Point Roberts Water District Number 4-domestic water project-

replace failing water mains and install hydrants and 

associated structures for compliance with state and federal 

regulations - $4,732,125 

(34) City of Port Angeles-solid waste project-stabilization of the 

closed port angeles regional landfill cells in accordance 

with the interagency agreement between the city and the 

washington state department of ecology -  $7,000,000 

153



 

 4  

(35) City of Port Townsend-domestic water project-construct a 

water treatment facility for compliance with state and 

federal regulations - $5,000,000 

(36) City of Quincy-sanitary sewer project-modify existing 

wastewater treatment facilities to address the end of the 

existing discharge agreement with the bureau of reclamation 

to ensure compliance with state and federal regulations - 

 $7,000,000 

(37) City of Redmond-street project-construct a redmond way and 

cleveland street couplet conversion including the addition of 

a business access to transit lane to complete the downtown 

transportation master plan - $7,000,000 

(38) City of Sammamish-stormwater system-install storm drain pipe 

and associated structures to support endangered lake bound 

salmonid species - $3,385,000 

(39) Silver Lake Water and Sewer District-sanitary sewer project-

expand capacity of the everett water pollution control 

facility for compliance with state and federal regulations -

 $4,398,000 

(40) Skyway Water and Sewer District-domestic water project-

replace failing water mains and associated structures for 

compliance with state and federal regulations - $2,874,000 

(41) Skyway Water and Sewer District-sanitary sewer project-

replace failing sewer mains and associated structures for 

compliance with state and federal regulations -  $4,121,575 

(42) Southwest Suburban Sewer District-expand capacity of pump 

station number 14 and associated structures to include the 

removal of pump station number 15 for compliance with state 

and federal regulations - $1,730,000 

(43) Sunland Water District-domestic water project-install water 

meters and metering equipment for compliance with state and 

federal regulations - $325,000 

(44) City of Toppenish-sanitary sewer project- replacement of 

penny street lift station and failing sewer mains and 

associated structures for compliance with state and federal 

regulations - $1,000,000 

154



 

 5  

(45) City of Waitsburg-bridge project-replace the main street 

bridge for compliance with state and federal regulations -  

 $600,000 

(46) City of Walla Walla-domestic water project-install an 

advanced metering infrastructure system for compliance with 

state and federal regulations -  $5,926,746 

(47) City of Warden-domestic water project-drill new well and 

reconfigure or decommission existing wells and construct 

association structures for compliance with state and federal 

regulations - $1,800,000 

(48) City of Washougal-sanitary sewer project-expand capacity of 

the wastewater treatment plant for compliance with state and 

federal regulations - $7,000,000 

(49) City of Wenatchee-stormwater project-rehabilitate stormwater 

pipe and install treatment process and associated structures 

for compliance with state and federal regulations - 

 $1,762,000 

 

 NEW SECTION.  Sec. 2.  This act is necessary for the immediate 

preservation of the public peace, health, or safety, or support of the 

state government and its existing public institutions, and takes effect 

immediately. 

 

155



156



TAB D 
TECHNICAL & IMPACT 

ASSISTANCE 

157



158



 

 
Date: October 23, 2014 
 

To: Public Works Board 
 

From: Jacki Skaught, Regional Service Coordinator 
 

Subject: Kitsap – Olympic Local Government Infrastructure Academy 
 
Background: The Public Works Board is offering regional academies around Washington State designed to: 

• Address issues of concern facing local governments in each region. 
• Provide practical information to help local leaders and managers do their jobs. 

• Encourage cross-training and engagement between participants in an interactive setting 

• Promote the Board and its resources. 

Leaders, managers and staff from local governments, special purpose districts, regional associations, economic 
development councils, Tribes, ports and public utility districts are invited.  Speakers include experts in their fields from 
both the government and private sector. Each academy’s agenda is tailored to the local region, addresses current 
issues and introduces new ideas and topics related to infrastructure. 

Certificate of Municipal Leadership credits and Certified Public Official credits are available. 

Since November 2012,five regional academies have been held across the state. The Kitsap – Olympic Local 
Government Infrastructure Academy will be the sixth. 

Status: Kitsap County Conference Center in Bremerton is the site of the sixth Public Works Board academy. 
The complimentary event will be November 20, 2014. The academy will focus on issues relevant to Clallam, 
Jefferson, Kitsap, Mason, Grays Harbor and Pacific counties. The agenda includes sessions on rate setting, 
municipal finance, alternative funding and energy efficiency. The sessions will be interactive with plenty of time 
for questions and answers.  
 
 
Outcomes include: 

• Understanding where to locate financing resources such as FirstStop, Resource Catalogue and rate 
setting tools 

• Understanding about how capital improvement needs are linked with rates and ultimately inform the 
budget process 

• Where to find resources to develop asset management plans and capital improvement plans 
• Contacts with peers for cross-training  
• Take-aways: handouts on state and federal funding resources for infrastructure and environmental 

requirements of five state agencies 
• Information about alternative funding resources 
• Examples of how to reduce infrastructure costs by using energy efficiency measures 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 

November 10th, 2014 
Board Meeting 

159

http://www.pwb.wa.gov/Documents/Academy-Fact-Sheet.pdf


KITSAP – OLYMPIC LOCAL GOVERNMENT  
INFRASTRUCTURE ACADEMY 

Hosted by Public Works Board with support from AWC, CERB, 
IACC, MRSC, PUDs, WASWD, WPPA, WSAC 

 
What: Experts in rate setting and 
municipal/system finance will 
provide best practices and 
practical exercises.  Energy 
efficiency ideas will help reduce 
costs and alternative funding 
options can help when government 
funding is not an option.   
 
Come learn and participate in this 
one-day complimentary event. 
 
When & Where:  
November 20, 2014 
9:00am – 4:00 pm 
Kitsap Conference Center 
100 Washington Ave. 
Bremerton, WA 98337 
 
Parking:  Washington Parking 
405 Washington Ave. $2.00 
 

Complimentary Continental Breakfast & Lunch provided 
CML & CPO credits available 

 
  
            Washington State  
           Public Works Board 

 
 

Sponsors: 
Epic Land Solutions, Inc. 
Pace Engineers, Inc. 
FCS Group 

Register online by November 17 Here or email  
jacki.skaught@commerce.wa.gov 

 
 

160

https://fortress.wa.gov/com/pwbdata/academyregistration.aspx
mailto:jacki.skaught@commerce.wa.gov


 

 
Date: October 22, 2014 
 

To: Public Works Board 
 

From: Bruce Lund, Managing Director 
 

Subject: PWB Technical Assistance Performance Metrics for 2015 State Fiscal Year Quarter 1 
 
Background 
 
At the May, 2014 PWB meeting, Board members indicated concerns that existing performance measures did 
not adequately capture the desired outcomes and were too complicated.  Staff were directed to assess ways 
that activities could be captured that are easily understandable and demonstrates activities and outcomes that 
are achieved.  We solicited the assistance of Commerce’s Economist, who has broad experience in generating 
data driven measures.  He was extremely helpful working with staff to revise and refine measures that 1) are 
not overly cumbersome to capture and are reduced in number to be manageable; 2) capture the work that the 
technical assistance staff perform within the TA arena; and 3) provide information that will help us to do a 
better job. 
 
Current Status 
 
The revision is now complete and with the approval of the Board’s Technical Assistance Committee, we are 
submitting it for your information.  We have compiled data encompassing the first quarter of the state fiscal 
year, July 1 – September 30th, 2014.  The document is attached. 
 
Analysis 
 
Each measure is coded either Green, Yellow, or Red.   

• Green indicates that the during the last quarter, the goal has been met if reported quarterly, or is on 
track to be met if reported annually. 

• Yellow indicates that the measure is behind, but at this point no action is warranted, but will be 
watching to see what happens during the next quarter. 

• Red means that the outcome is not meeting expectations.  Some sort of action needs to be undertaken 
to start moving the measure towards green. 

• If there is no color, then the measure is currently inactive. 
 
I’m pleased to report that among all active measures, all but one is in green status.  One measure, the number 
of site visits  or one on one consultations, just missed its benchmark of 75 visits.  This number came in at 72. 
 
Over the next quarter, we will be activating two additional measures.  The first will be assessing the number of 
visits to the FirstStop Resource Catalogue.  The second will be looking at the number of Exit Interviews we 
conduct when a PWAA contract is completed. 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 

November 10th, 2014 
Board Meeting 

161



RSC Measures 

1. RSC’s provide funding information to clients   so that clients can pursue funding so that 
infrastructure will get fixed so that clients will be happy, fish will be happy and agencies will be 
happy. 

 
Target Annual Quarter 1: 

July 1 – Sept. 30 
Variance 

# of tech teams conducted or 
attended 

30 22 -8 

# of funding forums 2 1 -1 
# of web hits on Resource 
Catalogue database 

600 
1st quarter:  0 
2nd quarter:  100 
3rd quarter:  200 
4th quarter:  300 

0:  Starts 2nd quarter 0 

# of project and program 
collaborative efforts made 

16 
1st quarter:  4 
2nd quarter:  4 
3rd quarter:  4 
4th quarter:  4 

4 0 

 

2. RSCs offer clients resources and training on capital facility planning, asset management and how to 
conduct rate studies so that clients will be assisted in planning for and managing their infrastructure 
systems so that clients will be better able to finance their projects internally and/or be better 
positioned to apply for state or federal funding. 

Target Annual Quarter 1: 
July 1 – Sept. 30 

Variable 

# of trainings provided 8 2 0 
# of clients attended training 400 

1st quarter:  100 
2nd quarter:  100 
3rd quarter:  100 
4th quarter:  100 

115 +15 

 
3. RSCs will develop and maintain client relationships and obtain knowledge of local issues so that 

RSCs and the Board will be appraised of future projects and can provide updated financing 
information, and gather process improvement ideas so that the Board may adjust their policies and 
procedures. 

Target Annual Quarter 1: 
July 1 – Sept. 30 

Variable 

% of exit interviews conducted 
within 90 days of notification from 
CAU 

100% Not Reported: Begins 
2nd quarter 

 

# of site visits / one on one 
consultations 

300 
1st quarter:  75 
2nd quarter:  75 
3rd quarter:  75 
4th quarter:  75 

72 -3 

 

162



 

 
Date: October 22nd, 2014 
 

To: Public Works Board 
 

From: Bruce Lund, Managing Director 
 

Subject: Technical Assistance Update 
 
Background 
Beginning with the August 2014 Board meeting, an update on activities and services provided by the Public 
Works Board technical assistance staff will be a part of each agenda.  This report is not meant to be 
exhaustive, rather to give Board members a sense of the accomplishments that its staff have made during the 
period between meetings.  As we ran out of time for this topic to be reported out to the Board last month, this 
specific report incorporates information provided in written form at the October board meeting as well as 
activities performed up to October 22nd. 
 
Significant client services provided / problems resolved 

• Belfair Water District – resolved Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) coordination issue.  
Convened a technical working group to identify strategies to close funding gaps associated with a 
waterline replacement project.  Solution appears to be found. 

• City of Toppenish – resolved concerns that city had over retaining a Dedicated Repayment Account to 
comply with DWSRF contract conditions 

• Executive Order 05-05 – Have completed 29 Executive Order 05-05 (i.e., cultural resources contract 
compliance) reviews since June 1, 2014 and completed approx. 50 reconciliations between databases 

• Preparation of the 2014 Drinking Water Handbook 
• Lead and participate in IACC Tech Teams on September 30th .  Following up on post IACC tech teams 

and other commitments. 
• Implemented FirstStop Initiative, showcased at IACC conference and continue improving the website 

and the Resource Catalogue 
 
Communication to clients 

• Post-Recommended PWAA loan list work -- Application debrief offers made to PWTF applicants, 
contacts made to those recommended for funding t to confirm scopes of work, budgets, timing, etc., 
Cultural Resource compliance documents sent to loan list recipients 

• Mountlake Terrace – Program orientation 
• Communication to all recommended loan list recipients encouraging them to apply for DWSRF and 

SRF programs 
• Site visits to Lake Forest Park, Cities of Olympia, Hoquiam, Aberdeen Lakewood, Tacoma, Tumwater, 

Gig Harbor, and Crystal Springs Water District 
• Attended Fall conferences of the Washington Finance Officers Association, WA Sewer and Water 

District’s Association, Public Utilities District Association (Water Workshop), Association of Washington 
Cities 

• Distributed Fall newsletter to over 2500 recipients 
 
Training and Education 

• Provided PWeB trainings to PWB clients 
• Continued work on the Olympic-Kitsap Academy 
• Sent training survey to over 800 local government  
• Developed material for exhibit booth for Fall 2014 conferences 
• Conducted Funding Webinar 
• Cohosting with Commerce’s Growth management Unit two webinars in mid November and early 

December on developing and using Capital Facilities plans 

 

Washington State 
Public Works Board 

Novvember 10th, 2014 
Board Meeting 

163



 

 
Program Coordination  

• Conducted two in-depth meetings with staff from the Dept. of Health, the CAU and the Public Works 
Board to determine the 2014 DWSRF fall loan cycle 

• IACC Conference tech team, exhibit booth, and session preparation 
• Led development of a Commerce internal resource coordination group aimed at streamlining and 

improving technical assistance services provided by the agency 
• Participated on a Community Development Block Grant Rating and Selection process, and provided TA 

to local government CDBG recipients about additional funding opportunities 
 

164



 1 

Small Communities Initiative 
Quarterly Report 

(July - September 2014) 
 

Submitted by Cathi Read and Jon Galow 
Department of Commerce 

 
Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 

From Agencies 
Funding for Current Activities 

Town of Carbonado (pop. 610) 
Pierce County 
(Assist Town with wastewater 
system planning and 
assessment; also help as needed 
with water system) 
 
SCI re-involvement approved by 
Ecology SWRO and Health 
NWRO in 2012 

Wastewater 
Met with Town and consulting 
engineer on July 15 to review draft 
Facilities Plan.  
 
Facilitated tech team meeting at IACC 
Conference on September 30 to 
discuss funding and next steps for 
collection system improvements. In 
addition to Town officials and 
consulting engineer, meeting included 
staff from Ecology, USDA RD, Public 
Works Board, Transportation 
Improvement Board, Rural 
Community Assistance Corporation, 
and Evergreen Rural Water. 
 
Water 
Participated in rate study sub-
committee meeting on July 15, with 
Town elected officials, staff, citizens, 
and RCAC staff. New rate structure 
and associated ordinances and 
resolutions have been adopted. 
 

Wastewater 
Get final approval for Facilities 
Plan and apply for Ecology Pre-
Construction funding for design 
by November 7. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Water 
Town is currently conducting a 
Pierce County CDBG income 
survey to determine eligibility for 
that program. Possible 
submission of application for 
Pierce County CDBG funding for 
water distribution system 
improvements. 
 

Wastewater 
Ecology 2014 Water Quality 
Funding for $100,000 of 
Ecology pre-construction 
funding to complete GSP/FP. 
 
Water 
(DE-OBLIGATED) DWSRF loan 
offer of $111,000 to 
rehabilitate water reservoir. 
 
$30,000 Source Water 
Protection Grant from Health 
for pre-planning work in the 
watershed. (Planning for 
additional SWPG funding to 
assist with continued 
negotiations with school 
district.)  
 
$525,000 state appropriation 
from ‘Projects for Jobs and 
Economic Development’ for 
reservoir replacement. 
 

165



 2 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

Carrolls Water Association 
(pop. ~400) 
Cowlitz County 
(Assist Association with water 
system planning and projects) 
 
SCI involvement per Health 
SWRO request in 2013 
 

Met with Carrolls Association Board 
members on July 9, August 20, and 
September 18 (Annual Customer 
Meeting).  
 
Numerous phone calls and emails 
with meeting participants between 
meetings.  
 
Board is currently focusing on needed 
system improvements and ERWOW-
led Board training. 
 

Monthly meetings with Carrolls 
Board during the next year to 
address operational, technical, 
and managerial issues; including 
completing scope of work for 
Source Water Protection Grant 
contract.  
 
Presentation by Doug Dow, 
Hydrogeologist from Robinson 
Noble at November 19 meeting 
(funded by Source Water 
Protection Grant). 
 

Source Water Protection Grant 
of $30,000. 
 
RCAC loan of $100,000 for 
priority system improvements. 

Curlew Water / Sewer District 
(pop. ~118) 
Ferry County 
(Develop community 
wastewater system) 
 
SCI involvement per Ecology 
ERO request in 2006 
 

No SCI activity this quarter. 
 
District’s consultant submitted 
collection and treatment system plans 
to Health LOSS and Ecology-ERO at 
the end of July.  Health and Ecology 
are jointly preparing comment letter.  
 
 
 

Finalize design and advertise for 
bids for construction in 2015.  
 
Following bid opening, amend 
funding agreements with Ecology 
- if additional funding needed.   
 
 

$24,000 CDBG Planning Grant   
 
$26,000 District funds for 
preliminary hydrogeo work and 
land acquisition.   
 
$600,000 CDBG GP  Grant 
$2,719,891 Centennial grant 
$24,904 SRF Forgivable Loan  
$455,205 SRF Standard loan 
$3.85 million total project costs 
 

166



 3 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

City of Everson (pop. 2,481) 
Whatcom County 
(Wastewater planning; upgrade 
wastewater system) 
 
SCI involvement per Ecology 
NWRO request in 2010 
 
 

No hands-on SCI involvement this 
quarter. 
 
 

Eventual upgrades to the 
wastewater treatment plant. 
 
 

CDBG Planning Only Grant - 
$35,000 for Wastewater 
Facilities Plan amendment. 
 
PWTF Pre-Construction loan of 
$300,000 for design. 
 
$500,000 FEMA Pre-Disaster 
Mitigation Grant for the outfall 
portion of the work. 
 
$2,360,000 Ecology SRF loan. 
 

167



 4 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

Greater Bar Water District  
(pop. ~200+) 
Douglas County 
(Water system consolidation)  
 
SCI involvement per Health ERO 
request in 2008 
 
Involves the following water 
systems:  
Greater Bar Water District  
Rocky Butte Water Assoc. 
Rich Acres Water Corp. 
Bar Development 
Whitlam Water? 
 

Jon participated in District project 
meetings on July 16, August 5, and 
September 12.  
 
Submitted USDA RD 2012 & 2013 
financial reports.  
 
Partially filed State Auditor’s Office 
annual report documentation for 
2012 and 2013.  Audited by SAO with 
potential findings pending.  
 
Completed CDBG NEPA and Sec. 106 
comment periods.  
 
Secured two easements needed for 
Phase IV project (pipeline and 
reservoir).  Renegotiated MOU, 
purchase and sale agreement with 
Rocky Butte Water Association. 
 
Opened five bids for Phase II 
distribution system (Downing and 
Rich Acres service areas) on Sept 25. 
 

 
Award contract and oversee 
Phase II construction work.  
 
Continue land acquisition and 
easement negotiations.  
 
Finalize consolidation (transfer of 
ownership and operation) of 
Rocky Butte Water Association. 
 
Finalize design for Phase III and 
Phase IV water system 
improvements.  
 
Address/correct SAO “findings”- 
where applicable. 
 
Continue to build reserves for 
DWSRF loan repayment and 
“repay” USDA debt reserve.  
 
 

CDBG $35,000 POG and DOH  
Grant(s) for feasibility study(s)  
 
$30,000 Douglas Co. 0.09% 
2010  & 2011 funding 
 
$40,000 RCAC interim loan  
(refinanced with DWSRF loan) 
 
$2,722,800 DWSRF loan 
(~ 50% forgivable principal) 
 
$1 million CDBG grant (pass-
through via Douglas Co) 
 
$1 million Jobs Act grant 

168



 5 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

City of Ilwaco (City pop. 936; 
water service area pop. 2,477) 
Pacific County 
(Water system upgrades) 
 
SCI involvement per Health 
SWRO request in 2010 
 

Facilitated water system discussion 
with Council, Public Works staff, clerk-
treasurer, consulting engineer, and 
Health staff on September 8. 
 
Construction is in progress on 
backwash basin project.  
 
Construction on Indian Creek 
reservoir complete. In-City reservoir 
construction is complete; assembly to 
raise water level will be installed. 
 
Application submitted to Public Works 
Board for loan for SCADA upgrades 
(for both water and wastewater 
systems); however project is not on 
recommended loan list. Sahalee 
water system improvements are on 
the PWB recommended loan list.  
 
Dept of Health Sanitary Survey 
completed. Report should be out in 
October. 
 
 
 

Continue meeting regularly with 
city elected officials, staff, 
consulting engineer, DOH staff, 
and others to work on water 
system issues.  
 
Water Treatment Plant upgrades: 
Treatment unit will be procured 
soon. Bid for installation work in 
October or November. Treatment 
unit should be delivered around 
mid-January 2015. 
 
Work on Watershed Control Plan 
will begin soon. Plan will identify 
future potential projects and 
possible sources of funding. 
 
City may submit a CDBG 
Economic Opportunity Grant 
application for upgrades at and 
for Ilwaco Fish.  
 
 

$1,814,000 Drinking Water 
State Revolving Fund for 
backwash basin improvements 
and two new reservoirs. 
 
$940,000 state appropriation 
for new treatment train and 
other improvements to the 
water treatment plant. 
 
$30,000 Source Water 
Protection Grant for culvert 
replacement/ improvement in 
the watershed. Considering 
proposal for remaining funds – 
see description at left. 
 
City applied for $837,000   
2014 Public Works Trust Fund 
loan for water line 
replacement; however that 
funding was diverted by the 
Legislature. Applied for 
Drinking Water SRF funding 
($1,257,950) in Fall 2013 but 
did not receive funding. 
 

169



 6 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

Town of Ione (pop. 447; service 
area population ~600) 
Pend Oreille County 
(Upgrade water system and 
upgrade wastewater lagoons) 
 
SCI involvement per Ecology 
request in 2008. Sewer service 
area includes Chippewa Water 
and Sewer District. 
 
 

No SCI activity this quarter.  
 
Concerned property owners, council 
members and county commissioners 
redirected the proposed land 
application of biosolids from Pend 
Oreille County to Boulder Park in 
Mansfield (Douglas County).   
Additional costs to haul biosolids to 
Mansfield are the responsibility of the 
contractor. 
 
 
Lift station project is mostly complete. 
   

Complete biosolids removal from 
Ione WWTF and closeout project.  
 
 

Wastewater 
$35,000 CDBG POG grant  
$71,000 PWTF planning loan 
 
$1 million 2012 CDBG General 
Purpose Grant   
 
$165,000 Legislative 
appropriation from ‘Projects 
for Jobs and Economic 
Development’ for 8th street lift 
station.  
 

170



 7 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

City of Kahlotus (pop. ~ 195)  
Franklin County 
(Upgrade water system; 
considering sewer system) 
 
SCI involvement per Health ERO 
request beginning in 2014 
 

Water 
Jon attended city and council 
workshops on July 1, September 9 
and September 16. 
 
City has improved water meter 
reading data reliability since July.  
 
City council considered rate structure 
options with a proposed change from 
flat rate to commodity rate.       
 
City submitted DWSRF loan 
application ($545,000) for water 
distribution system work. 
 
 

Water 
Implement rate structure change 
in January 2015. 
 
Apply to CDBG (June 2015) 
and/or USDA RD for water system 
funding. 
 
Continue to collect monthly 
consumption and pumped water 
data. 
 
Wastewater 
Apply for feasibility study 
planning funds from CDBG, USDA 
and/or Ecology.  

Water 
*$24,000 CDBG POG (2010) – 
SWSMP approved February 
2013. 
 
 
Wastewater  
*$24,000 CDBG POG (2007) – 
Sewer System Feasibility Study 
 
 
*Funding from prior activities.  

Lakeview Sewer District  
(pop. ~ 100)  
Lincoln County 
(Upgrade wastewater system) 
 
SCI involvement per Ecology 
ERO request beginning in 2011 
 

No SCI activity this quarter.  
 
 
 

To be determined.  
 
 

No funding yet.  

171



 8 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

Town of Metaline (pop. ~173) 
Pend Oreille County 
(Upgrade water system) 
 
SCI involvement per Health ERO 
request in 2005 
 
 
 

Jon attended September 17 town 
council meeting.   
 
Submitted DWSRF application 
(~$185k) for water transmission main 
and service meters for remaining 
unmetered connections.    
 
Town council is considering options 
for conducting income survey (CDBG 
vs IACC ).  Current MHI ($53,333) and 
LMI (39%) data hinder Metaline’s 
access to subsidized (grant and 
reduced interest rate loans) planning 
and construction funding.   
 

Water 
Consider DWSRF loan, if offered.   
 
Sewer 
Town wants to update General 
Sewer Plan/Facilities Plan in order 
to upgrade sewer collection 
system.  Consider Ecology 
Preconstruction and CDBG 
Planning-Only grant funding.  
 
Conduct income survey? Possibly 
combine efforts with other Pend 
Oreille County towns.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prior activities 
 $1.54 million for Water 
Treatment Plant, Reservoir and 
meter project (2008-10). 
24,000 CDBG POG for Water 
System Plan – WSP approved in 
January 2014. 
 
 

172



 9 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

City of Morton (pop. 1,126) 
Lewis County 
(Assist City with preparing for 
wastewater system upgrades) 
 
SCI involvement per Ecology 
SWRO request in 2012 
 

Wastewater 
Met with Town elected officials, staff, 
consulting engineer, and Ecology staff 
on July 11 to continue implementing 
action plan for substantial 
wastewater treatment system 
improvements.  
 
Ecology Administrative Order issued. 
 
I&I project funded by Lewis County 
0.09% funding has been completed 
(Fisher Ave). 
 
Water 
Met with Town elected officials, staff, 
consulting engineer, ERWOW staff, 
and Health staff on August 25 
regarding leaking reservoir and water 
line on bridge. Convened conference 
call to discuss possible sources of 
emergency funding for water system. 
 

Wastewater 
Begin work on Industrial User 
Survey and Sewer Use Ordinance. 
 
City is waiting for contracts from 
Ecology to be finalized to begin 
working on wastewater 
treatment plant design and I&I 
improvements design and 
construction. 
 
Conduct income survey. 
 
 
Water 
Update Water System Plan. 
Submit DWSRF application for 
water system improvements.  
 
Possibly submit CDBG Imminent 
Threat application for interim 
fixes to reservoir.  

$180,000 PWTF request for a 
new fine screen - PWTF 
funding diverted by Legislature 
 
$40,000 from Lewis County 
‘.09%’ fund (2013) for Fisher 
Ave I&I improvements. 
 
On final offer list for SFY 2015 
Ecology funding; currently 
waiting for contract execution: 

• $783,000 
Design of wwtp 
improvements. 

• $1,162,900 
Design and construction 
of collection system 
improvements. 

 

City of Mossyrock (pop. 500) 
Lewis County 
(Update Water System Plan) 
 
SCI involvement per Health 
request in 2014 
 
 

Met with Mayor and Health staff on 
August 25, and then with Mayor, 
town staff, consulting engineer, and 
Health staff on September 18 to 
review scope of Water System Plan 
and possible sources of planning 
funding. Assisted clerk with 
procurement of professional services. 

Submit scope of work for Dept of 
Health Consolidation grant. 
 
Submit CDBG Planning Only Grant 
application for Water System Plan 
Update. 
 
Next meeting: October 28. 

 

173



 10 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

Onalaska (Lewis County Water 
District 2) (pop. 232 ERUs ) 
(Update Water System Plan) 
 
SCI involvement per Health 
request in 2014 
 
 

June 25 - Met with District staff to 
develop action plan. Assisted staff 
with procurement of engineering 
consultant. 
 
August 5 – Met with consultant 
selection committee 
 
August 25 - Met with District staff and 
Health staff to refine action plan, 
discuss status, discuss water projects. 
 
September 9 – Attended District 
Board meeting. 
 
Income survey is underway. 
 

Apply for Health Restructuring 
Technical Assistance grant. 
 
If eligible (according to income 
survey), apply for CDBG Planning 
Only Grant. 
 
Health “Pre-Plan” meeting 
scheduled for October 8. 

 

Community of Packwood  
(pop. ~342)/ Lewis County 
(Investigate feasibility of new 
community wastewater system) 
 
SCI involvement per Ecology  
SWRO request in 2009 
 

LOSS Site Evaluation complete. In 
September received Health approval 
to proceed to environmental review. 
 
County has had discussions with Lewis 
County Water District 3 regarding 
ownership of sewer system.  

Meeting with County, Water 
District, and possibly LOSS staff to 
discuss process of transferring 
project to District. 
 
Apply for design and construction 
funding as appropriate. 
 
Interim financing for some 
project phases may come from 
future Distressed Counties .09% 
funds.  
 
 

$35,000 Distressed Counties 
.09% funds made available by 
the Rural Economic 
Development Advisory 
Committee of Lewis County 
 
 
 
 

174



 11 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

City of South Bend (pop. 1,637) 
City of Raymond (pop. 2,882) 
Pacific County 
(Upgrade sewer collection 
system and wastewater 
treatment plant; upgrade water 
system; downtown 
revitalization) 
 
SCI involvement per Ecology 
SWRO request in 2003 
 
 

Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant 
is substantially complete. 
 
Lagoon decommissioning underway. 
 
 

 $1 million to each city from 
PWTF for design 
 
Phase 1 construction: 
$2,531,500 Ecology ARRA 
forgivable loan  
$1,618,500 SRF Loan  
 
Phase 2 construction: 
USDA Rural Development ~$11 
million in grant and  
~$17 million in loan 
 
I&I work: 
STAG - $485,000 
State appropriation –  
$1 million 
 

175



 12 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

City of Vader (pop. 621) 
Lewis County 
(Upgrade sewer collection 
system and wastewater 
treatment plant) 
 
SCI involvement per  
Ecology SWRO request in 2001 
and Health SWRO request in 
2009 
 
 
 

Wastewater 
Together with Ecology staff, held 
three, two-hour council/ citizen 
workshops regarding the city’s 
wastewater system (Spring). 
 
CDBG-funded collection system 
improvement work: Manhole 
rehabilitation bid has been awarded.   
Phase 1 of side-sewer replacement 
project will begin in late 2014.  
 
Wastewater Facilities Plan  
Amendment: Participated in meetings 
and conference calls with City elected 
officials and staff, consulting 
engineer, and Ecology regarding 
assumptions and alternatives 
examined. 

Wastewater 
Submit Facilities Plan amendment 
to Ecology for approval. Once 
approved, begin design of 
selected alternative. 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Water 
City will try to meet requirements 
(outlined in ‘Conditions of Return’ 
section of Transfer Agreement) to 
eventually get water system back 
from County. 
 

Water 
CDBG - $613,000 
 
DWSRF - $361,281 loan and 
$361,281 forgivable loan 
 
 
Wastewater 
CDBG -Planning Only Grant for 
$29,500 to update 2004 
Facilities Plan in 2009 
 
CDBG – Planning Only Grant for 
I&I Evaluation in Winlock and 
Vader 
 
FEMA funding for outfall 
repairs 
 
Awarded $900,000 for Facilities 
Plan Amendment and design of 
selected alternative. 
 
Awarded $716,787 in 2013 
CDBG- GP funding for 
wastewater collection system 
improvements. 
 

176



 13 

Community SCI Activity Last Quarter Next Steps/ Assistance Needed 
From Agencies 

Funding for Current Activities 

City of Winlock (pop. 1,350) 
Lewis County 
(Water System Plan Update; 
water system upgrades; 
wastewater system upgrades) 
 
SCI involvement per Health and 
Ecology requests in 2014 
 

Water 
Met with Health, City, and consulting 
engineer for ‘pre-plan’ meeting for 
Water System Plan Update (May).  
 
City applied for Health planning grant 
to help with costs for Water System 
Plan update, but application was not 
successful. 
 
Wastewater 
Met with CDBG and Ecology staff to 
discuss funding strategy for 
wastewater collection system 
improvements.  
 
Nominated City to Ecology to receive 
RCAC assistance with wastewater rate 
study later in 2014.  
 

Water 
Apply for CDBG Planning Only 
Grant to update Water System 
Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wastewater 
Apply for Ecology funding for 
wastewater collection system 
improvements in November 
2014. 
 
Possibly apply for CDBG General 
Purpose grant in June 2015. 
 

Water 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wastewater 

 

177



 14 

Inter- and intra-agency coordination 
 

Cathi:  
• Attended IACC Conference in Wenatchee September 29-October 2. Organized 25 ‘tech team’ meetings at conference. 

Facilitated Carbonado tech team meeting at conference. Moderated the Funding Program Update Panel session. 
• Attended IACC Board meetings on July 10 and September 8. 
• Attended IACC Conference Planning meetings on July 16, August 20, and September 17. 
• Participated in Health-led planning meetings on August 18 for “Small Water Systems Workshops”. 
• Convened and facilitated multi-agency Maximizing Resources meetings on July 2 and September 4. 

 
Jon:   
• Attended IACC Conference in Wenatchee September 29-October 2.  Facilitated Chelan County PUD No.1 (Peshastin and 

Dryden), Royal Water District, Kahlotus tech teams and participated in the Dallesport Water District (Murdoch) and Brewster 
tech teams, moderated the Income Survey Panel session.  

• Attended Washington Financial Officers Association conference in Yakima, September 17-19. 
• Participated on CDBG General Purpose application review team for water projects (12 applications) and assisted program lead 

with technical questions on sewer and comprehensive (street, water, sewer, storm) applications. 
• Provided technical assistance to other communities such as City of Warden (tech team) and Steptoe Water and Sewer District 

(amend by-laws).   
 

Next quarter 
• Cathi will participate in Health Small Water System workshop in Tacoma on November 5 and in Longview on November 18. 
• Jon will participate in Health Small Water System workshop in Pasco on October 22. 
• Cathi will convene/facilitate future ‘Maximizing Resources in a Coordinated Manner’ meetings, as needed.  
• Jon and Cathi will participate in IACC Tech Team debrief session on December 3. 

 
 
SCI Program Funding 
Discussions continue for next biennium program funding. 
 
 

178



TAB E 
INFORMATION AND 

OTHER ITEMS 

179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



Advocating for our members who provide not-for-profit, locally controlled utility services for the people of Washington. 

 
 
 

 
October 23, 2014 
 

 

Governor Jay Inslee 

Office of the Governor 

P.O. Box 40002 

Olympia, WA 98504-0002 
 

Dear Governor Inslee: 
 

The Washington PUD Association represents the interests of 27 locally -owned public utility d istricts that 

provide energy, water, sewer, and wholesale telecommunications services to citizens throughout 

Washington. We strongly urge you to include in your proposed Capital Budget for the 2015-17 biennium 

the Department of Commerce’s request for $200 million in the Public Works Assistance Account 

(“PWAA”) to fund the Public Works Board’s list of 49 local infrastructure projects recommended to 

receive $170 million in low -interest loans, plus $29.8 million for preconstruction and emergency loans.   
 

Our request is unique in that, for the first time we’re aware of since the PWAA program began, no PUD 

projects are recommended for funding, but WPUDA requests that you fund this program nonetheless. 

The lack of PUD projects is evidence of the d ire condition of this program, after a number of y ears in 

which the Legislature has d iverted  both available cash and future tax revenues from the program.  We 

understand the budget challenges faced  by the State, but d iverting tax revenues enacted  to fund a 

specific program is not a sustainable budget solu tion. 
 

Commerce Director Brian Bonlender made full funding of this $200 million request his top priority in the 

2015-17 Capital Budget request he submitted  to the Office of Financial Management on September 18. He 

gave the $200 million PWAA request top priority in recognition of the strong economic development 

foundation that the recommended project loans will provide across our state, in addition to helping 

Washington’s communities address a broad  range of health, safety and utility service improvement 

needs. 
 

Despite the absence of PUD projects in the board’s recommended list, we recognize the great importance 

of restoring the ability of the Public Works Board  and the PWAA to disburse low -interest loans to local 

governments for much-needed basic infrastructure projects. With no project loans issued  in the last two 

years, the PWAA program is at a critical point: it needs to resume its role as an affordable lending source 

for local projects so that these projects can proceed and the PWAA can have a reliable s tream of loan 

repayments as the basis for future loans. 
 

We look forward  to your leadership in making Director Bonlender’s $200 million PWAA project loan 

request part of your proposed capital budget, and  we look forward  to working with you to advance this 

budget request in the Legislature next session. 
 

Sincerely, 

 
George Caan, Executive Director 
 

cc:  David  Schumacher, Director, Office of Financial Management  

       Brian Bonlender, Director, Department of Commerce 

       Stan Finkelstein, Chairman, Public Works Board  

       Kendee Yamaguchi, Executive Director, Public Works Board  

 

212 Union Ave., Ste 201 

Olympia, WA 98501 

(360) 741-2675 Main 

              (360) 741-2686 Fax 

 www.wpuda.org 

 

 

187


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	B-6 - DWSRF_NT_2014BP_muni final.pdf
	Capital Agreement between:
	Public Works Board
	For:
	Project Name: «ProjectTitle»
	DECLARATIONS
	CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS
	Part 1.  SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

	1.1. DEFINITIONS
	1.2. AUTHORITY
	1.3. PURPOSE
	1.4. ORDER OF PRECIDENCE
	1.5. AMOUNT OF LOAN
	1.6. LOAN FEE
	1.7. Term OF LOAN
	1.8. RATE AND LOAN FORGIVENESS

	1.9. DISBURSEMENT OF LOAN PROCEEDS AND REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION
	1.10. TIME OF PERFORMANCE
	1.11. PROJECT COMPLETION AMENDMENT AND THE CERTIFIED PROJECT COMPLETION REPORT
	1.12. REPAYMENT
	1.13. DEFAULT IN REPAYMENT
	1.14. LOAN SECURITY
	1.15. HISTORICAL AND CULTURAL ARTIFACTS
	1.16. FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS
	1.17. COMPETITIVE BIDDING REQUIREMENTS
	1.18. ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS
	1.19. PREVAILING WAGE
	1.20. FEDERAL EXCLUSION
	1.21. REGISTRATION WITH CENTRAL CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION (CCR)
	1.22. RECORDKEEPING AND ACCESS TO RECORDS
	The Contractor agrees to retain these records for a period of six (6) years from the date that the debt is retired.  This includes but is not limited to financial reports.  If any litigation, claim or audit is started before the expiration of the six ...
	1.23. REPORTS
	1.24. AMENDMENTS, MODIFICATIONS, ASSIGNMENTS, AND WAIVERS
	1.25. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE
	1.26. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE
	1.27. AUDIT
	1.28. PROJECT SIGNS
	1.29. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS
	1.30. NONDISCRIMINATION PROVISION
	1.31. PROHIBITION STATEMENT
	1.32.  FALSE, INCORRECT, OR INCOMPLETE INFORMATION OR CLAIM
	1.33. LITIGATION
	1.34. ESTABLISHMENT OF ADEQUATE RATES AND RESERVES
	1.35. SPECIAL CONDITIONS
	1.36. INVESTMENT GRADE AUDIT
	1.37. BUY AMERICAN
	Part 2.  GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
	2.1. DEFINITIONS
	2.2. AdminIstrative Cost Allocation
	2.3. AlloWable Costs
	2.4. ALL WRITINGS CONTAINED HEREIN
	2.5. AMENDMENTS
	2.6. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) OF 1990, PUBLIC LAW 101-336, also referred to as the “ADA” 28 CFR Part 35
	2.7. APPROVAL
	2.8. ASSIGNMENT
	2.9. ATTORNEYS’ FEES
	2.10. AUDIT
	2.11. CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION OR INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY EXCLUSION—PRIMARY AND LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS
	2.12. CODE REQUIREMENTS
	2.13. CONFIDENTIALITY/SAFEGUARDING OF INFORMATION
	2.14. CONFORMANCE
	2.15. COPYRIGHT PROVISIONS
	2.16. DISALLOWED COSTS
	2.17. DISPUTES
	2.18. DUPLICATE PAYMENT
	2.19. ETHICS/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
	2.20. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE
	2.21. INDEMNIFICATION
	2.22. INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE CONTRACTOR
	2.23. INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE COVERAGE
	2.24. LAWS
	2.25. LICENSING, ACCREDITATION AND REGISTRATION
	2.26. LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY
	2.27. Local Public Transportation Coordination
	2.28. NONCOMPLIANCE WITH NONDISCRIMINATION LAWS
	2.29. NOTIFICATION OF TENANT RIGHTS/RESPONSIBILITIES
	2.30. POLITICAL ACTIVITIES
	2.31. PREVAILING WAGE LAWS
	2.32. PROCUREMENT STANDARDS FOR FEDERALLY FUNDED PROGRAMS
	2.33. Prohibition Against Payment of Bonus or Commission
	2.34. PUBLICITY
	2.35. RECAPTURE
	2.36. RECORDS MAINTENANCE
	2.37. REGISTRATION WITH DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
	2.38. RIGHT OF INSPECTION
	2.39. SAVINGS
	2.40. SEVERABILITY
	2.41. SUBCONTRACTING
	2.42. SURVIVAL
	2.43. TAXES
	2.44. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE/SUSPENSION
	2.45. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE
	2.46. TERMINATION PROCEDURES
	2.47. WAIVER
	2.48. WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS


	ATTACHMENT I:  ATTORNEY’S CERTIFICATION
	DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND
	1. The Contractor is a public body, properly constituted and operating under the laws of the State of Washington, empowered to receive and expend federal, state and local funds, to contract with the State of Washington, and to receive and expend the f...
	2. The Contractor is empowered to accept the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund financial assistance and to provide for repayment of the loan as set forth in the loan agreement.
	3. There is currently no litigation in existence seeking to enjoin the commencement or completion of the above-described public facilities project or to enjoin the Contractor from repaying the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund loan extended by the P...
	4. Assumption of this obligation would not exceed statutory and administrative rule debt limitations applicable to the Contractor.
	Name
	Address
	ATTACHMENT II: FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS
	ATTACHMENT III: DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS
	ATTACHMENT IV: CERTIFICATION REGARDING  DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS
	(a)  Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
	(b)  Have not within a three year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (...
	(c)  Are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity (Federal, State, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (1)(b) of this certification; and
	(d)  Have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public transactions (Federal, State, or local) terminated for cause or default.
	EPA Form 5700-49 (11-88)
	ATTACHMENT V: DWSRF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS
	Must be directly attributable to the project.
	ATTACHMENT VI: LABOR STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR SUBRECIPIENTS THAT ARE GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES

	B-6 - DWSRF_NT_2014BP_non-muni final.pdf
	Capital Agreement between:
	Public Works Board
	For:
	Project Name: «ProjectTitle»
	CONTRACT FACE SHEET
	CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS
	Part 1.  SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
	1.1. DEFINITIONS
	1.2. AUTHORITY
	1.3. PURPOSE
	1.4. ORDER OF PRECEDENCE
	1.5. AMOUNT OF LOAN
	1.6. LOAN FEE
	1.7. TERM OF LOAN
	1.8. RATE AND LOAN FORGIVENESS
	1.9. DISBURSEMENT OF LOAN PROCEEDS AND REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION
	1.10. TIME OF PERFORMANCE
	1.11. PROJECT COMPLETION AMENDMENT AND THE CERTIFIED PROJECT COMPLETION REPORT
	1.12. REPAYMENT
	1.13. DEDICATED ACCOUNT FOR LOAN REPAYMENT
	1.14. DEFAULT IN REPAYMENT
	1.15. LOAN SECURITY
	1.16. HISTORICAL AND CULTURAL ARTIFACTS
	1.17. FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS
	1.18. COMPETITIVE BIDDING REQUIREMENTS
	1.19. SMALL PURCHASE PROCEDURES FOR LIMITED PUBLIC WORKS PROJECT
	1.20. ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS
	1.21. PREVAILING WAGE
	1.22. FEDERAL EXCLUSION
	1.23. REGISTRATION WITH CENTRAL CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION (CCR)
	1.24. RECORDKEEPING AND ACCESS TO RECORDS
	1.25. REPORTS
	1.26. AMENDMENTS, MODIFICATIONS, ASSIGNMENTS, AND WAIVERS
	1.27. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE
	1.28. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE
	1.29. AUDIT
	1.30. PROJECT SIGNS
	1.31. DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS
	1.32. NONDISCRIMINATION PROVISION
	1.33. PROHIBITION STATEMENT
	1.34. FALSE, INCORRECT, OR INCOMPLETE INFORMATION OR CLAIM
	1.35. ACCURACY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	1.36. INTERNAL CONTROL
	1.37. LITIGATION
	1.38. INSURANCE
	1.39. ESTABLISHMENT OF ADEQUATE RATES AND RESERVES
	1.40. SPECIAL CONDITIONS
	1.41. INVESTMENT GRADE AUDIT
	1.42. BUY AMERICAN

	Part 2.   GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
	2.1. DEFINITIONS
	2.2. ADMINISTRATIVE COST ALLOCATION
	2.3. ALLOWABLE COSTS
	2.4. ALL WRITINGS CONTAINED HEREIN
	2.5. AMENDMENTS
	2.6. AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) OF 1990, PUBLIC LAW 101-336, also referred to as the “ADA” 28 CFR Part 35
	2.7. APPROVAL
	2.8. ASSIGNMENT
	2.9. ATTORNEYS’ FEES
	2.10. AUDIT
	2.11. CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION OR INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY EXCLUSION—PRIMARY AND LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS
	2.12. CODE REQUIREMENTS
	2.13. CONFIDENTIALITY/SAFEGUARDING OF INFORMATION
	2.14. CONFORMANCE
	2.15. COPYRIGHT PROVISIONS
	2.16. DISALLOWED COSTS
	2.17. DISPUTES
	2.18. DUPLICATE PAYMENT
	2.19. ETHICS/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
	2.20. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE
	2.21. INDEMNIFICATION
	2.22. INDEPENDENT CAPACITY OF THE CONTRACTOR
	2.23. INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE COVERAGE
	2.24. LAWS
	Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Public Law 101-336.

	2.25. LICENSING, ACCREDITATION AND REGISTRATION
	2.26. LIMITATION OF AUTHORITY
	2.27. LOCAL PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION COORDINATION
	2.28. NONCOMPLIANCE WITH NONDISCRIMINATION LAWS
	2.29. NOTIFICATION OF TENANT RIGHTS/RESPONSIBILITIES
	2.30. POLITICAL ACTIVITIES
	2.31. PREVAILING WAGE LAWS
	2.32. PROCUREMENT STANDARDS FOR FEDERALLY FUNDED PROGRAMS
	2.33. PROHIBITION AGAINST PAYMENT OF BONUS OR COMMISSION
	2.34. PUBLICITY
	2.35. RECAPTURE
	2.36. RECORDS MAINTENANCE
	2.37. REGISTRATION WITH DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE
	2.38. RIGHT OF INSPECTION
	2.39. SAVINGS
	2.40. SEVERABILITY
	2.41. SUBCONTRACTING
	2.42. SURVIVAL
	2.43. TAXES
	2.44. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE / SUSPENSION
	2.45. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE
	2.46. TERMINATION PROCEDURES
	2.47. WAIVER
	2.48. WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS


	ATTACHMENT I:  PROMISSORY NOTE
	Amount: $«ndbNewLoanAmountExec»
	ATTACHMENT II:  FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS
	ATTACHMENT III:  DISADVANTAGED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE REQUIREMENTS
	ATTACHMENT IV: CERTIFICATION REGARDING  DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS
	(a)  Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
	(b)  Have not within a three year period preceding this proposal been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (...
	(c)  Are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity (Federal, State, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (1)(b) of this certification; and
	(d)  Have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public transactions (Federal, State, or local) terminated for cause or default.
	ATTACHMENT V:  DWSRF ELIGIBLE PROJECT COSTS
	Must be directly attributable to the project.
	ATTACHMENT VI:  LABOR STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR SUBRECIPIENTS THAT ARE NOT GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES
	(e)  Subrecipients must immediately report potential violations of the DB prevailing wage requirements to Department of Commerce and  to the appropriate DOL Wage and Hour District Office listed at http://www.dol.gov/whd/america2.htm.
	ATTACHMENT VII:  UCC FILINGS
	DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND
	Secretary’s Signature: _________________________
	Print Name: _________________________
	CORPORATE
	SEAL HERE
	Director’s Signature: ___________________________
	Print Name: ________________________ Title*: _____________________________________
	ATTACHMENT IX: COMMERCIAL SECURITY AGREEMENT
	1. Definitions.
	2. Obligations of Contractor.
	Contractor warrants and covenants:
	3. Contractor's Right to Possession.
	4. Expenditures by Lender.
	5. Events of Default.
	6. Rights of Lender.
	7. Waiver.
	8.  Remedies Cumulative.
	9. Successor Interests.
	10. Notice.
	11. Expenses, Costs, and Attorneys' Fees.
	12. Applicable Law.
	13. Multiple Parties; Corporate Authority.
	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Security Agreement as of the dates shown below.
	LENDER: CONTRACTOR:
	Print Name: _________________________

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	D-1 - Academy briefing.pdf
	 Address issues of concern facing local governments in each region.
	 Provide practical information to help local leaders and managers do their jobs.
	 Encourage cross-training and engagement between participants in an interactive setting
	 Promote the Board and its resources.
	Status: Kitsap County Conference Center in Bremerton is the site of the sixth Public Works Board academy. The complimentary event will be November 20, 2014. The academy will focus on issues relevant to Clallam, Jefferson, Kitsap, Mason, Grays Harbor a...
	Outcomes include:
	 Understanding where to locate financing resources such as FirstStop, Resource Catalogue and rate setting tools
	 Understanding about how capital improvement needs are linked with rates and ultimately inform the budget process
	 Where to find resources to develop asset management plans and capital improvement plans
	 Contacts with peers for cross-training
	 Take-aways: handouts on state and federal funding resources for infrastructure and environmental requirements of five state agencies
	 Information about alternative funding resources
	 Examples of how to reduce infrastructure costs by using energy efficiency measures

	D-1 - K-O academy announcement (5).pdf
	Slide Number 1

	D-2 - Performance Measure Report quarter 1.pdf
	Background
	At the May, 2014 PWB meeting, Board members indicated concerns that existing performance measures did not adequately capture the desired outcomes and were too complicated.  Staff were directed to assess ways that activities could be captured that are ...
	Current Status
	The revision is now complete and with the approval of the Board’s Technical Assistance Committee, we are submitting it for your information.  We have compiled data encompassing the first quarter of the state fiscal year, July 1 – September 30th, 2014....
	Analysis
	Each measure is coded either Green, Yellow, or Red.
	 Green indicates that the during the last quarter, the goal has been met if reported quarterly, or is on track to be met if reported annually.
	 Yellow indicates that the measure is behind, but at this point no action is warranted, but will be watching to see what happens during the next quarter.
	 Red means that the outcome is not meeting expectations.  Some sort of action needs to be undertaken to start moving the measure towards green.
	 If there is no color, then the measure is currently inactive.
	I’m pleased to report that among all active measures, all but one is in green status.  One measure, the number of site visits  or one on one consultations, just missed its benchmark of 75 visits.  This number came in at 72.
	Over the next quarter, we will be activating two additional measures.  The first will be assessing the number of visits to the FirstStop Resource Catalogue.  The second will be looking at the number of Exit Interviews we conduct when a PWAA contract i...

	D-3 - TA Update Memo.pdf
	Background
	Beginning with the August 2014 Board meeting, an update on activities and services provided by the Public Works Board technical assistance staff will be a part of each agenda.  This report is not meant to be exhaustive, rather to give Board members a ...
	Significant client services provided / problems resolved
	 Belfair Water District – resolved Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) coordination issue.  Convened a technical working group to identify strategies to close funding gaps associated with a waterline replacement project.  Solution appears to ...
	 City of Toppenish – resolved concerns that city had over retaining a Dedicated Repayment Account to comply with DWSRF contract conditions
	 Executive Order 05-05 – Have completed 29 Executive Order 05-05 (i.e., cultural resources contract compliance) reviews since June 1, 2014 and completed approx. 50 reconciliations between databases
	 Preparation of the 2014 Drinking Water Handbook
	 Lead and participate in IACC Tech Teams on September 30th .  Following up on post IACC tech teams and other commitments.
	 Implemented FirstStop Initiative, showcased at IACC conference and continue improving the website and the Resource Catalogue
	Communication to clients
	 Post-Recommended PWAA loan list work -- Application debrief offers made to PWTF applicants, contacts made to those recommended for funding t to confirm scopes of work, budgets, timing, etc., Cultural Resource compliance documents sent to loan list r...
	 Mountlake Terrace – Program orientation
	 Communication to all recommended loan list recipients encouraging them to apply for DWSRF and SRF programs
	 Site visits to Lake Forest Park, Cities of Olympia, Hoquiam, Aberdeen Lakewood, Tacoma, Tumwater, Gig Harbor, and Crystal Springs Water District
	 Attended Fall conferences of the Washington Finance Officers Association, WA Sewer and Water District’s Association, Public Utilities District Association (Water Workshop), Association of Washington Cities
	 Distributed Fall newsletter to over 2500 recipients
	Training and Education
	 Provided PWeB trainings to PWB clients
	 Continued work on the Olympic-Kitsap Academy
	 Sent training survey to over 800 local government
	 Developed material for exhibit booth for Fall 2014 conferences
	 Conducted Funding Webinar
	 Cohosting with Commerce’s Growth management Unit two webinars in mid November and early December on developing and using Capital Facilities plans
	Program Coordination
	 Conducted two in-depth meetings with staff from the Dept. of Health, the CAU and the Public Works Board to determine the 2014 DWSRF fall loan cycle
	 IACC Conference tech team, exhibit booth, and session preparation
	 Led development of a Commerce internal resource coordination group aimed at streamlining and improving technical assistance services provided by the agency
	 Participated on a Community Development Block Grant Rating and Selection process, and provided TA to local government CDBG recipients about additional funding opportunities

	D-4 - 9-30-14 Quarterly Report.pdf
	Quarterly Report
	Carrolls Water Association (pop. ~400)
	Curlew Water / Sewer District (pop. ~118)
	Town of Metaline (pop. ~173)
	Pend Oreille County
	Next quarter

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	B-2 - UTC Cristalina findings_PWB memo_20141031.pdf
	FROM:  Mark Barkley, Contracts Administration Unit, Managing Director
	SUBJECT: Cristalina LLC
	ISSUE:  Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission (UTC) issued the following order on September 12, 2014 regarding Cristalina, LLC with the following judgments:
	1. Commission approves the transfer of assets of Cristalina LLC to Washington Water Service Company.
	2. Withdraw of penalties assessed against Maria Lindberg.
	3. Withdraw of penalties assessed against Cristalina, LLC.
	4. Assess a fine against Maria Lindberg in the amount of $12,700 to be paid over 3 years.
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
	1. PWB approves the following:
	a. The assignment of contract DP09-952-034 to Washington Water.
	b. Waive all late fees associated with Cristalina LLC; Washington Water has agreed to make current the outstanding balance (both 2013 and 2014 payments) on DP09-952-034.

	Blank Page



